
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
 
 
Board Meeting Minutes – 107th Meeting  
August 17, 2011 
 
Board members present: Julie Brandis, Dan Davis, Jason Eisdorfer, Julie Hammond, Debbie 
Kitchin, John Klosterman, Caddy McKeown, Alan Meyer, John Reynolds 
 
Board members absent: Rick Applegate, Dan Enloe, Roger Hamilton, Jeff King, Bob Repine 
(ODOE special advisor), John Savage (OPUC ex officio) 
 
Staff attending: Scott Clark, Amber Cole, Fred Gordon, Hannah Hacker, Margie Harris, Jed 
Jorgensen, Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample, Sloan Schang, John Volkman, Peter 
West, Aaron Zahler, Lizzie Rubado, Betsy Kauffman, Oliver Kesting, Tara Crookshank, Pete 
Catching, Elaine Prause, Kim Crossman, Kacia Brockman, Diane Ferington, Marshall Johnson 
 
Others attending:  Lauren Shapton (PGE), Kari Greer (Pacific Power), Pat Egan (Pacific 
Power), Juliet Johnson (OPUC), Theresa Gibney (Corvallis Sustainability Coalition), Marc 
Thalacker (Three Sisters Irrigation District) 
 
Business Meeting 


President John Reynolds called the meeting to order at 1:35 p.m.  


General Public Comments 
 
There were none.  


Consent Agenda 


The consent agenda may be approved by a single motion, second and vote of the board. 
Any item on the consent agenda will be moved to the regular agenda upon the request from any 
member of the board.  
 
MOTION: Approve consent agenda 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Jason Eisdorfer 


Vote: In favor: 9   Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Consent agenda included one item: 
 
1) July 13 board meeting minutes.  
 







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


President’s Report 


John Reynolds presented on American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (ACEEE) state 
rankings. Each year, ACEEE names champions of energy efficiency. This year, the award went 
to the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA). 
 
Past champions: 


• Tom Eckman of the Northwest Power and Conservation Council was one of five 
champions in 2004  


• Bonneville Power Administration was one of four champions in 2006  
• Northwest Power and Conservation Council – for its plan to meet 85% of load growth 


with energy conservation – was one of three champions in 2010  
 
John R. congratulated NEEA on receiving the award. 


Energy Programs 


Three Sisters Irrigation Hydro Project, Resolution 591. Jason Eisdorfer introduced the 
resolution. 
 
Peter West led the discussion with Jed Jorgensen. Several years ago we launched an initiative 
to pursue conduit hydropower projects. It’s an effective expansion of our programs, particularly 
in eastern Oregon. These projects have multiple benefits beyond energy, including water-saving 
benefits for this project as water will be added to the stream – improving steelhead habitat. 
 
This is a project without a Business Energy Tax Credit (BETC), and in effect, is the beginning of 
what you will begin to see for successful projects in the years ahead. Unlike most projects we 
bring to the Renewable Energy Advisory Council (RAC), the council was not unanimous in its 
approval. Pat Egan will address concerns raised by Pacific Power during that August 10 
meeting. 
 


This project falls within the “Other Renewables” program and helps meet the goal of developing 
hydroelectric facilities located outside federal and state protected areas. It also supports our 
strategic goal to accelerate the rate at which renewable energy resources are acquired, helping 
to achieve Oregon’s 2025 goal of meeting at least eight percent of retail electrical load from 
small-scale renewable energy projects. 
 
Jed presented the project details and talked about Pacific Power’s concerns. 
 
First, there is an error in relation to the Renewable Energy Credit (REC) percentage: 80% 
should be changed to 69%, the value when the net present value of the incentive is applied. 
This was an unintentional error. 
 
The project will be awarded up to $1 million over four years for an 800-kW hydro facility in 
Sisters, OR. It is owned and operated by the Three Sisters Irrigation District (TSID). The project 
will operate during the irrigation season April through October, generating 3,100 MWh annually. 


 
2







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


It will be a qualifying facility with Pacific Power. The project is in Central Electric Co-op (CEC) 
territory, but the power will be wheeled by CEC to a Bonneville Power Administration substation 
that connects to Pacific Power. The program has been aware of the project since 2009, and it 
was subject to a thorough staff review and rigorous third-party review. Based on positive 
findings from those reviews, the program indicated there is little risk with moving forward with 
this project. 
 
TSID would be the seventh irrigation district hydro project to receive an Energy Trust incentive. 
Projects at irrigation districts are the main focus for the program. In the program, costs range 
from $600,000/aMW (Juniper Ridge) up to $3.7 million/aMW (Farmers Irrigation District). 
Currently, Energy Trust has 4.7 MW in operation and 4.6 MW under construction. This project 
would increase generation capacity by 0.8 MW. 
 
The above-market cost using net present value, our standard methodology that looks at 20 
years of installation and operation costs compared to revenue, is $1.25 million. TSID was 
awarded a $600,000 grant from the Bureau of Reclamation; receiving this grant is contingent 
upon securing matching funds. Again, the project does not have a BETC. 
 
The Energy Trust incentive would be distributed as $700,000 in Year 1, and $100,000 for years 
2-4 contingent on meeting a minimum performance goal. The project is given five years to meet 
the four-year production goal. Oftentimes, the first year is a time when production may be lower 
as the project team optimizes the system. The net present value of this four-year payment 
stream is $862,411. 
 
The project’s energy would cost $2.8 million/aMW, within the range for what we’ve paid before 
($1.5 million/aMW for Earth by Design, $2.9 million/aMW for Swalley). 
 
Compared to other technologies Energy Trust supports, this is a good value. Cost range from a 
low of $700,000/aMW (anaerobic digester) to a high of $8 million/aMW for commercial solar and 
$14.4 for residential solar. 
 
Energy Trust will receive 69% of the RECs over 14 years. [Note the change to the resolution 
from 80% to 69%.] Approximately $600,000 of the funds will come from the Other Renewables 
budget and $400,000 from the Biopower budget. In regards to the Biopower project, there is no 
competition for the funds because two projects are moving forward without an incentive. 
 
During the RAC presentation August 10, Pacific Power voiced concerns with the project. The 
board received a copy of Pacific Power’s letter on the project and Margie’s response to the 
letter. Jed listed Pacific Power’s concerns with the project, including it is outside Pacific Power 
territory, will incur wheeling costs, is not fully developed enough, and won’t provide value to their 
customers.  
 
Energy Trust’s response to Pacific Power’s concerns were that the REC benefits flow directly to 
Pacific Power customers, on a net present value basis the wheeling charge is 46% of above-
market costs,  and even without a wheeling charge the project will have an above-market cost.  
 


 
3







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


Jed said costs for hydro projects depend on site specific conditions. On this project, wheeling is 
the largest cost. On other projects it’s interconnection. This project also has lower than expected 
costs in other areas, mainly existing penstock which lowers capital costs. There is a wide range 
of costs we see with each project. TSID is not an expensive project, and is within the range 
we’ve paid for in the past. In addition, those past project had BETCs, while this one does not. To 
stay within Pacific Power territory and secure projects this year, solar would be our only option.  
 
Energy Trust has had a longstanding practice of wheeling and having projects outside of both 
Pacific Power and Portland General Electric territories, such as Goodnoe Hills, and Combine 
Hills in WA. We are also considering biopower projects that would be wheeled to Pacific Power 
and PGE. 
 
This project is typical for the program in terms of timing and level of involvement. The program 
knew about the project in 2009, has been working closely with TSID since October of 2010, and 
had the project go through a rigorous third-party review. The $1 million incentive is not 
guaranteed, and this is not taking money from other projects within Pacific Power territory. The 
recent changes to BETC will make projects such as these even more difficult in the future. 
Lastly, the project will likely be delayed or face additional challenges in finding financing if it 
does not receive an incentive and loses the grant awarded by the Bureau of Reclamation. 
 
Jed mentioned that with the exception of Pacific Power, the rest of RAC supported the project. 
Rebecca Sherman from the Oregon Department of Energy said Energy Trust is integral to 
making this project move forward and is allowing the district to avoid levying a fee on their 
customers. [Her full quote is in the Aug. 10 RAC minutes.] 
 
Marc Thalaker, manager of TSID, presented on the non-energy benefits of the project. TSID has 
been working with conservation projects for the last 10 years, and has its own construction 
crew. Historically, Whychus Creek was an important spawning creek. What is otherwise a dry 
stream will have minimum spawning flow. This project is putting 6 CFS in the river, out of a total 
of 20 CFS conserved by the district. It has garnered tremendous support (listed in a handout 
Marc delivered to the board).  
 
Marc said TSID has been building a number of pipelines, and has piped over half of its 60 miles 
of its open canals. This hydro project is very important. Without the generation revenues, TSID 
won’t be able to pay back the DEQ loan and will have to assess its customers. This would also 
slow future conservation efforts. Historically (1950), in the last steelhead run there were about 
1,000 spawning adults. With the additional water we’ll start passing adults past the Pelton dam 
as early as 2014 and doubling the steelhead population. This is an investment not only in green 
energy but also in the environment. 
 
Pat Egan, Pacific Power, presented the utility’s concerns on the project. RAC member Tashiana 
Wrangler, Pacific Power, was unable to attend. Concerns led to a letter being sent by Pat to 
Margie on August 16, 2011, and centered on two issues which Pat described: 
• Financial 


o Service territory is an element 


 
4







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


 Goodnoe Hills was a unique project, and it was out of state and it had access 
to Pacific Power transmission lines 


 Wheeling charge of $70,000 for this hydro project 
o When comparing incentive to cost of wheeling, it’s close. Customer dollars going into 


this are paying to get access into our system since CEC didn’t want to purchase the 
energy 


• Process issue 
o The RAC process is valuable and an opportunity for the Pacific Power team to 


engage with Energy Trust. The transmission team knew of project but whether that 
knowledge included that it would receive a $1 million incentive is not known. 


o The purchasing utility should be engaged early to examine the economics of a 
project, particularly if it’s outside the retail territory or transmission territory. Felt that 
was not done in this case. 


 
Pat said Pacific knows this is a good project and they are fully aware of irrigation hydro projects 
and he appreciates the time the board has given him to raise these financial and process 
issues. 
 
Alan Meyer: Will this project service the piping debt? Jed: Most of the piping has been installed, 
so those costs from installation are not included. There was a $2 million DEQ loan the district 
intends to pay back using hydro revenue so it shows up on the revenue side of the project. Alan: 
I’m concerned that debt is in the above-market cost of the project. Why is it being charged as a 
piece of above-market cost in this project when it already exists? Also, I get 80% for the RECs, 
where does 69% come from? Jed: We do that on net present value, because we are making 
future payments.  
 
Discussion ensued on the generation listed in the resolution and the resolution will be modified 
to indicate generation of 3,100 MWh annually. 
 
Jed: To Alan’s first question, projects need the penstock to have the hydro project. Other 
districts have approached this differently. TSID has gone after grants over the past years; the 
last piece is a DEQ loan, which they’ve intended all along to pay down with hydro generation 
revenues. We believe this is an appropriate expense. 
 
Julie H: What is wheeling, who are they set by and will the cost of acquiring this power be 
substantially different than the power Pacific Power would normally purchase? Pat: The basic 
concept of wheeling in this case is the cost to CEC of transmitting the power from the source to 
Pacific Power. The rate was set by CEC with the help of the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission (FERC) and is based solely on the capacity of the project and is not reliant on the 
distance (which is 10 miles). Plus, the utility is the purchaser under the Public Utilities 
Regulatory Policy Act (PURPA) requirements and must accept the power.  
 
Peter: This policy started as a way to promote distributed generation under the Carter 
Administration and has continued in various ways (federal regulations via FERC, state policy, 
OPUC regulations). Wheeling is a cost just as interconnection fees are a cost.  
 


 
5







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


Peter said the power generated by renewable energy projects must end up in PGE or Pacific 
Power systems for Energy Trust to support it. Qualifying Facility (QF) standards mandate the 
utility to take the power. If we want to relook at that policy and criteria, that is something we 
should look at on a going-forward basis, but this project should be evaluated on the merits 
we’ve always brought to the board.  
 
Julie H: It sounds like this should be something we address in the future.  
 
Pat: Part of our concern is the wheeling cost in this case is similar to the value of the incentive; 
plus without the incentive, it seems this project wouldn’t go forward. Also, it’s not in our territory 
and not directly transferable to our system.  
 
Julie H: Is this more expensive than power you would buy? Pat: On the power side no, on the 
public purpose charge side, yes.  
 
Julie H: Is this the first time this went through RAC? Jed: Yes, policy requires presenting to RAC 
once. Peter: We’ve been working with Pacific Power on this project since 2009 and we don’t 
hide where we are headed. There are ways we can improve this connection moving forward. 
 
Caddy: I would hate to do to this customer what BETC is doing to those customers and that’s 
pulling the rug out at the end. I do understand this is a conversation we are going to need to 
have. Is Pacific Power paying more for the power than you are selling it for? Pat: I don’t have 
that information at this time. Under PURPA, we need to purchase the power and how it gets set 
by the OPUC is determined during those rate negotiations. The short answer is it shouldn’t be 
any different than other PURPA contacts. In addition, we see the benefit as not flowing to 
Pacific Power customers.  
 
Julie H: The benefits still flow to our customers. Peter: The RECs will accrue to Pacific Power. 
 
Margie reminded the board that the points Pat raises are very important to Pacific Power 
considerations. The reason this project and all of its predecessors are here is we have a 
different mandate, to encourage renewable energy and help pay for above-market costs. 
Energy Trust’s mandate and Pacific Power’s interests may not always align. The policy 
questions Pat is raising may well need to be addressed. 
 
Jason: The criteria that the investment is in the utility service territory for renewable energy 
projects is not in statute. Have you raised these issues before or is this relatively new? Pat: 
We’ve checked with Kyle Davis (former RAC representative from Pacific power) and he said he 
raised issues on overall cost. Projects have been generally in our territory or in our transmission 
system. This project is unique with its wheeling costs almost the same amount as the incentive. 
If we are going to be required to purchase the power, we need to be at the table during the 
process.  
 
Jason: Wasn’t the utility engaged months ago? Pat: The transmission and interconnection 
departments handled those communications. I do not know if those departments knew of the 


 
6







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


incentive and wheeling costs. What’s new here is the power is not sited in our transmission 
territory.  
 
Jason: At what point did Energy Trust engage Pacific power? Is this project being rushed? Jed: 
Energy Trust staff is not in the habit of contacting the utility to discuss interconnection; that is 
typically the project owner’s responsibility. There has been an interaction on this project, and 
again, that was not Energy Trust and that is typical. 
 
Jed said the program has working with TSID since October 2010, and received a formal 
application in June. The duration and thoroughness of the review took two months and was 
standard. Peter: When you get to the costs (wheeling, interconnection, transmission) there is a 
range. We need to roll that up and look at the whole. This project is within the range for 
cost/aMW and generation. Plus, that range is a BETC range and this project does not have a 
BETC. The next immediate project will be much more expensive. That we haven’t engaged 
PacifiCorp is a fair comment. In terms of process, this has gone through the standard review 
process.  
 
Alan: I understand Pat’s concern with wheeling costs. In the end, how are we spending Pacific 
Power ratepayer dollars? This project is competitive and a good buy regardless of whether it’s in 
the territory or not. 
 
Dan D.: I agree with Alan’s points. Regarding penstock, any project like this would have to have 
penstock costs and it’s just that those costs would show up in the capital cost column and not 
the debt service column as it does here.  
 
Julie H: Is Pacific Power going to be uncomfortable talking to its customers? Pat: We don’t 
oppose the project but it has a different gloss than other projects that have accessed the 
renewable energy aspect of the public purchase charge. 
 
Julie: Why did CEC not take the power? Jed: Public power is not regulated the same as 
investor-owned utility power. They get lower cost power from BPA. Marc: Plus CEC only has a 
5% RPS, which it has already met. 
 
Julie B:   When you say this project has a different gloss, do you mean that because it is outside 
the service territory when compared to other public purpose renewable energy projects? 
 
Pat: I’m raising policy and economic questions, not making allegations. 
 
John K: How was the accounting determined when the loan was made? Marc: The stream is 
listed in 303D (water quality). All the funders listed were aligned over several years and the 
hydro system is the fourth piece. The district did take a gamble, but with the loss of the BETC, 
renewable energy will become a significant challenge. That’s what we have to do with the loss 
of Federal dollars and so much BETC.  
 
With the two changes to the resolution, indicated in the discussion, the resolution was brought 
to a vote. 


 
7







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


 
RESOLUTION 591 


 
APPROVING FUNDS FOR THE THREE SISTERS IRRIGATION DISTRICT GENERATION 


PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 
1. Three Sisters Irrigation District proposes to develop an 800 kilowatt hydropower facility, 


expected to generate 3,100 megawatt hours annually 7.07 average megawatts over a 20-year 
operating life.  


2. Staff and an independent contractor reviewed the project design and costs and found them 
to be standard and reasonable for projects of similar type and design. 


3. The net-present value of the project’s above-market costs is $1,251,375 over 20 years. 
4. Staff proposes a $1,000,000 incentive, to be paid in four payments: $700,000 upon 


commissioning, and $100,000 on the anniversary of commissioning in the following three 
years. 


5. Approximately $600,000 of these funds would come from the 2011 “Other Renewables” 
program budget. The remaining $400,000 will come from the Biopower program budget. 


6.  At the proposed payment, the project’s energy would cost Energy Trust about $2.82 million 
per average megawatt (aMW). 


7. The project would increase Energy Trust’s hydropower generation portfolio by 800kW, an 
8% increase.  


It is therefore RESOLVED, that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
authorizes: 


1. Payment of up to $1,000,000 to Three Sisters Irrigation District  to offset the above-market 
costs of the Three Sisters Irrigation District hydroelectric plant;  


2. Energy Trust to take ownership of at least 69% 80% of the green tags produced by the 
project; and 


3. The executive director to enter into a contract(s) consistent with this resolution. 
 


Moved by: Julie Hammond Seconded by: Dan Davis 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on August 17, 2011, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
In reference to the process, Julie B. mentioned she would rather not be this far in the process 
and then hear concerns from the utility and to have to amend a resolution at the board meeting. 
It is our responsibility to check in with all parties.  
 


 
8







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


Julie H: Agreed that the process should be reconsidered.  
 
Margie: Agreed and stated it is our responsibility to initiate conversations with the utility. To our 
advantage, these projects have long lead times and that helps provide sufficient time for proper 
communications. We should take Pat’s concerns to the Policy Committee and come back to the 
board. I appreciate we aren’t holding up this project.  


Committee Reports  


Evaluation Committee. Debbie Kitchin presented.  
The Industrial Plant Closure study was reviewed by the committee. It looked at industrial plants 
that have participated with Energy Trust. Many projects, besides lighting, are currently assumed 
to have a 10-year measure life. Indicators showed the 10-year measure life was too 
conservative. Staff proposed a 15-year measure life. Question was raised by John R if the 
sample included mega-projects. Fred: Each mega-project should be evaluated on an individual 
basis. Staff will do another study in 5 years and for most non-lighting measures, we will use a 
15-year measure life. The committee was in favor of this. This change will bring some additional 
measures within our r cost-effectiveness criteria.  
 
The High Performance T8 Market Transformation study was reviewed by the committee. The 
policy question came up on how we count market transformation savings. The committee felt 
there were good reasons to take credit for the savings and we connected with other parties to 
verify.  
 
Fred: Our standard for counting market transformation is not that we were directly responsible 
for doing the project but that we were integral to the project outcome. We’ve been working on 
this analysis and quantification for nearly 10 years. The result will amount to a little more than 3 
aMW/year added annually for 5 years, or 18 aMW. This is almost as significant as NEEA is this 
year and stems from the most common lighting equipment in office buildings upgrading to a high 
performance bulb. There is an increasing portion of our goal that we’ve achieved by influencing 
federal standards.  
 
Margie: Will this 18 aMW go toward helping offset the BETC gap? Fred: We are taking credit for 
all the savings we rebated. Additionally, we are saying our programs, as part of many programs 
nationwide, were crucial to making the federal standards possible. And without our programs, 
the standards wouldn’t have come online for another 5 years. 
 
The Clean Energy Works Portland Process Evaluation was reviewed by the committee. 
Learnings from the process and the program are continuing to evolve. We’re getting more 
results and more long-term results. We also saw a change in the mix of customers staying in the 
program. 
 
Financial/Compensation Committee. John K presented.  
John K. talked about recasting efforts due to the BETC impacts. The Repo account, page 2, 
paragraph 3, CDARS investment are at their maximum. The committee agreed to allow the 
organization to invest a percentage of those funds above the CDARS maximum and earn some 


 
9







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


interest return on it. There is some risk with this approach , which we are working to minimize. 
There is nothing unusual in the June financials: some gaps with our expectations, especially 
incentives. 
 
Alan: Looks like we’re still accumulating cash. Margie: Yes, as usual for this time of year. It is 
helpful to look at the committed and dedicated funds which Sue has added to our statements. In 
addition, we are just entering our busiest season. Despite our efforts to stretch activity 
throughout the year, 50% of our business occurs in the second half of the year with the highest 
level in the last quarter.  
 
Julie H: Are we being too conservative in our budget calculations? John K: The cash line has 
been growing and I think it’s something we should investigate in the budgeting process. Margie: 
One of the issues is renewables. Spending has dropped significantly because of the BETC 
changes. We are also continuing to capture savings at a lower cost and when we do that, we 
have reserves.   
 
Julie H: Maybe we need to get into the more risky areas. Jason: Energy Trust has never been a 
steady state organization. Also, on the opposite end of the spectrum, we have overcommitted 
before.  
 
The compensation committee met last Wednesday, focusing mainly on the 401K plan, reviewed 
401K fund performance (actively modifying all the funds), and analyzed plan participation by 
looking at the breakdown of who the participants are and demographics at a high level. 
 
Policy Committee. Jason presented.  
Registering RECs: This topic was discussed at the most recent committee meeting. For 8% of 
RECs, qualifying facility and net metered projects, Energy Trust would have to spend 
considerable money to capture those RECS so they qualify for the RPS as part of WREGIS. 
The cost for registering such qualifying facility projects would be $190,000 through 2025 (about 
780,000 RECs). The cost for net metered projects, largely rooftop solar, was over $6 million to 
yield 260,000 RECs. These costs are too expensive. RAC agreed.  
 
At some future date, Jason would like to be able to count the solar RECs. Energy Trust is in a 
unique position because we take title to RECs from projects we don’t own. Western Renewable 
Energy Generation Information System (WREGIS) has no system for registering RECs from an 
organization like us. Instead, they work with REC owners who generally represent larger 
projects than those we support.  
 
Because Energy Trust is a unique and relatively small market actor, it is challenging to gain 
attention from WREGIS. ODOE is not interested in solutions outside of WREGIS because of the 
credibility WREGIS brings. There may be a solution worth pursuing, and despite extensive 
research, a solution has not been identified.  
 
Alan: Agrees with Jason’s position. This is not about law, it’s an ODOE policy. To comply with 
REC registration would require an expensive investment. Peter: We had proposed to RAC to 
exempt these projects from WREGIS certification. The utilities supported this. Currently, we 


 
10







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


survey projects to verify the results and the last survey said we are at 99% of the generation 
results we forecasted. We believe how we are approaching this is the most cost-effective way to 
do it. ODOE is still opposed to it and has agreed to approach WREGIS, as they are a bigger 
player than we are. It is up to ODOE to lead and we don’t know how high a priority this issue is 
on their list. We committed to revisit this matter in a year and if we did not make any progress, 
we would approach the OPUC. We would incur an administrative burden and cost. In summary, 
the policy will stay as is and we’ll continue working on it. 
 
Retreat follow-up: Energy Trust’s role in how board members influence legislation was 
discussed at the last policy committee meeting. Consensus was that Energy Trust will still not 
take position on individual pieces of legislation. Board members will self monitor any 
engagement with policy makers. The board meeting preceding the start of each legislative 
session will include reminding and preparing board members on their appropriate role. 
 
Fuel switching policy: John Volkman described the history of the fuel switching policy since NW 
Natural came onboard in 2003. The policy reads that Energy Trust will not encourage anyone to 
switch fuels and can pay customers to invest in a more efficient technology after they have 
made the decision on what fuel to go with. Clean Energy Works Oregon recently approached 
Energy Trust seeking clarification on how to address customers that choose to change heating 
fuels as part of their deep retrofit and financing program. Utilities objected to Energy Trust 
providing an incentive to customers that have switched fuels. Energy Trust engaged both NW 
Natural and Cascade Natural Gas and identified this as an OPUC issue. The proposed 
language in the policy will be delayed until the utilities meet with the OPUC and direction is 
given hopefully by early 2012. Bill Edmonds commented that NW Natural appreciated the 
additional time. The policy will be brought to the board in March of 2012. 
 
Amend Conservation Funding for Schools Policy, Resolution 592. Jason Eisdorfer 
introduced the resolution. 
 
Under SB 1149, schools receive 10% of the public purpose charge. ODOE operates the 
program in conjunction with Education Service Districts. After school districts complete energy 
audits on their buildings, schools can receive 100% funding for measures identified in the audit. 
Energy Trust has coordinated with the program since our inception, providing financial 
incentives to install cost effective measures. No Energy Trust incentives are provided for 
measures also funded through the SB 1149 schools fund. 
 
The new “Cool Schools” program (HB 2960) was enacted this session and authorizes use of the 
10% public purpose charge schools funds, as well as other funds, to support local school bonds 
for energy-efficiency improvements and investments. This raised a policy question: if Energy 
Trust supports a Cool Schools project, would we be duplicating SB 1149 school fund money? 
 
The policy committee proposed to shift how Energy Trust interacts with school projects. The 
primary barrier facing schools is facilitating and managing projects, such as connecting with 
trade allies. This is mainly an administrative, technical support function. Though Cool Schools 
provides a funding source for energy investment, schools still need technical assistance to 
implement projects. Energy Trust and ODOE have been working together to ensure such 


 
11







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


services are provided. A draft MOU is in circulation to define roles and report project savings. As 
drafted now, ODOE and Energy Trust would operate a pilot for up to 10 schools. 
 
Energy Trust would report savings to the IOUs and OPUC and relate them to their IRP targets. 
No double counting would occur. In addition, the public purpose charge report provided to the 
legislature every other year would note savings resulting from Cool Schools activity supported 
by ODOE and Energy Trust. Under this policy modification, Energy Trust would support schools 
only in our territory. There has not yet been any definition of any possible role in consumer-
owned utility service territories.    
 
Debbie Kitchin left the meeting at 3:35 p.m. 
 
Alan: What budget is being used? Margie: The Existing Buildings or New Buildings budget, 
depending on the project. Steve added that schools leverage their SB 1149 funds and they 
receive Energy Trust support via SB 838. 
 
Kari Greer of Pacific Power mentioned that HB 2960 also adjusted how utilities remit funds to 
schools. In the past such funds were provided directly to eight education serviced districts. With 
the new legislation, utilities provide direct payment to about 75 schools. PGE would do the same 
for schools in their territory. Assistance to schools on how they can apply the funds is 
appreciated. 
 


RESOLUTION 592 
AMENDING BOARD POLICY ON CONSERVATION FUNDING FOR SCHOOLS 


WHEREAS: 
1. SB 1149, which requires electric companies to collect three percent of their revenues for public 


purposes, allocates 10% of the proceeds for energy conservation in schools. 
2. To coordinate Energy Trust programs with the schools fund, the board adopted a policy allowing 


Energy Trust to make electric and gas funds available for schools if measures are cost-effective, 
and Energy Trust and the schools fund are not used for the same measures. 


3. This year, the Oregon legislature adopted HB 2690, known as the “Cool Schools” bill, which will 
allow schools to use SB 1149 school funds and other funding sources as security for bonds to 
reduce the cost of energy conservation loans. 


4. The board wishes to clarify that Energy Trust may provide technical and administrative support for 
Cool Schools projects as long as Energy Trust can claim savings from the measures it supports. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. The board policy on schools is amended as follows: 


 
• Energy Trust will make electric and gas funds available for SB 1149 schools through 


its New and Existing Buildings programs, provided the proposed measures meet the 
relevant cost-effectiveness criteria. 


 
12







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


• Energy Trust cash incentives funds and other SB 1149 school funds may not be 
used for the same energy efficiency measure. 


• Energy Trust may provide technical and/or administrative support for school projects, 
provided Energy Trust can claim savings from the measures it supports. 


• Energy savings estimates, measures costs and other data identified in the school 
district audits will be accepted by the Existing and New Building Efficiency programs. 


 


Moved by: Jason Eisdorfer Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


Vote: In favor: 8 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on August 17, 2011, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Break from 3:40 to 3:50 p.m. 
 
The 2012 strategic board retreat date will be June 8 and 9, 2012, at Edgefield in Troutdale. 
Nancy will schedule the retreat for this date and location.  
 
Margie mentioned staff will take a concerted effort to invite board members to events within their 
geographical area. 
 
Staff Report 
 
Margie presented Q2 savings and renewable generation highlights. Complete Q2 results are in 
the public report mailed to the board Monday. The report is also available on our website. Since 
the end of Q2, we are at 30% of electric efficiency stretch goal and 34% of gas efficiency stretch 
goal. The main concern is the renewables sector where we are only at 7% of stretch goal. This 
was anticipated as a direct result of high dependence on tax credits, BETC changes and 
uncertainty in the marketplace. 
 
We’ve seen growth in existing buildings retrofits, industrial projects, home weatherization, new 
homes and solar projects.  
 
New program initiatives show ways we are diversifying our services to capture savings. We’ve 
had collaboration with consumer-owned utilities that overlap with our gas service territories, 
including working with Efficiency Services Group to complete direct installs of water-saving 
devices during their home audits in Monmouth and McMinnville. This model was moving well, 
until public utilities overexpended BPA funds for efficiency programs, resulting in a temporary 
halt to work until next year. We anticipate reviving this collaboration with public utilities in our 
gas service territories in the future.  
 
We are also working with EWEB to bring the Energy Performance Score (EPS) to NW Natural 
heated homes in their territory. EPS is at nearly 15% of market share for all new homes, which 
is very close to our annul goal of 17%. Fridge recycling and mobile homes are also progressing 


 
13







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


well. In Cascade territory, we initiated water audits. Technical training for industrial refrigeration 
operators is being conducted, as well as wastewater treatment training.  
 
Clean Energy Works Oregon (CEWO) is doing well attracting applicants. At the end of Q2 they 
had 2,000 applicants, 500 test-ins and 100 completed loans. They are targeting 1,000 homes 
retrofitted by year end. CEWO is working with Enterprise Cascadia, plus SOFCU Community 
Credit Union in Klamath Falls. They are a little behind rolling the program out to the other 
regions. 
 
The second OPOWER mailing was distributed. We’ve seen preliminary billing data and are 
encouraged by those preliminary results. The op-out rates have remained low (less than 3/10s 
of a percent). 
 
The Integrated Solutions Implementation Project (ISIP) project launch has moved to February 
2012. Margie met with Epicor this morning and there was encouraging news that a working 
model will allow us to pick up the pace, hopefully meet our new deadline and stay within budget. 
 
We are still on track for the office move the weekend before Thanksgiving. 
 
Related to external relations, our customer service manager and the OPUC liaison and 
consumer division met to align how we handle customer complaints. Margie also met with a 
large delegation from Latin America, where a representative stated that Energy Trust should 
provide consulting services. Delegations from Russia and China also visited. 
 
Regarding follow-up from the June board retreat discussion on how to explore future consulting 
options, Energy Trust secured a working relationship with PSU MBA students to conduct a 
market assessment on our behalf. It will take some minimal staff time from Margie and Planning 
and Evaluation, to provide research guidance and review findings. The scope will survey and 
analyze who would likely purchase ETO services and products, pricing, competition, leverage 
with other entities and marketing. We’re looking at spring 2012 to bring findings to the board. 
 
Margie was a keynote speaker at the Portland International Center for Management of 
Engineering and Technology Conference at PSU and spoke about the “river of conservation” in 
the Pacific Northwest. 
 
Margie described a few recent customer projects, including the Brigittine Monks completing a 
lighting upgrade, June Key Delta Community Center’s new net-zero building in North Portland, 
the Coquille Indian Housing Authority receiving instant-saving products and Home Energy 
Reviews, and the Sunset Pool in Seaside that improved its HVAC system. This begins to show 
you that we are reaching out to different parts of our service territory and serving diverse 
markets and customers with different types of projects. 
 
Introduction of Scott Clark, Energy Trust’s new IT Director.  
Margie said we received a variety of qualified candidates for the position. With Scott we have a 
combination of people skills and technical skills. He previously worked at Rejuvenation 


 
14







Discussion Minutes  August 17, 2011 


 
15


Hardware. Feedback from IT staff is that Scott is a perfect match for where we are in the ISI 
project. Scott introduced himself to the board, and the board welcomed him. 
 
Feature presentation: Online applications demo (Sloan Schang, Aaron Zahler) 
Margie reiterated part of the redesign was customer focus and that we are having this 
presentation to demonstrate how the online experience is facilitating customer engagement.  
 
Aaron showed a graph of applications coming in via paper and online. He explained web 
services are secure, standardized interfaces to our core business systems. He gave a history of 
our movement to having services provided online. The first application was developed to 
support the refrigerator recycling program. The first “traditional” web form was for residential 
appliance projects. As of now, we have 25 application types online. These applications include 
traditional web forms, as well as other online services such as the trade ally lookup. 
 
Sloan discussed the benefits of applying online: easier, faster, can check status of the 
application, saves Energy Trust time and costs. Sloan demonstrated three types of online 
applications: free energy saving offers (easy to develop and highly marketable like the Energy 
Saver Kit order form), intake forms (a basic form like the Home Energy Review request form), 
and incentive payment (more detailed like the appliances incentive application). 
 
Aaron closed the presentation by describing the savings Energy Trust sees from online 
services: 650 hours of processing time saved, 15,000 pieces of paper, stamps and handling 
avoided, 90% fewer checks re-cut and 30% reduction in call volume. He also discussed 
upcoming online projects and implementation plans with the Integrated Solutions project. 
 
Adjourn 
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:50 p.m. 
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held 
Wednesday, October 5, 2011, 12:00 p.m. at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth 
Avenue, 12th Floor, Portland, Oregon  
 
 
 
     _______________________________________ 
      Caddy McKeown, Secretary 
 








 


 


Utility Strategic Roundtable 
August 17, 2011 
 
Board members present: Julie Brandis, Dan Davis, Jason Eisdorfer, Julie Hammond, Debbie 
Kitchin, Caddy McKeown, Alan Meyer, John Reynolds, John Savage (Oregon Public Utility 
Commission ex-officio) 


Board members absent:  Rick Applegate, Dan Enloe, Roger Hamilton, Jeff King, John 
Klosterman, Bob Repine (Oregon Department of Energy special advisor) 


Utility roundtable participants: Jim Abrahamson (Cascade Natural Gas), Carol Dillin (PGE), 
Bill Edmonds (NW Natural), Pat Egan (Pacific Power), Bob Jenks (CUB) 


OPUC members: Susan Ackerman (OPUC Commissioner), Juliet Johnson (OPUC staff), 


Staff attending: Pete Catching, Scott Clark, Amber Cole, Lakin Garth, Fred Gordon, Hannah 
Hacker, Margie Harris, Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Ted Light, Kathleen Ortbal, Sue Meyer 
Sample, John Volkman, Peter West  


Others attending:  Lauren Shapton (PGE), Kari Greer (Pacific Power), Sunny Radcliffe (PGE), 
Theresa Gibney (Corvallis Sustainability Coalition), Maureen Bock (ODOE), Anthony Buckley 
(ODOE), Jason Salmi Klotz (NEEA), Jay Tinker (PGE), Jim Cox (PGE), Sabine Brueske 
(Energetics, Inc), Vijay Satyal (ODOE), Robert Mullin (Argus Media) 


Welcome  


John Reynolds called the roundtable to order at 10:36 a.m. There are two topics for discussion 
today: 


1. Implications to Energy Trust 2011 programs stemming from changes in Oregon’s energy tax 
credits 


2. Planning for 2012 utility funding discussions and tariff filings for the 2012 Energy Trust 
budget. 


No other topics were introduced for discussion. 


Utility roundtable review 


John R. reminded the roundtable members of the agreed upon minimum of two roundtables per 
year for a period of two years, ending with this year. In September, the Energy Trust Policy 
Committee will begin discussing the future of utility roundtable meetings, whether they should 
continue and if so, the frequency, format and content of the meetings. As part of this process, 
the committee will solicit comments from the utilities and other participants. 







Discussion Minutes Utility Strategic Roundtable  August 17, 2011 
 


 


2011 tax credit impacts 


Last week, utility roundtable members received a PowerPoint presentation analyzing the effects 
of the tax credit changes on Energy Trust 2011 programs and goals. Today’s meeting will 
provide staff with a clear direction on whether to pursue proposed mitigation strategies this year 
to help recapture a portion of the savings anticipated to be lost from changes to Oregon’s 
Business Energy Tax Credits (BETC). 


Margie welcomed the roundtable members and reviewed steps Energy Trust has taken to 
analyze and vet mitigation strategies with each utility, the Conservation Advisory Council and 
the Renewable Energy Advisory Council. Margie explained that Energy Trust is seeking 
guidance from the roundtable members on the proposed mitigation, including whether mitigation 
should be undertaken at all. Impacts in 2012 are expected to be more extensive and are more 
uncertain, in part because Oregon Department of Energy (ODOE) rules have not yet been 
drafted and implemented. 


• Margie summarized state tax credit changes and presented Energy Trust’s analysis and 
proposed mitigation strategy: At the highest level across all utilities, if no mitigation actions 
were taken, the impact would be approximately 19% of goal for any utility. This means that 
81% of annual 2011 goals are not expected to be affected. The 81% figure reflects savings 
that have already accrued during the first half of this year, plus projects in the pipeline, and 
projects that we anticipate will not be affected by 2011 tax credit changes. 


• 2011 proposed mitigation is designed to capture 30% to 60% of the savings that are 
otherwise expected to be lost because of the tax credit changes this year. The mitigation is 
focused on those projects that historically are most dependent on BETC and as a result, 
most are likely to drop out without a BETC.  


• Proposed mitigation would be paid for with existing program funds. This analysis was 
completed based on the total number of projects impacted and estimates and assumptions 
regarding how many projects would drop out, freeing up existing incentive funds to be paid 
to those projects mitigation could “re-capture.” No additional funding is needed at this time to 
support this proposed mitigation approach.  


• In 2012, a different set of variables will be in place, with more uncertainty and higher 
impacts stemming from broader tax credit changes. Looking forward, we anticipate that 30% 
to 40% of savings in affected programs could be impacted. Strategies to address 2012 will 
be presented during the budget process starting this fall; the proposed mitigation strategy 
presented today is for 2011 only. 


Margie summarized the slide (pp. 4 of the handout) on HB 3672 signed by the Governor on 
August 5, 2011, adding the following: 
 
• New Residential Energy Tax Credit (RETC) rules are expected to be drafted by ODOE after 


the rules are complete for BETC 
• Because the legislature required BETC to sunset retroactively, projects need a 


precertification by April 15, 2011. This impacts approximately 600 projects who will receive 


2 
 







Discussion Minutes Utility Strategic Roundtable  August 17, 2011 
 


notification from ODOE that they will not receive a BETC. The majority of those projects are 
expected to be in Energy Trust service territory. We are cooperating with ODOE to reach out 
to these individuals about their projects.  


• The new tax credit programs starting this fall will have a much reduced budget of $28 
million/biennium for energy conservation projects compared to several hundred 
million/biennium in the past.). 


Margie reiterated the 2012 impacts are expected to be far greater than impacts to 2011. 


Margie summarized Energy Trust 2011 goals for electric and gas utilities by sector (pp. 5-6). 
She then summarized 11 programs and program offerings that will not be affected by the 
changes this year (pp. 7). These programs are expected to bring in the 81% of 2011 savings 
mentioned earlier. However, some of these programs may be impacted in 2012. 


• Proposed mitigation is focused in two ETO programs where BETC has been most central: 
Existing Buildings and Production Efficiency 


• Within these two programs, lighting and custom capital projects are most significantly 
impacted. 
o Existing Buildings lighting and custom capital projects: Up to 80% of expected savings 


are from these tracks, and, after we consider savings from completed projects, this could 
potentially impact 49% of the overall 2011 annual savings goal for the program. 


o Production Efficiency lighting and custom capital projects: More than 50% of expected 
savings are in these program tracks, and, after we consider savings from completed 
projects , this could potentially impact 25% of the overall 2011 annual savings goal for 
the program. 


John Savage: Why is lighting impacted?  
Peter and Margie: These projects are highly dependent on BETC to make them go.  
John: Are these most of the projects in the queue that don’t have precerts by the 4/15 
retroactive date?  
Debbie Kitchin: These are also shorter lead-time projects.  
Margie: In the future we know there will be a different payback threshold of 3 years or less 
under BETC, which could jeopardize some lighting projects. 


Debbie: Why was New Buildings not impacted?  
Peter: For New Buildings you have to use at least 10 percent less energy than code to qualify, 
and a good chunk of projects in the system save less. 


John S: Did you assume everything that doesn’t have a precert won’t get done?  
Peter: Yes.  
Margie: The analysis we can now do will be more refined. We had to make assumptions.  
John S: Yes, I think it’s good to be conservative. 


Margie discussed the analytical approach and assumptions used by programs: 
 


3 
 







Discussion Minutes Utility Strategic Roundtable  August 17, 2011 
 


• Savings projections and impacts were quantified by utility. This included tabulating savings 
from completed or nearly completed projects separate from  projects in the pipeline without 
a BETC, and estimating  2011 projects likely to proceed or not proceed.  


• Revenue, budget and expenditure analysis within programs and throughout the 
organization.  


o There is an implied “hierarchy” Energy Trust would follow if incentives were 
increased for the most affected programs: 


1. Unspent program incentive funds stemming from lower participation due 
to tax credit changes  


2. Approximately $3 million in additional revenues above what had been 
forecasted  


3. 5% reserves 
4. Savings from under expenditures in non-program parts of the Energy 


Trust budget  
5. As a last resort, tapping the existing Energy Trust line of credit 
 


• Ways to partially close the BETC gap for Existing Buildings and Production Efficiency 
projects were identified to encourage project completion this year, remain cost-effective and 
can be accommodated within the 2011 budget. 


Tax credit programs have been in place in Oregon for over 30 years. Margie emphasized that 
we do not know how customers will respond to the BETC changes or to proposed Energy Trust 
mitigation approaches.  We have done our best to make reasonable assumptions and to 
analyze a range of responses to an incentive bonus.  
 
Peter summarized impact to goals for each utility under a range of high to low-impact scenarios 
(pp 10): 
 
• High goal impact = More projects do not proceed/complete 
• Low goal impact =  Assumes more projects will proceed and be complete 
 
Impacts vary by program, by customer type, and by utility. Electric utilities are more dependent 
on commercial projects, which are more affected by the loss of BETC. NW Natural is more 
dependent on residential savings, which are largely unaffected in 2011. Cascade Natural Gas is 
dependent on residential savings and industrial savings; with the latter typically rely on BETC. 
 
With the 2011 high impact mitigation scenario, we project we can achieve better than 80% of 
goal for all utilities, and potentially 90%. Our contractual minimum is 85% for each utility. 
 
Peter then summarized the savings impacts for each utility if no mitigation actions were taken 
(pp 11). He added that the difference between the high- and low-impact scenarios for Cascade 
are tighter because it’s a smaller program overall.  


Peter reiterated that the focus of this analysis is on Existing Buildings (49% savings hit) and 
Production Efficiency (25% savings hit). For 2011, we did not focus program areas with smaller, 
less consequential impacts (i.e., 1% savings hit). These two programs are where we will get the 
biggest bang for the buck. 


4 
 







Discussion Minutes Utility Strategic Roundtable  August 17, 2011 
 


Peter presented the proposed mitigation actions to recapture savings (pp 12): 
 
• Temporary incentive bonus for Existing Buildings and Production Efficiency lighting and 


custom projects that are: 
o Not yet completed, and will be completed in 2011. The bonus would not be available 


for projects already completed. 


Peter said we used a similar strategy during the 2008 recession and it was successful and; 
helped clear our pipeline. 
 
Staff analyzed a range of success for this strategy and anticipated recapturing 30% to 60% of 
otherwise “lost” savings. We expect a greater fall-off in custom capital versus lighting projects 
because custom savings are more expensive and typically require longer lead times. The bonus 
incentive for custom projects is lower because custom projects are so expensive. If we pay too 
much, our levelized cost will exceed OPUC performance measure of 3.5 cents. This mitigation 
strategy was accepted by CAC and when vetted with market actors, they said the strategy 
seems appropriate. 
 
Jason: How far down your revenue hierarchy is this going?  
Margie: We expect to accommodate the majority of what we are after within these program 
incentive budgets. If that is inadequate, we would use higher-than-projected revenue and our 
reserves and then savings from non-program parts of our budget. The line of credit would be 
used only if absolutely necessary. 
 
Debbie: How far does the 60% go into your budget?  
Peter: There is a high and low impact, and for each scenario there are varying success rates. 
The range is: high impact-low success; high impact-high success; low impact-low success; low 
impact-high success.  
 
For example, for a high impact-PGE scenario, if we did no mitigation and experienced a 19% 
reduction in savings, we would have $9.4 million in incentives unspent by year-end. If we 
pursued mitigation using remaining incentive funds and not dipping into other revenues, 
reserves, or line of credit, the high impact-low success scenario would cost $5.25 million, while 
the high impact-high success scenario would cost $8.4 million.  
 
We have to pay attention to each utility funding source and balance between not going far 
enough and leaving too much funding on the table, or going too far and exceeding available 
revenue. Again, there is no reason to adjust any other programs this year beyond Existing 
Buildings and Production Efficiency. 
  
Dan Davis: Are you looking at existing programs or projecting new programs?  
Margie: Just existing programs. 
 
Alan Meyer: How close do the proposed increases go to replacing the lost BETC funding? 
Peter: Part-way. The lighting bonus would replace 45% to 54% of the lost BETC. The custom 
capital bonus would replace 20% to 23% of the BETC gap. 
 
Pat Egan: Slide 14, simplistically speaking, implies a 75% chance of overshooting Pacific Power 
revenues – in 3 of 4 cases. How would the excess be funded?  


5 
 







Discussion Minutes Utility Strategic Roundtable  August 17, 2011 
 


Peter: It’s been a colder than expected year. These base projections of revenue are from Pacific 
Power and incorporate a normal weather pattern, which we’ve not been having. Actual Pacific 
Power revenues are higher, plus there is an additional bump from SB 838. For Pacific Power we 
have about $1.5 million in higher-than-anticipated revenues and reserves, which pretty much 
captures the difference.  
 
Jason: Is it correct to say that you can close the gap by about half by using freed-up incentive 
money and above-budgeted revenues without having to dip into the 5% reserves?  
Margie: Approximately, recognizing that we can’t predict how customers will act. (NOTE 
CORRECTION:  the higher than projected revenue figures include the 5% reserves. Together, 
these two sources would be the second tier of funding to support mitigation after program 
incentive budgets.) 
 
Jason: How much can we close the gap without going beyond program budgets and affecting 
future years?  
Margie: We monitor the rate of response and activity and expenditure rates very closely during 
the last quarter of every year. This year we will be even more frequent and focused. 
 
John S: Are you going to sit down with the 600 customers who received BETC rejection letters 
to figure out where you are in the spectrum?  
Margie: That is the plan. We’ve only talked to our contractors, not directly with customers yet. 
We are working to match ODOE data with our data. We know who is being contacted and we 
will work with those customers to refine our analysis.  
 
John S: What is the timeline?  
Margie: Depending on what occurs today, the bonus offers will be on the table for lighting by 
September 1, 2011, and for custom capital projects by October 1, 2011.  
 
Bill Edmonds: The stacking order seems right. Peter said the intention is to solve the problem 
within the affected program. Do you expect to reach into other program budgets for money? 
Peter: No. Other programs are performing well and we don’t want to impede that. As we 
normally do this time of year, we looked to see if we had underperforming programs, and we 
didn’t find any. So that’s not an area we think we should be looking at.  
Margie: And, we are counting on those programs to bring in the 80% of savings. 
 
Julie H: I have a concern on the timing. This is mid-August and you’re trying to capture these 
savings by the end of December.  
Margie: We have a lot of activity planned on the communication front. We will coordinate 
messaging with ODOE, especially with their call backs to projects that didn’t qualify.  
 
Margie showed the slide with the list of communication strategies (pp 18).  
 
Julie H: What’s the turnaround time for a project in this scenario? 
Margie: Most activity is aimed at projects that are currently underway and will fall off because 
there is no BETC. Many lighting projects are relatively short-term. Some large retrofit projects 
probably won’t be helped because the project timeline could be too long. 
 
Peter displayed slide 13 to show the range of success we are predicting.  
 
Julie H: Are we working with the 600 projects?  


6 
 







Discussion Minutes Utility Strategic Roundtable  August 17, 2011 
 


Margie: We believe the majority of the projects are in our service territory but some are in 
consumer-owned utility territory. My understanding is that ODOE set up a call center to contact 
each project and that our PMCs/PDCs and staff will ultimately do personal outreach. 
 
Anthony Buckley (ODOE) clarified that no calls were going to be made. Instead, ODOE set up a 
call center to receive calls and explain the HB 3672. ODOE can direct them to Energy Trust. 
ODOE just sent 100 letters to those that paid (a tax credit application fee) with a credit card and 
received a few calls back. ODOE expects many more calls starting Thursday or Friday based on 
letters they sent to the 500 other project sponsors  
 
Alan: I wonder if success rates will be higher than expected. 
 
Pat: I appreciate the communication strategies. It would be great to get the call center script you 
will use and we will get our call centers using the same messages. 
 
Carol Dillin: We’ve heard there were 350 PGE customers among the 600 and are ready to call 
those customers. We know some customers have called their legislators. We are supportive of 
the communications and want to help where we can. 
 
Pat: I think the analysis and approach are good but want some time today to talk about 
alternatives. We’re dealing with something that’s been done by the legislature. The BETC cut-off 
is retroactive. That creates concerns from a customer standpoint, and it was done for revenue 
mitigation and policy reasons. How we respond will set the stage for energy-efficiency 
incentives going forward. One alternative is not to change (ETO) incentives. If we don’t make a 
change, we will have a true test case of what this new world looks like. Pre-HB 3672, there was 
the combination of BETC and Energy Trust incentives. For the six states Pacific Power operates 
in, this was the most generous package. Even minus BETC, when you look at levelized cost, it’s 
still an acceptable range. We didn’t create this problem; this bill has been passed for different 
policy objectives. Energy Trust is presenting a good response but we are shifting the burden 
from taxpayers onto investor-owned utility ratepayers and that’s a strategy I don’t agree with. As 
a state, we ought to revisit a more scalable approach in regards to BETC to see if we can 
preserve the success of this 30-year program. The legislature made that attempt, and I 
appreciate the temporary fixes. We need to work with the 600 projects denied by the 
retroactivity plus new projects coming in. 
 
Peter: Since we did this analysis, we’ve been booking additional savings, which are not 
represented in these tables, so we are slightly over representing here; we may have wiggle 
room on the high end. 
 
Debbie: I’m concerned that by putting these incentives in place this year, we might be creating 
another cliff for people to fall off in 2012. I don’t want to offer a 2011 strategy isolated from 2012. 
Peter: Because the rules for the new tax credits have yet to be written, we could look only at 
what we would do in 2011. We will not make up the total BETC shortfall.  
 
Julie H: I’d rather we are proactive rather than reactive, in consideration of the 600 customers. 
We shouldn’t wait for the customer to call us or to read communications we put out.  
Margie: I agree with that and I know we’ve been working with ODOE to get information about 
those customers. Though we haven’t contacted them yet, we will. Right now, we’re in-
between— we don’t have an offer to explain to them yet.  
 


7 
 







Discussion Minutes Utility Strategic Roundtable  August 17, 2011 
 


Bob Jenks, CUB: Your mandate is cost-effective energy efficiency, not to send a message to 
the legislature on the need for tax credits. As long as it’s cost-effective, it’s a good approach. I 
do worry about the 600 customers, some of whom have put a lot of time into their projects. I 
don’t want people to walk away saying this is too much of a mess to do the project. We need to 
get those folks the best deal you can give them. With this mitigation strategy, Energy Trust is 
trying to protect them. 
 
Julie B: Where are the policy signals and the market signals? This is a huge change, and it has 
a big impact on customers. I’d like to hear more from the utilities on Pat’s idea. 
 
Pat: Personally, I think it’s reprehensible that the legislature cut off the BETC retroactively. We 
care very much about these customers. But we do have a control, about 100 customers not in 
investor-owned utility that will also be denied a BETC. If we do make an adjustment it ought to 
be temporary, and regardless of whether we want to send a message or not, a message was 
sent to us. There’s been a shift from taxpayers to ratepayers. That needs to be noted. If the 
long-term trend is “that went well, let’s do it again”, that’s not acceptable. BETC was originally 
intended for conservation and we know what happened, and it became a large revenue 
problem. 
 
Julie B: In response to Bob’s remark, taking a line of credit is not cost-effective, not what SB 
1149 intended for this organization. My gut says no. 
 
Caddy: Dealing with 2011 and the retroactive cut-off means we need to address 2011 differently 
than 2012. I find dipping into reserves or pulling a line of credit as distasteful. If it comes to that, 
have you analyzed the impacts? 
 
Jason: I agree with Caddy. When the issue first came up, you could see there would quickly be 
problems with Energy Trust doing heroic measures. We have experience with an overcommitted 
Energy Trust program, and we don’t want to repeat that. We also would risk sending the wrong 
signal to the market in order to send the “right” message to the legislature. We should mitigate, 
but should not go into our reserves or using a line of credit. I want us to make choices that are 
sustainable. 
 
Carol Dillin: I want to make sure the cost-effectiveness requirement is met. In terms of 
mitigation, we can give the nod for 2011. We want to send a message to our customers, 
especially those denied a BETC that we are all working to be cost-effective and as efficient as 
possible. I do encourage Energy Trust to do benchmarking. We need to proceed cautiously 
going forward, work with Energy Trust and our utility partners, and do what we can so our 
customers don’t face additional stress. We are okay with this short-term strategy. 
 
Jim Abrahamson: I heard about this at CAC. I appreciate Pat’s comments that the adjustment 
needs to be made carefully and temporary. There is the potential of shifting funding from shared 
taxpayer-ratepayer funding to ratepayer funding. What else needs to be done to support these 
programs going forward, when the affected 600 projects have been addressed? From 
Cascade’s perspective, we are in a unique position compared to the other utilities. We have a 
deferred funding mechanism we can use to make sure funding is available. 
 
Bill Edmonds: My eyes are really on 2012. I appreciate Energy Trust’s work on this and it looks 
like an appropriate middle ground. In 2012, I’m worried about a fall-off, and 2011 creating a 
precedent. What to do in 2012 will be a difficult discussion. Should we have customers focus on 
low-capital, operational projects? In 2009, NW Natural increased its public-purpose charge from 


8 
 







Discussion Minutes Utility Strategic Roundtable  August 17, 2011 
 


9 
 


1.83 to 4.3 %, and we don’t want to do again. We don’t want to spend dollars this year that we 
have to recover next year. 
 
Margie: We do want to strike a balance. This mitigation strategy is for 2011 only. And we can 
report back to the board on how it went. Our job is different than the legislature’s job. We have a 
mission and savings goals and cost-effectiveness requirements to meet. What we don’t achieve 
this year will make it harder to meet goals next year.  
 
Margie: I’m getting the message that we should proceed with the mitigation as planned. Energy 
Trust should go forward and capture savings this year and not leave anything on the table.  
 
Peter: The mitigation strategy will be beyond the 600 projects affected, and will be applied to 
those who would have applied for a BETC this year.  
Margie: Also, because this is a limited-time offer, we have protection against too many projects 
coming in.  
 
Peter reiterated the bonus incentive will not be used to make up for the entire BETC.  
 
Jim: Is there a deadline to close the projects?  
Margie: Yes, the deadline is Dec 15. 
 
John R: We have run out of time to take up our second agenda item today.  
 
Margie: We have dates on our calendars in the second half of August to meet with each utility 
and talk about 2012. In those discussions we will talk about these issues and their implications 
for IRP targets. 
 
John S: For the 2012 discussion, it would be useful to know the new tax credit rules. We have 
IRP and SB 838 tariffs coming up immediately. 
 
Margie: I was told ODOE is targeting Oct. 1 to have rules in place.  
 
John S: It would also be useful in the utility discussions to offer multiple options to the OPUC – if 
spending level is X, you get Y – and to note Energy Trust’s preferred option. 
 
John R.: We should schedule another utility roundtable meeting in September to discuss 2012.  
 
Margie: Our budget process is starting; we have the individual utility meetings to complete, and 
will work to set up the September date as soon as possible.  
 
Roundtable adjourned at 12:01 p.m.  


 


           _____________________________________ 


       Caddy McKeown, Secretary 


 


 








 
  
 
108th Board Meeting  
Wednesday, October 5, 12:00 noon – 5:00 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
  
12:00 p.m. 108th Meeting 
 Call to Order (John Reynolds)  


• Approve agenda   
 
12:05 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 
 
12:10 p.m. Consent Agenda. The consent agenda may be 1 Action 
  Approved by a single motion, second and vote of 
  the board. Any item on the consent agenda will be 
  moved to the regular agenda upon the request 
  from any member of the board. (John Reynolds) 


• August 17 meeting minutes  
• August 17 utility strategic roundtable notes 
• Amending Equity Policy (R595) 
• Executive Director compensation (R599) 


 
12:15 p.m. President’s Report (John Reynolds)  Information 
 
12:25 p.m. Energy Programs (Jason Eisdorfer) 2 


• Program delivery contractor for Industrial Lighting (R597) Action 
• Program delivery contractor for Small Industrial (R598) Action  
• Production Efficiency Custom Track program 


delivery contractor  Information 
 
1:45 p.m. Break 
 
2:00 p.m. NEEA annual update (Claire Fulenwider, Ph.D., Executive Director) Information 
 
2:20 p.m. Committee Reports  


• Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer) 3 Information 
 Cost effectiveness policy amendment (R596)  Action 


• Audit Committee (Julie Hammond)  Information 
• Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 4 Information 
• Finance Committees 5 Information 


 (John Klosterman)   
 
3:00 p.m. Staff report (Margie Harris) 6  


• Highlights (Margie Harris)  Information 
 
5:00 p.m. Adjourn 


 
The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held 


Wednesday, November 9, 2011, 12:00 noon at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor, Portland, Oregon  


 







Agenda  October 5, 2011 


   2


 
INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 


 
 Board Meeting Agenda 
 
Tab 1 Consent Agenda 


• August 17 meeting minutes  
• August 17 utility strategic roundtable notes 
• Amending Equity Policy (R595) 
• Executive Director Compensation (R599) 


 
Tab 2 Energy Programs 


• PDC for Industrial Lighting (R597)   
• PDC for Small Industrial Initiative (R598)   
• PDC for Production Efficiency Custom Track Program briefing paper   


 
Tab 3 Policy Committee 


• Notes from September 13 meeting 
• Amending cost effectiveness policy (R596) 


 
Tab 4 Evaluation Committee 


• Notes from August 26 meeting 
 
Tab 5 Finance Committee 


• July financials and contract summary report 
• August financials and contract summary report 
• Financial glossary 


 
Tab 6 Staff Report 


• Customer service dashboard – call and website volume – August 2011 
 
Tab 7 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes from August 10 meeting 
• CAC notes from September 14 meeting 
• RAC notes from September 14 meeting 


 
 








 
 
 
 
 


1 
 


CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on August 10, 2011  
 
Attending from the Council: 
Jim Abrahamson, Cascade Natural Gas 
Verlea Briggs, Portland General Electric 
Bill Welch, Eugene Water and Electric 
Board 
Don MacOdrum, Home Performance Guild 
Juliet Johnson, Oregon Public Utility 
Commission 
Bruce Dobbs, BOMA 
Stan Price, NEEC 
Kari Greer, Pacific Power 
Scott Inman, Oregon Remodelers 
Association 
Steve Brooks (for Brent Barclay), Bonneville 
Power Administration 
 
Attending from Energy Trust: 
Margie Harris 
Steve Lacey 
Tom Beverly 
Peter West 
Oliver Kesting 
Spencer Moersfelder 


Marshall Johnson 
Kim Crossman 
John Volkman 
Phil Degens 
Nick O’Neill 
Elaine Prause 
Jessica Rose 
Pete Catching 
Lakin Garth 
Susan Jowaiszas 
Ray Hawksley 
 
Others attending: 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Emily Moore, PECI 
Jess Kincaid, CAPO 
Scott Inman, ORA 
Theresa Gibney, Energize Corvallis 
Dan Enloe, Energy Trust board 
David Jackson, Lockheed Martin 
Andrew Regan, Rogers Machinery 
Kendall Youngblood, PECI 
Elizabeth McNannay, Resource Consultants


 
1. Welcome and introductions 
 
Peter called the meeting to order at 1:35 p.m., and asked everyone to introduce themselves. He 
indicated that presentation materials would be posted to the website, along with notes from the 
meeting. Peter said Phil and team came up with a revised measure life for industrial. We’ll then 
cover an exciting lighting promotion, then changes in the Business Energy Tax Credit. 
 
The agenda, notes and presentation materials are posted here.  
 
2. Measure life in industrial settings 
Phil presented. A plant closure study was done from last year through this April. Our current 
measure life is 10 years with a few exceptions:  


• 15 years for irrigation and wastewater 
• Three years for energy management and operations and maintenance 
• Greenhouses and nurseries 
• Lighting measures 


 
Our measure life rules are thought to be too conservative and there has been pushback about 
them. This was a short study, specifically looking at plant closures. 
 
The scope was 2003-2009. Plant closures and information about specific measures that were 
removed came through evaluations or our program management contractor. Certain classes 
weren’t included: megaprojects and utility projects. With utilities, we guessed that if one utility 



http://energytrust.org/About/public-meetings/CACMeetings.aspx





CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


went bankrupt, someone else would have to take over. Motors were a small portion of projects, 
and are hard to track, so they aren’t included. 
 
We aggregated lighting measures to the specific year and site. Information came from the 
FastTrack database, info USA or the Oregon Employment Department. The Employment 
Department lists plant closures but not re-openings. There is a database of wood plant closures, 
and also information from the Department of Environmental Quality, internet searches and 
interviews of program delivery contractors, PDCs. 
 
The state and federal databases are not always a census, as addresses aren’t always 
normalized, there are changes in names and addresses, purchases and bankruptcies; making 
them snapshot in time. 
 
We had a database extraction of 7,500 records and focused on a working dataset of 1,500 
measures or projects done during this period. After looking at all the databases, we had an 
outcome of potentially 92 plant closures. We reviewed them by phone calls to the plants and a 
few other routes to find out if they were closed. That resulted in 24 measures no longer in place 
because of removal or plant closures. Out of more than 1,400 measures, 24 were no longer 
used, resulting in 11 sites, 1.4 percent of program savings, or 1.7 percent of measures. The 
percentage no longer in service varied from year to year. 
 
Our conclusion is that most measures are still in place – 98.3 percent. The evaluation contractor 
felt that a 10 year measure life was too conservative, and recommended that we extend them 
and do five-year updates, having PDCs gather plant closure and removal data, not for every 
measure, but maybe for large measures. 
 
Our take is that the lighting measures should continue with existing lifetimes, but increase 
measure life to 15 years for others. We also looked at other organizations that used 11, 15 or 20 
years for different measures. We felt 15 years was appropriate. We can repeat the study in a 
few years and update it. Our data does not support the precise calculation of survival rates and 
we felt the cost of hiring someone to do precise calculations wasn’t worth it. Alternate ways to 
gather data might be to measure whether utility accounts are still active and if they are still 
operating through a simple phone survey. 
 
Bill Welch: In going forward with this do you back-cast previous savings? 
 
Phil: Yes, we’ll go back to earlier measures, and back-cast, but we’ll review it in five years to 
make sure. 
 
Bruce Dobbs: Is this important because something that has less than a 10-year payback 
wouldn’t be eligible, or does it dictate the horizon for claiming savings? 
 
Phil: There are some measures that wouldn’t previously have passed, but industrial customers 
are usually looking for short payback. We may have said plant closures led to a 10-year 
measure life, but found that’s not true. We wanted to use realistic numbers. 
 
Bill: This is pretty far-reaching. If it goes beyond Energy Trust, it attacks the common 
assumption of 10 years for measure lives. Few have evaluated it. BPA assumes 10 years; I’m 
not sure about the Regional Technical Forum, RTF. This is a good dialog to open because it 
makes a difference on cost effectiveness and levelized costs, and makes things cheaper if they 
last longer. 
 


2 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


Phil: If we ever report cumulative savings, this impacts it. 
 
Bill: Have you gotten pushback? 
 
Phil: One evaluation committee member suggested 12 years as a possibility, and yes we could 
look at that, but it makes no more sense than 15 years. Most of the measures that are currently 
considered have much better than 10 year paybacks for Production Efficiency. On the margin, it 
will affect some measures, but not that great of an effect. If it turns out to be completely 
unrealistic, 10 years was based on plant closure worries, but that doesn’t seem to be the case – 
that’s the exception. They are sometimes closed for a short time, sold for cents on the dollar, 
and someone else can use them. 
 
Peter: Overall, Phil is right. We may be able to offer a little more, but we have a 3.5 cent/kWh 
levelized cost and 60 cents for therms which we are bumping up against. This will help us get 
back to that standard and meet it. 
 
Stan Price: Since there seems to be regional desire for consistency, do you plan to take this 
proactively to the RTF or others to encourage that? 
 
Phil: We will be presenting it to the NW Research Group; where evaluators from many utilities 
participate. We presented it to Eugene Water and Electric Board, Puget Sound Energy and 
Bonneville Power Administration.  
 
Kim Crossman: The RTF gets involved only in prescriptive, not custom, measures. Phil’s list 
wasn’t comprehensive; it was custom measures based on a sense that plants don’t stick 
around. The outcome was identical for a measure in a data center considered to be permanent, 
and given a 20-year measure life and for the exact same project in a plant that would get a 10-
year life. The RTF hasn’t ever gotten involved in custom measures. These are custom analyses 
every time. 
 
Bill: What’s the impact on the budget and savings plan if levelized costs are lower? 
 
Phil: Cumulative savings may happen, and the plan should incorporate them if they are truly 
happening over time. 
 
Kari Greer: If we move to the new model, have you run through calculations of what it means for 
increased savings and decreased costs? 
 
Phil: I haven’t run through it yet, but the study was done at the request of the Evaluation 
Committee to decide if plant closures were real. 
 
Peter: We wouldn’t have made changes yet, without feedback. 
 
Kim: It’s really just on the planning side of the house, and doesn’t impact first year measure 
savings and costs. 
 
Peter: To the extent that we have been bumping against our OPUC benchmarks for levelized 
costs, it brings us back down to where we should be. 
 
Andrew Regan: Our equipment tends to have a long life: for motors and air compressors it’s 20-
30 years, and doesn’t lose efficiency over the lifetime. We want savings to be claimed over the 
measure life. It’s great you’re increasing it, and if you have other arbitrary measure lives, look at 


3 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


them. Warranties alone on new compressors are more than 10 years. This is a good move, and 
I appreciate the thought that went into it. 
 
Phil: Thank you. Again, we’ll look at it in five years to see if this is optimal. 
 
3. Lighting market transformation savings 
 
Peter: Next, Phil is going to look at lighting market transformation in the commercial sector. 
 
Phil presented. As you know, we claim market transformation savings where the Northwest 
Energy Efficiency Alliance, NEEA, isn’t operating—gas areas and some electric areas where 
we’ve had impacts and spillover should be claimed. One area is high-performance T8s. We had 
Navigant do the study; they also monitor and track for NEEA.  
 
We’re looking at high-performance T8s with higher lumens per watt and 32 watts. The 
standards are the 700 and 800 series. There are major changes to federal standards, which is 
why we wanted to look at this. Currently, as of July 2012, the linear lamp standard will be 89 
lumens per watt. That means no more standard T8s and T12s. High-performance T12s and T8s 
only. There is no impact on ballast efficiency. 2014 standards may change things further but 
that’s not in the Navigant study. 
 
For framework, the savings are counted over baseline market trends, and not double counted 
with NEEA. If Energy Trust is part of a collective effort that has a critical influence on standards, 
we can claim the impact in our territory. We are 1 percent of the nation, so had 1 percent 
influence. If our actions or peers’ actions were critical to outcomes, we can claim savings. 
 
We use the results for forecasted savings to utility IRPs to defer generation. Any savings 
already built into base forecasts are excluded, and savings are trued up over time. As the future 
becomes the present, we review to be sure we got it right. We also commission periodic 
reviews. 
 
The study looked at current savings from replacing current T12 fixtures and lamps, only in low 
bay applications, like in our office. Market transformation impacts were due to early adoption of 
higher standards rather than savings from program efforts. We only claimed savings for short 
times and assumed we influenced the standards. 
 
For the influence piece, we asked a number of experts about our influence in efficiency 
standards and timing of adoption. Eight of nine experts decided that we had an influence. Most 
felt that the standard would have changed by 2017 without our efforts, but that we moved it five 
years earlier to 2012. 
 
We participated in development of CEE specs, and were the first in the region to promote, 
support and train on the new standards, and stopped incentives for less efficient ballasts once 
the prices and availability were there. 
 
For regional influence, Navigant talked to five lighting distributors who all felt we had influenced 
the market through incentives. Five of six felt our education and training helped. 
 
Lighting trade allies who were interviewed felt we were instrumental in moving the new 
standards earlier. 
 


4 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


The green portion of the chart [included in posted materials] shows savings we’re claiming. As 
of July 2012, we can claim T12 retrofit market savings, but that stops at 2017, when it would 
have happened anyway because of new codes. 
 
We have database and FastTrack data, distributor interviews and commercial building stock 
studies in 2002 and 2007. These are fairly expensive studies that NEEA does on a regular 
basis, that look at the installed stock of lighting. We did an assessment in 2009 in which we 
interviewed trade allies and distributors. The U.S. Department of Energy, DOE, also looked at 
the baseline for high-performance T8s around the country. 
 
This is the high-performance T8 share of T12 retrofits. In 2008, lighting contractors said it was 
70 percent. 
 
As baseline for high-performance T8s, DOE calculated that in 2008, about 12 percent of retrofits 
were with high-performance T8s. We lined it out through 2017, when standards would have 
gone into effect without our influence. That’s how we got the baseline. 
 
The navy blue line shows the total market for T12 retrofits. The purple area is our activity and 
the gold area is T12s done with standard T8s. The green area is what we claim from 
acceleration of the standards change; so there is nothing past November 2017. 
 
T12s are assumed to be replaced on burnout. With T8 retrofits, you can’t get the old T12 lamps, 
so you need to upgrade your fixture with new standards. 
 
Impacts happen six months after standards go into effect, as existing stock is used. T12 lamps 
or better, or code compliant 89-lumens-per-watt is the minimum. We’ll influence stock between 
2013 and 2017. This results in considerable savings; about 3.5 to 3.7 aMW per year, cumulative 
to 18 aMW over the period. 
 
Peter: Does this split among utilities in the regular way we do it? 
 
Phil: Yes; according to commercial buildings in their territories. 
 
Stan Price: In each of respective years is that the reported savings? 
 
Stan: Is there detail differentiating what NEEA counts vs. Energy Trust? 
 
Phil: They currently don’t count high-performance T8s, and it started at Energy Trust as 
something we provided incentives for. It was a resource acquisition program with a goal of a 
change in standards. NEEA’s commercial focus was on whole buildings in coordination with 
ENERGY STAR®, which looked at the whole building and not at specific measures. 
 
Stan: Within that whole building approach there’s no lighting? 
 
Phil: I don’t think they’ve calculated the lighting portion. I don’t know how they calculate whole 
building savings, but in their market transformation approach, I don’t believe they calculate the 
total impact of a change in high-performance T8 lighting. It warrants further research or 
discussion with NEEA. I don’t believe there is double counting, looking at 2013 on. 
 
Bill Welch: Tell me how you separate NEEA’s and your influence. 
 


5 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


Phil: A lot of the efforts were in BetterBricks, new construction and also building management; 
changing the way buildings are managed; and not on the specs of standard T8 or T12 to high 
performance. 
 
Bill: It’s not in their codes and standards group? 
 
Phil: No. A lot of the utilities were providing incentives, so this is kind of a hybrid program; 
predominantly resource acquisition with the end goal of market transformation. NEEA typically 
shies away from resource acquisition because of large incentive investment. Clothes washers 
were an exception for them. 
 
Bill: How does Energy Trust report market transformation savings? 
 
Phil: NEEA reports to us their calculations, and they also go back and forth with other utility 
partners. Their philosophy is that if the utility touched it, the savings go to resource acquisition. 
They look at the excess of what happens in the market, and they say, “This is what the utilities 
and NEEA can claim.” They provide savings back to the utilities. If it’s a market thing, they look 
at the share of the market. 
 
Bill: Does this show up in Energy Trust reporting or NEEA reporting? 
 
Phil: It’s allocated to the members, and up to utilities to provide the numbers to their boards or 
the OPUC. 
 
Peter: It’s part of the budget material you typically see. It also shows gas market transformation 
savings; like converting furnaces. We estimate and use it to reach goal. 
 
Bill: Who are your partners? 
 
Phil: California utilities, some national groups who work with EPA and DOE, and others who 
help influence decisions on the specs—CEE, manufacturers and ACEEE all weigh in on code 
making efforts. We try to influence it through our work in those types of bodies, presenting data 
and market share, so when DOE or EPA are making those decisions, they can point to actual 
data to support their decisions. 
 
Peter: There are various partners. CEE gets together and muscles the manufacturers. We 
recently got together with 18 other utilities to get them to move to 0.67 efficiency water heaters. 
We target our markets with supply, and so far that’s successful. 
 
Phil: We have similar specs to California, so when we talk to manufacturers, we can tout similar 
nationwide specs, which helps them make their decisions to make those products and services 
available. 
 
Peter: These are exciting results, and a lot of work has gone into them. It’s a proud moment for 
us to show the change in the market. Being able to claim the savings comes at a good time with 
all the Business Energy Tax Credit changes. We intend to claim these savings, barring 
objection, to meet utility IRP goal. 
 
Phil: It should be noted that we plan to continue doing these types of market research and 
transformation studies. We plan to look at high bay T8s. We don’t have the data readily 
available unfortunately. The savings we’re claiming are the minimum, so we’re going to monitor. 


6 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


The average may be much more efficient if market quirks happen. It’s not good enough to claim 
future savings and walk away; we need to look at what really is happening. 
 
4. Impact of changes to Oregon energy tax credits 
 
Margie Harris and Peter West jointly presented information on Business Energy Tax Credit 
changes. 
 
Margie Harris: The news we have to share is pretty good, all things considered. We’re going to 
talk about the changes, how they affect our budget and goals, how our mitigation plans impact 
things and how much the mitigation strategies cost. We’re pleased to say that overall, the effect 
of the Business Energy Tax Credit changes is only greatest on our commercial and industrial 
goals, and 80 percent of the savings goal can still be met this year. I’m focusing on 2011 only. 
Future discussions for 2012 are likely to show greater impacts. 
 
We have a proposal and a couple of different ranges to close the gap created by the changes. 
The range of savings recapture is 30 to 60 percent, and we can use current funds to recapture 
up to 60 percent of lost savings. 
 
We have some plans for how to support the recommended actions. We are just starting on 
2012, and we are engaging many players, because there are many rules that will be written on 
changing the Business Energy Tax Credit. 
 
HB 3672 changed the tax credits for the Business Energy Tax Credit, Residential Energy Tax 
Credit and renewable energy tax credits. Everything we know is changing, either through rules 
this year or through rulemaking next year. What we do know, we’re explaining here and in other 
forums. The Residential Energy Tax Credit is left as-is through the end of the year. No changes 
are proposed for this year. There may be a run on appliance programs because of next year’s 
changes. That bump probably won’t be a major impact for us. 
 
The Business Energy Tax Credit as we know it will change. We have a pipeline of pre-certified 
projects which were only eligible as of April 15, 2011. The changes affect approximately 600 
projects after that date, and that’s what we’re trying to address in mitigation. There are two 
major tracks in both commercial and production efficiency. One is lighting and the other is 
custom capital projects. That’s a preview of the mitigation discussion. 
 
We’ll see new conservation tax credits; the Oregon Department of Energy is undertaking 
rulemaking and they want to finish by early October. That schedule is ambitious. There are new 
standards and substantially less money. We will not have the luxury of our 30-year history of tax 
credits going forward. We enjoyed them for 30 years, but now we’ll have new rules and $14 
million per year. Rulemaking will decide and all of you should participate. The renewable energy 
tax credit starts this fall with new standards and caps, plus significantly less funding at $3 million 
per biennium. 
 
Stay tuned to the Oregon Department of Energy and its rulemaking. 
 
On electric goals, we are equally distributed between commercial, residential and industrial. The 
next slide for gas is similar, but with a different distribution. Business Energy Tax Credit impacts 
are different on the gas side because there is more residential stock, and those programs 
deliver a higher percentage of savings on gas. There is less impact on gas programs because 
of that. 
 


7 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


In 2011 these items are not impacted: 
 


• Residential 
• Market transformation 
• Operations and maintenance 
• Strategic energy management 
• Building operation certification 
• Manufacturers’ rebates 
• Insulation and windows (unless done in combination) 
• New buildings less than 10 percent above code 


 
The biggest impacts are in Existing Buildings and Industrial for lighting and custom capital 
projects. That’s the focus of our analysis and mitigation plans. 
 
For the analytical approach, Peter launched things with program staff to evaluate the pipeline 
already booked (amount of savings from first half of this year), and we’re helped greatly by this 
six months of activity. We then looked at the pipeline and how many projects are likely to finish. 
We used feedback from program management contractors and program delivery contractors 
and estimated who would finish without a Business Energy Tax Credit. That was the foundation 
of our assumptions. We’re now dealing in unknowns: we haven’t been in this situation before. 
We haven’t spoken to a lot of trade allies and customers yet, but that will further inform and 
refine the analysis. 
 
We have some increases in revenue – $1.4 million from the colder than normal winter, spring 
and early summer. We also have some revenue from increases in rates from the utilities. That’s 
a little cushion for us, along with where are we under-spending. We developed some strategies 
predicated on closing some of the gap from the Business Energy Tax Credit but not the entire 
gap. We don’t think we need to pay the full difference to get the savings in the door, and it would 
not be a good precedent to set going into 2012. 
 
Peter: We’re seeing not more than a 20 percent impact on any utility on the outside. The slide 
with our analysis shows a high impact and a low impact, with savings by utility and share of the 
goals that are impacted. For PGE, anything from 13 to 19 percent of what we had expected in 
2011 would be lost. 81 percent to 87 percent of our goal can be met. Pacific Power is more like 
83-89 percent. Our minimum is meeting 85 percent of goal, which could put us below our 
standard, if we do nothing to mitigate. These are the reasonable ranges – medium high and 
medium low. NW Natural has a larger mix of residential savings, and is not as affected; we may 
be on track for as much as 94% of goal. In Cascade it’s a tale of very few but larger projects. 
Impact in Cascade Natural Gas territory is equivalent to what we see on the electric side. 
 
What’s the financial impact? Following the tables in the presentation, as an example you would 
end up not spending anywhere from $9.4 to $5.7 million in PGE territory. This is where our 
mitigation money is coming from, if you choose to do anything to ease the impact. As the table 
shows, Cascade Natural Gas is not a lot of money, but a large share. 
 
The potential losses are the biggest in Production Efficiency and Existing Buildings: as much as 
one-half of Existing Buildings and one-quarter of Production Efficiency are at risk. Lighting and 
custom capital are most at risk. In looking at what we can do to get back lost savings, the focus 
was on these areas. We were guided by sticking to what one can afford; we are not going to 
break the bank in 2011. The mitigation has to fit within the total incentives we budgeted for 
2011. We won’t ask for a new tariff filing in 2011 for more money. Timing for that is really two to 
three months anyway, which is too late. 


8 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


 
We haven’t analyzed 2012 and will do so in the budgeting process in the fall.  
 
Temporary bonuses worked well when the economy hit a downturn and this influenced our 
thinking for mitigation measures we could rapidly deploy in 2011.  
 
We propose a focus on lighting, with a 20 percent incentive increase for prescriptive and a 50 
percent incentive increase for custom projects. For custom capital projects, we propose a 20 
percent incentive increase. More than a 20 percent bump would put us past what we could 
afford to pay to move the market. These are large ticket items, so there is a significant budget 
impact.  
 
With the proposed bonuses in 2011, we believe our range of success will be a savings 
recapture between 30 and 60 percent. We applied this range to both the high and low impact 
cases to define the range of revised savings for 2011 shown in the tables. For instance, for PGE 
we can recapture 1.7 aMW to 3.4 aMW over the range of likely outcomes. 
 
Can we get back to our minimum 85 percent goal? For PGE, we barely get by. For Pacific 
Power it’s better. On the gas side it’s also better: 88 percent for Cascade and 93 percent for NW 
Natural. 
 
Scott Inman: Where were you before the Business Energy Tax Credit situation for this time of 
year? Were you on track? 
 
Peter: We were on target before Business Energy Tax Credit changes. Things were working. 
The pipeline was good, and we had reason to believe we’d be close to 100 percent of goals. 
 
Peter: If we do the mitigation, what does it cost? Our remaining funds at the end of the year will 
be related to our success in mitigating things and pushing projects through. 
 
In the low impact cases with high success rates, we could go over budget if there is a lot of 
uptake on more expensive projects. If we go over, where do we make up the budget? 
 
It’s a cooler year, so revenue is up. Cooler weather has given us a little extra. We can cover the 
high success, low impact case, and we can dip into our 5 percent reserves if we are very 
successful. We can delay some evaluations and campaigns until 2012 to delay some costs. A 
line of credit is possible in an extreme case. What if we were 100 percent successful and 
recaptured all lost savings? We would then have to dip into a line of credit for one utility. The 
probability of going into that is very, very low. The point is that we can live within budget, in the 
most likely cases. When we set the new incentives, we are making up for one-half to one-fifth of 
the lost Business Energy Tax Credit credits, on average. 
 
Margie: These commitments are shared by everyone. We need to communicate effectively and 
factually with customers, and be aligned in messaging to reduce confusion. We will do that with 
the Oregon Department of Energy and the utilities, along with people who directly interface with 
customers. There will be more trade ally newsletter information. Facts will help mitigate the 
confusion but not eliminate it. Some people will go ahead, some will wait and everything in 
between. We need to collectively manage it. We need your feedback from customer 
interactions. Give us anecdotal information. We need to know how well these things are doing 
and how we can better communicate with customers. We will also be doing more to monitor the 
pipeline. We’ll need more contractor feedback and more program monitoring. There is an option 


9 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


to really target projects with marketing dollars to make sure they go through. Everybody needs 
to be flexible and may need to change again if it’s not working well. 
 
We’ve been communicating about changes already. Insider and Synergy just went out. There’s 
an FAQ through the Oregon Department of Energy’s website. When the governor signs the bill, 
the Oregon Department of Energy will send out letters to the 600 customers who are impacted. 
They will set up a call center for those callers, and they will be a source of feedback. We’ll 
continue to work with our website, customers, communications team, contractors and utility call 
centers to get help. Hopefully we can get into their websites and messaging. 
 
Looking ahead to 2012, we have scheduled preliminary meetings to occur after a utility 
roundtable and board meeting a week from today. They will inform and provide guidance for 
2012. John Savage will be at the board meeting, he’s one of two commissioners. He 
understands the trade-off between missing IRP goals and raising rates to get there. We will 
have to decide what we should do. 
 
The roundtable begins at 10:30 a.m. and ends at noon. The board meeting follows. We’re 
looking for guidance from the utilities, OPUC and board.  
 
Over the last couple of weeks, we met with the utilities individually to go over the summary, 
explaining our analysis, assumptions and strategies. This meeting has been another discussion 
forum. The roundtable and board meeting one week from today will be another. At that point, 
we’ll know whether we go forward. One option is not to do mitigation. We’ll engage with the 
OPUC as needed. They may need to discuss it further after the roundtable and board meeting. 
We’ll go about our budget and action plan based on what we hear from these discussions. It’s 
public also, with lots of outreach and workshops. 
 
We’re into rulemaking also. We encourage people to participate, and the Oregon Department of 
Energy will lead that part. 
 
This is a draft proposal, the same as we plan to do with board. It hasn’t gone out, as we need 
your comments today, first. Do we have the right direction and balance between recovery, risk 
and goals? 
 
Bruce Dobbs: My understanding is that this is commercial and industrial. It doesn’t include 
residential? 
 
Margie: This year it doesn’t. 
 
Scott Inman: Isn’t there a moratorium at the Oregon Department of Energy on new applications 
for weatherization and multifamily things? 
 
Margie: There will be new rules for the Business Energy Tax Credit targeted for October 1, but 
they may not be ready. 
 
Scott: So, this is basically the middle of April, until the end of the year that these things are on 
hold? 
 
Margie: That’s based on who will drop out or proceed if the Business Energy Tax Credit is or 
isn’t there. 
 
Scott: I saw windows mentioned earlier, so it looks like they will be impacted? 


10 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


 
Peter: For multifamily only. There is a Business Energy Tax Credit if you do insulation and 
windows together. 
 
Jeremy Anderson: Because of multifamily, a good number of residential programs can still be 
impacted. 
 
Margie: In our terminology, residential is four units or less. 
 
Scott: You are focused on lighting and other projects. For me, it’s windows, and a couple of 
large projects are on hold because of the changes. 
 
Marshall: The numbers are rather small for small residential of four units or less. 
 
Peter: In our programs we didn’t see many projects that qualified for Business Energy Tax 
Credits in the categories you specify. We will have to think about it for 2012. 
 
Scott: Are there possible increases elsewhere, where the Business Energy Tax Credit wasn’t 
available, that would still give cost-effective savings? 
 
Peter: We thought of those, but considered the 600 customers left out of the Business Energy 
Tax Credit and the pipeline of other like projects and how to serve them first. We focused on 
what we can do for the most affected. Lighting is very cost effective to provide a partial make-
up. We walled off non-impacted programs, ensuring they proceed as planned with the budgets 
and strategies as planned. The issues in other programs need to be solved within those 
programs.  
 
Margie: We were also paying attention to our OPUC measures, like levelized costs.  
 
Bruce: On the mechanical side, the Business Energy Tax Credit has become almost a non-
player because the tax credits are so low. It may not be worth applying. On the lighting side, it’s 
a big impact. Replacing boilers is on an incremental cost basis and it doesn’t have a huge 
impact. I think putting it into lighting 50 vs. 20 percent makes a lot of sense. 
 
Stan Price: I’m very supportive of the idea of having a mitigation strategy; a sort of shock 
absorber. A relatively abrupt transfer away from having the Business Energy Tax Credit is 
difficult to handle, and having this strategy will get some projects across the finish line, so this is 
appreciated. Hopefully, the board won’t talk too much about not having a mitigation strategy. 
 
Bruce: There will be a lot gnashing of teeth and consultants being thrown under the bus when 
the Oregon Department of Energy letter goes out. That mitigation plan will make a big 
difference. 
 
Peter: The Oregon Department of Energy will definitely communicate that our incentives are still 
available. We have a big part of our market that doesn’t distinguish between Business Energy 
Tax Credits and Energy Trust incentives. It will be helpful to have them communicate it. 
 
Scott: it used to be that any owner could work with Energy Trust on Business Energy Tax Credit 
information and paperwork, and it could be very helpful to have that back. The Oregon 
Department of Energy is hard to work with lately, and that was valuable to have Energy Trust’s 
help. 
 


11 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


Peter: When we see the new rules, we’ll know more, and we’ll have to step forward to help 
people navigate the new rules. 
 
Margie: We’re still doing that and helping package things. We are looking at our IT systems to 
see where we can help as we upgrade older systems. There may be ways we can offer some 
help to the state. We’ll see, but that’s another step. 
 
Andrew Regan: I guess I speak on behalf of the industrial market. I can tell you that orders are 
down. 20 projects have been suspended, and are waiting to see if they want to submit their 
applications. We have a healthy group of customers who can benefit from the extra savings. 
The levels you show seem appropriate. Are you looking at moving an additional 20 percent on 
custom projects? 
 
Peter: Yes.  The design concept is that you would calculate today’s incentive and multiply by 
1.2. We attempted to make it as simple to calculate and sell as possible.  
 
Andrew: We’ve lived through this a couple of times now. The problem we ran into in the past 
happens in the beginning of rollout and in December. The end of the federal fiscal year causes 
a hard date for projects to be turned in. You need to provide as much flexibility in accounting as 
possible, to help with that. A lot of customers will understand that signed documents need to be 
done by the end of December. Getting the PDCs to roll things in is tough, and December 15, 
just won’t cut it. 
 
Peter: We have a tough moment here. We need to design 2012 in the fall of this year. If you’re 
not careful, you cause problems for next year. You have to look at those cutoffs and the next 
starts. But Kim can elaborate.. 
 
Kim Crossman: Customers have to have all their invoices together and sign their completion by 
that date. This is exclusive of our processing time.  If we need to take few weeks to process, 
that’s on us and not the project. 
 
Andrew: That would work. 
 
Andrew: if you could launch next week that would be great. 
 
Peter: If we launch, it will be as soon after our meeting as reasonable. Our notion is September 
1. There is another week of board discussion and approval beyond today’s meeting and we then 
need to notify the market. 
 
Jim Abrahamson: I like the categorizing and phrasing as a shock absorber. It looks like a good 
approach. On the budgets, as you’ve said during the presentation, Energy Trust programs are 
pretty much on target and track for this year. No one is coming in short of budget this year. As of 
the end of 2011, things will be okay. The change in the Business Energy Tax Credit will cut the 
legs out of parts of two programs. That leaves incentive dollars on the table that otherwise 
would have been used. My understanding is that will be the primary backfill. Sort of what I’m 
hearing today, and last week, is that we don’t know where it will end up. My caution is: I need to 
know sooner rather than later if some of the impact from these programs will spill over and 
impact other areas of Energy Trust; things like moving evaluations into next year. If it looks like 
residential will reach budget and therm savings, I need to know sooner rather than later about 
discussions of using that money to backfill a larger than expected response in commercial and 
industrial. 
 


12 







CAC notes – 8/10/2011 


13 


Peter: We’re going to feed the success on residential programs.  
 
Jim: We’ll need to know, and we’ll be waiting to hear Commissioner Savage’s response next 
week. We need to watch and give special concern where budget might be moved around within 
programs. 
 
Margie: We are okay to move within programs, but not between programs without board/public 
approval. We don’t make any sense by moving money away from successful programs to prop 
up unsuccessful ones. We have many choices of categories of how to reallocate incentives, and 
we have additional revenue. Some has to stay within the right categories. There are savings in 
other parts of the organization that are trade-offs. There are reserves set up by utility. We have 
a $4 million line of credit on the books, but using it will exacerbate next year. We don’t want to 
use it. 
 
Juliette Johnson: On behalf of the OPUC staff, we appreciate the extensive analysis you’ve 
gone through and the overall balance of funds and mitigation. The changes in tax credits are no 
one’s fault and no one did anything wrong. We appreciate you paying close attention to the 
OPUC’s goals. We appreciate the input and analysis. We definitely like the stress on 
communication, collaboration and goal setting. 
 
Peter: There were quite a few extra hours and weekends given away for this, and thank you to 
our staff that helped out. 
 
Margie: This started on the program side and moved over to planning. It was truly a team effort, 
and some people spent a lot of time developing a clear presentation. We appreciate Jim and 
Juliette’s comments. The market is used to 30 years of these tax credits, so this is new. 
 
Peter: So, for next steps, we’ll present your positive response to the board on August 17, and 
get their input. If there are no objections, we’ll begin scrambling to roll it out, communicate it and 
get it to utilities, outreach folks, account reps and trade allies. Announcements will precede 
changes in forms, but we’ll get it out as quickly as possible with an eye for September 1 
implementation. 
 
5. Additional public comment 
 
There were no additional comments. 
 
6. Adjourn 
  
Peter thanked everyone for accommodating the changes and for their good comments. The 
next Conservation Advisory Council meeting is September 14, 2011. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 3:50 p.m. 








 
 
 
 
 


1 
 


CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on September 14, 2011  
 
Attending from the Council: 
Anne Snyder-Grassman, PGE 
Andrea Jacob, City of Portland 
Don MacOdrum, Home Performance Guild 
Juliet Johnson, OPUC 
Bruce Dobbs, BOMA 
Kari Greer, Pacific Power 
Scott Inman, ORA 
Brent Barclay, BPA 
Holly Meyer, NW Natural 
Wendy Gerlitz, NWEC 
 
Attending from Energy Trust: 
Peter West 
Diane Ferington 
Tom Beverly 
Oliver Kesting 
Spencer Moersfelder 
Sarah Castor 
Amber Cole 
Adam Bartini 
Marshall Johnson 
Pete Catching 
Lakin Garth 
Eric Wilson 
Steve Lacey 
Kathleen Ortbal 
Susan Jamison 
Fred Gordon 
Matt Braman 
Nick O’Neil 
 
 


Others attending: 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Theresa Gibney, Energize Corvallis 
Dan Enloe, Energy Trust board 
Kendall Youngblood, PECI 
Tim Davis, CSG 
Terry Miller, CSG 
Emily Moore, PECI 
John Reynolds, Energy Trust board 
Don Jones, Pacific Power 
Jason Hanley Brown, Fast Water Heater 
Company 
David Dickson, OSU/Corvallis 
Murali V, Lockheed Martin 
Carollyn Farrar, NW Natural 
Tim Abshire, NW Natural 
Marilyn Williamson, NW Natural 
Phil Damiano, PECI 
D.G. Graham, NW Natural 
Tom Hendrix, NW Natural 
Gary Heikkinen, NW Natural 
Jack Hruska, Energy Trust quality 
assurance contractor 
Alexis Allan, NEEA 
Whit Hall, Rinnai 
Kevin York, Rinnai 
Wendy Koelfgen, CEWO 
Jerry Page, Total Comfort Weatherization 
Mary Mann, Goose Hollow Window 
Joe Brewer, Columbia Contractor Services 
Ran Munson, Western Outdoor 
 
 


1. Welcome and introductions 
 
Peter called the meeting to order at 1:35 p.m., and asked everyone to introduce themselves. He 
indicated that presentation materials would be posted to the website, along with notes from the 
meeting. 
 
The agenda, notes and presentation materials are available here.  
 
2. Budget themes for 2012 
Peter covered 2012 budget themes, and indicated that it would be a broad overview of what we 
plan for 2012. 
 
Peter: We are calling it a “discovery year” and will need feedback on missing pieces, 
suggestions and any other comments. Drafts will be presented here on October 26 and to the 



http://energytrust.org/About/public-meetings/CACMeetings.aspx





CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


board in November. Then the budget becomes official. It will be finalized for board approval on 
December 14 or 17, 2011. 
 
In 2010, we grew 38 percent for electric and 67 percent for gas. Before tax credit changes we 
were on track for this year; probably at least 20 to 25 percent above 2010. We are still on track 
for residential, but in the business sector there are variable effects. The mitigation measures 
were well received, but it’s too early to tell about their success. The outcome remains uncertain, 
and the best information is what we gave you in August. The 2012 IRP is still our assumed 
target, and we will require additional revenues to get there. We’re moving up the tree and 
needing to go after more expensive savings. The challenge of doing that is uncertain. The 
economy, customer responses, higher standards, new codes and new appliance and lighting 
standards make things uncertain. The T12 to T8 standard changes and their acceptance will 
cause changes. Again, we’ll be in a discovery year. 
 
We’ve had 30 years of the Business Energy Tax Credit, and now that’s over. The new tax credit 
for conservation projects may be called “Connie”, and the new rules are being written now, they 
will at first be temporary; they can last 180 days under the state law. So, we’ll have two sets of 
rules next year for commercial and industrial credits. Residential credits may be decreased next 
year. The new residential rules do mean that tax credits for appliances will no longer be eligible. 
 
We also see more market actors, and we need to (and want to) work with them and leverage 
their efforts. 
 
We have identified six themes for energy efficiency next year. The budget plan looks at 
addressing a slow economic recovery, the transition to new tax credits, managing costs and 
cost effectiveness, supporting trade ally contractors and customers (expanding non-lighting 
trade allies in rural areas and small commercial efforts), continuing our customer service theme 
and emphasis, further diversifying our portfolio by including more tracks and channels, and 
responding to new codes and standards. 
 
The economic recovery is slow. In response, we’ll continue no- and low-cost measures. We did 
these in 2009 during the early part of the slowdown. We expanded more in 2010, and even 
more this year. They will still be dominant next year, particularly in industrial. 
 
We’ll grow Savings Within Reach, have direct installs for renters and add limited-time bonus 
incentives in lagging markets. Those have worked well before. We’ll provide more customer 
support in commercial and industrial to sell projects, and we’ll support financing options. We’ll 
also expand strategic energy management efforts. 
 
For theme two, tax credit changes, we’ll engage in rulemaking and revisions, and support 
customer understanding of new rules, how they apply and things they can do. The Oregon 
Department of Energy will have to address things that have unintended consequences, and 
we’ll support their efforts to fix those things. We’ll need to manage expectations; we have 
always promised 15 percent bandwidth between stretch and conservative goals, and it will be 
challenging to stay within that band and deliver. We’re responding to what happens with our 
own program designs and specifications and need to be more willing to change faster than we 
have had to do in the past. That’s the contractor dilemma: if you don’t respond, you have trouble 
with customers. If you respond and change too often, there’s a customer problem.  We will have 
to find the balance together. 
 


2 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


We’ll do all of this through the revenue caps we have as the case warrants. If we’re too additive, 
we’ll back off. We’ll do this without cutting residential programs; they are successful, and we 
don’t want to borrow from them to support mitigation actions in other sectors. 
 
We’ll manage costs and cost effectiveness through efficiencies. We will revise approaches for 
new homes, such as how we construct, calculate and put out EPS. We’ll attempt to lower per 
unit delivery costs for appliances. We’ll enhance employment of ATACs, the contractors who do 
the studies for commercial and industrial. About 80 percent of the business goes through a 
small segment of ATACs. We have been focusing more on those ATACs and will continue to do 
so in 2012. We used to have a 19 percent close rate on their studies; we wanted to get to 30 
this year, and want higher next year. 
 
We’ll rebid two program contracts, which is always part of our normal process. 
 
For our measure costs, and we will continue to address utility cost/benefit measures and 
societal tests. Everything should pass the utility tests, which are calculated as savings divided 
by incentives. It’s most often the societal test where we face challenges.  We face some of that 
later this afternoon and could see more in 2012. 
 
We’ll monitor project pipelines more tightly, which have a lot to do with Business Energy Tax 
Credit impacts, and whether we over or under promote. 
 
Holly Meyer: Are you required to meet the societal test? 
 
Peter: Yes, but there is a nuanced answer we’ll get to later, which deals with market 
transformation. 
 
Peter continued. We’ll have strategies to aid competitive prices and high quality. We’re 
challenged in some programs where the comparative costs are a little high. We have customers 
get several bids, which makes economic sense and good consumer sense, but we also need to 
focus on the other side of equation, which is quality. 
 
We’ll continue to have pilots. They are a very orderly way of testing, and have served us well, 
such as through NEEA or on our own. They get us out sooner with a better product. Fred’s 
Planning and Evaluation shop is leading a project to get earlier indications of market reactions. 
Fast Feedback evaluations allow us to learn things sooner, instead of waiting for formal 
evaluations. 
 
We’ll have more forms online and enhanced phone and web engagement for customers. That 
includes effective directing of customers, and revising customer information and trade ally 
referral processes. Customer communications will have a greater emphasis on key actions and 
their benefits; more of a sales-pitch showing the benefits of actions in a comparative way. There 
will be more on five-year savings from their efforts. We’ll do quicker market tests and surveys, to 
help us guide customers. 
 
Based on commercial studies, we’re revising how we say things. It won’t just be the economic 
case where we talk about payback period. We’ll try different things like internal rate of return, 
profit and graphs. 
 
We need more emphasis on benefits of the Trade Ally Network to support trade allies, and also 
more focus on how we portray the network to customers. The non-trade ally quality control pass 
rate is low; about 60 percent. We need to remain open to non-trade allies, but keep in mind that 


3 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


it’s a cost to us for QC’ing a second time. One way to address the problem is to better promote 
the network since they have agreed to higher standards, and work the network into our 
promotions to distinguish them. 
 
Instead of Energy Trust doing all the training, we are going to leverage more market-based 
training. We don’t have to deliver all of it. We’ve added a trade ally development fund as part of 
the co-op marketing fund. It can be used for market-based training. 
 
For diversifying our portfolio, we have 32 key segments across five major programs. We’ll 
continue those. As we always do, we’ll move back and forth between them as demand shifts to 
drive toward IRP success. We need to expand our channels and the offerings we provide 
customers in those segments. 
 
Strategic energy management means more comprehensive solutions and deeper savings. In 
key markets for Home Performance with ENERGY STAR® and Clean Energy Works Oregon, 
customers are motivated by non-energy benefits. We need to tap into this more, and there is 
more to mine there. That set of customers is looking beyond just energy savings. Home comfort 
may be an avenue. 
 
We will expand our offerings for LEDs, lighting design, new small commercial building 
approaches, EPS and more work with small commercial design/build customers who may have 
less interest in the green strategies or LEED® specifications.  
 
We’ll look to more capital projects for multifamily; probably with boilers. We’ll also look at more 
post-occupancy analysis: are we getting the savings expected over time, and are we driving 
changes in tenants? 
 
McMinnville and Canby helped us deliver instant savings measures through Home Energy 
Reviews in their areas, which was very successful. Funding was cut off, but Bonneville Power is 
also back in the game in 2012, we believe. We’re looking at more of these cooperative 
opportunities. 
 
We need to expand the number of non-lighting trade allies in rural areas, and will also look for 
community led initiatives to leverage. Also, we can work with Clean Energy Works Oregon as 
they expand into rural areas. 
 
We’re planning more upstream support; like stocking incentives to make sure that the right 
equipment is in the warehouse and on the truck. 
 
We’ll continue the behavioral pilot through OPOWER.  
 
We’ll work to leverage other market actors like NEEA, Clean Energy Works Oregon, contractor 
groups and more. 
 
We need to respond to new codes and standards, meaning we need to go further upstream to 
get savings above code. With the 2010 code in New Buildings, we are still dealing with people 
under 2007 code, but next year will be 2010 code, which is 15 percent higher than 2007 code. 
We’ll continue to promote reach code for small commercial projects. We’re also learning from 
New Buildings Path to Net Zero with server farms and the like, and we’re diffusing through that 
and seeing success. 
 


4 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


We are successfully accelerating the end of the T12 market. There is a new ballast standard in 
2014 and we want to be out ahead of that as well. NEEA is working on lighting design 
standards, and we are assisting with that. 
 
Please ask any immediate questions now, but for anything else, please leave feedback on my 
voicemail and email over the next two weeks. It will be very helpful before we take the next draft 
forward.  
 
There was no additional discussion. 
 
3. Trade ally referral process 
Marshall Johnson and Terry Miller presented the new process, which resumed a conversation 
from the May council meeting about enhanced customer engagement and methods to help 
motivate and assist customers in taking action. 
 
Marshall: We’ll discuss the new customer engagement methodology today, and the trade ally 
referral process is part of it. This is just for Existing Homes trade allies. 
 
The context is that the majority of projects for Existing Homes come from contractors. Using our 
resources and their own, they build customers up. 80 percent of the projects don’t have a Home 
Energy Review, HER, so the referral process is related to the 20 percent of projects connected 
to HERs. We talked about relevant changes on May 18, 2011. We’ve always referred customers 
to trade allies and in particular those close by region. We tailored referrals by relevant trades. 
We know that customers are confused about how to take action if they have a long list of trade 
allies to pick from. The intent of the referral is to improve the service provided during the HER 
and it does not address the 80 percent of projects that come in through other channels such as 
Trade ally or program marketing efforts. 
 
We’ll help these customers take action more quickly, expand technical resources for trade allies 
and build up the relationships with customers to have confidence contacting trade allies. We’re 
a third-party resource and oversee the trade allies, and those on our referral list meet our 
criteria. We plan to emphasize that trade allies are really the experts that customers should 
contact for more in-depth information about installing improvements in their home. 
 
We want customers to act more quickly, and these direct referrals will simplify things. We’ll be 
making a better connection, which should move things more quickly. We’ve done phone 
consultations since May, and determined that a given trade ally may get about one referral in 
this way every two to three weeks. This process promotes equity and targets information to 
connect customers to the right trade allies. 
 
A process flow chart is in the slides. The process starts with an online audit or phone 
consultation, leading to a report and referral based on the information collected and customer 
preference. Then there is a possible follow-up call to the customer and a project. Using the 
online forum will help us tailor things to meet the needs of the home, and we will call the 
customer if they opt in online. We walk through the report and their preferences on the phone. 
The next step is a custom home energy report. Since May, we’ve had the reports with in-home 
Home Energy Reviews as part of the Existing Homes EPS pilot. Since September 1, we are 
now offering them from phone-based consultations. This will supplement the report and provide 
a short list of trade allies related to the report. About 10 days after the referral, we will follow up 
by phone and see if they still need additional help or if they followed up with the trade allies. 
 


5 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


Trade allies are eligible for this process if they are rated by Energy Trust with 2 or 3 stars. The 
criteria follow quality control history, customer concerns and their volume of participation with 
Energy Trust. The second piece is geography based: How close are they to the customer? We’ll 
be synching the relevant needs of the customer with the other criteria. The goal is to refer them 
to the trade allies who can best address the technical needs of the house. We have about 140 
3-star trade allies and about 200 2-star trade allies. Almost 97 percent of our projects come from 
that group. 
 
Holly Meyer: If 97 percent come from these trade allies, how are we streamlining things for the 
customers? Are we only taking out 3 percent of the trade allies? 
 
Marshall: We’ll pull from this group, which accounts for nearly 97 percent of project submissions 
to the program, but not the others who are less active in submitting projects to the program. 
 
Terry: The referral process only refers to customers who do a review and excludes non-trade 
allies. 
 
Holly: I thought only trade allies could offer incentives. 
 
Marshall: No, any CCB licensed contractor can offer incentives, right now. 
 
Marshall: Contractors who are within a radius of 25 miles who fit the criteria are selected. A pool 
of contractors gets pulled from that. Within that group, they are randomly assigned to the list 
based on who can do the measures needed by the customer. Most measures are completed by 
trade allies within 25 miles of their own shops.  
 
Terry: There are a small number of trade allies in some rural areas, and we don’t have enough 
to reach the required minimum of 20 trade allies to create the pool. We’ll expand the distance in 
this case until we hit a minimum of six trade allies for the pool. 
 
Holly: If this is to streamline things, how does a list of 20 streamline anything? 
 
Terry: They have to meet the criteria to get into the initial pool of 20, and then we narrow it down 
to three trade allies from the ones meeting the criteria. 
 
Jason: What if you have multiple locations as a trade ally? You’re in Salem, Portland and 
Eugene, for example? Does that mean you don’t get the work if the customer is close to one of 
the other offices? 
 
Tim: Right now it’s based on the main office location, but we’ll be adding satellite offices soon. 
 
Terry: Based on the numbers of trade ally referrals, we’re forecasting one referral to a trade ally 
every two weeks. It won’t be a major business driver for the contractors. 
 
Jerry Page: I’ve been working in this business for 40 years, I’ve seen several attempts at this, 
and I admire you for tackling this process again. Every one of them has been designed to be 
“fair and equitable”. So what if one contractor does 10 jobs and one does one job for Energy 
Trust? Are they weighed equally for selection into the pool? 
 
Terry: Activity is one thing that leads to the star rating. If both contractors have a 3-star rating, 
they are on an even playing field. They would need the right number of projects already to get a 


6 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


3-star rating. Once we get the eligible pool of trade allies, and do a referral, the ones on the 
referral list are moved out of line based on the date of their last referral.  
 
Terry: Beyond the rating system, there isn’t a priority in the referral process to give more work to 
more active contractors. 
 
Jerry: How many jobs does it take for a 3-star rating? 
 
Marshall: 15. 
 
Carollyn Farrar: Is this selection done by humans or an automated process? The phone 
discussion will determine if a referral is needed, then it’s an automated process to select 
contractors? 
 
Marshall: We’re not doing a hot referral system at this time. The list of trade allies will come from 
the system. 
 
Carollyn: So a staff member can’t continue to refer to his favorite contractors over and over, 
right? 
 
Terry: No, it’s partially automated. 
 
Marshall: The contractor in the pool has to have installed relevant projects in the last year. 
 
Jeremy Anderson: If someone wants both floor insulation and windows, as an example, how do 
you select the contractors? 
 
Marshall: We give them three contractors who have done both measures. 
 
Scott Inman: So a window company would get no referrals? They had to have done everything 
the customer needs to get the referral? 
 
Terry: The customer’s needs and interest override what the contractor does. 
 
Scott: Since May, windows-only incentives have gone way up, and we’ve done hundreds of 
qualified jobs since the change. Is anything being done to market to those customers for 
windows only? 
 
Marshall: We are aware of that, and have tried to market to those people by offering bonuses to 
people to do windows and another measure. 
 
Scott: If they’ve done windows and you’re sending a check, but they still have duct sealing and 
insulation to do, they are a good lead. You should market to them. 
 
Marshall: We track this data, but direct marketing like that poses some problems. 
 
Susan Jamison: We do send a flyer with the check that says there are other services available.  
 
Scott: You could do even a coupon with, “Did you know, by the way, that we offer this?” 
 
Discussion ensued on how Energy Trust markets to past participants. It was clarified that 
Energy Trust does send communications material with the incentive check to inform the 


7 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


participant of other energy-saving opportunities. Energy Trust may re-contact participants and is 
careful to not over-communicate with them.  
 
Marshall: There’s a randomized pool, we’ll tag the referral date, position trade allies in the 
queue, take note of which measures are in the referral and enter the customer into the Fast 
Feedback queue for a call with a short list of questions to a percentage of customers to 
understand how well the referral worked. We’ll use that for the referral process. After 10 days 
we follow up with the customer, and offer to help if needed. At that point we can also generate a 
new list of trade allies if needed, but it’s probably unneeded. 
 
Jerry: When a reviewer is sitting down with a homeowner, when do they offer to give them three 
trade ally names? 
 
Marshall: We are strengthening our tools to support a customer interested in finding a trade ally, 
and we had input from industry groups like the Home Performance Guild, Wise and ORACCA. 
One of the top two items asked to the customer is if friends and family did work and if they can 
check with them. 
 
Jerry: When does the reviewer have the conversation about trade ally referrals, or is it part of a 
packet of information left with the customer? 
 
Terry: There is consultation with the customer covering the things that are in that packet. They 
talk about the Trade Ally Network and promote trade allies. We’re kind of taking ourselves out of 
the technical resource role, and trying to get customers over to trade allies as the technical 
resource and work resource. That’s the context of the referral. The trade allies can help with 
questions, details, costs and more. 
 
Jerry: They really don’t ask the customer? 
 
Terry: We empower the customer to guide the conversation. We’re not forcing them toward 
referrals. We want to take them there, but we won’t force them. If they have someone in mind, 
we welcome that, and will check in with the customer later to see if they took action. 
 
Wendy Gerlitz: What are you doing with that information from the follow up calls? If you hear 
about consistent problems with a trade ally, what do you do with that? 
 
Marshall: We have that in the terms and conditions in the Trade Ally Agreement, and we follow 
through based on that. It would fall under the customer concerns part of the rating system. 
 
Jason: I work with some East Coast programs and one that drives the most business is based 
on performance criteria rather than making everyone equal on leads. They look at who is 
converting the most leads into projects, and that’s who gets more leads. Equity, as you say it, 
sounds more like indifference. 
 
Marshall: That’s business logic you’re talking about, and it promotes having the highest rate of 
conversion and savings. We also have a commitment to building a competitive marketplace that 
promotes variety among businesses and services. It’s part of our core principles to build the 
market and not just stick with business logic. We are committed to a level playing field in the 
marketplace. 
 
Holly: I’m still not clear on the first criteria. If 97 percent of trade ally jobs are in two or three 
stars, you’re getting rid of only 3 percent of contractors? 


8 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


 
Peter: That’s 97 percent of projects, not 97 percent of trade allies. 
 
Holly: That makes more sense. In the ratings, you could also include how much savings a trade 
ally drives. Are you looking at that? 
 
Marshall: We looked at that, but there were several reasons we didn’t include it in the 2010 
rating system. Some of the criteria we chose are set in such a way that brings savings to the 
program. 
 
Terry: When our trade ally team isn’t doing communications, it’s monitoring who’s working well 
with customers and who’s not. 
 
Jeremy: Be very careful in your presentation of the three contractor names to customers. Don’t 
make it sound like these are the only ones. Make sure they know that out of the universe of 
contractors, these are three possible choices. 
 
Peter: That’s a good part of the script, and we should make it clear that people have options to 
choose others. 
 
Terry: That will be on a supplemental sheet with their energy report, and it will explain they can 
work with others beyond the three we provide. 
 
Brent Barclay: In the consultation step, is the question posed about how many contractor names 
they want? It’s common knowledge to get three bids, but what if I happen to want six? You 
might let the customer elect how many names they want. 
 
Marshall: We do give information on our Find a Contractor web page that allows the customer to 
plug in their own information to find their own leads. That’s an alternative. 
 
4. Proposed incentive changes 
Matt Braman and Marshall Johnson presented residential incentive changes. 
 
Matt started with Products: These are the planned appliance incentive changes for 2012. We 
currently have two tiers under appliances for fridges and clothes washers. Dishwashers are the 
highest tier and the incentive is at $25 for the first time. In 2012, we are looking at dropping the 
first tiers and dishwashers. The appliance market moves fast and we have to make changes 
quickly. Fridges have high freerider rates, and this change may help reduce them. Volumes may 
go down, but people will go to higher tiers. Dishwashers are efficient already, and anything less 
than what we offer now is the minimum for a retail rebate. They have moved slowly, and 
administrative costs are high. We propose to drop them for next year. 
 
Marshall covered Existing Homes: We currently have incentives for solar water heating and 
solar pool heating figured on kilowatt hour savings. We plan to change that on the gas side. 
Ductless heat pump incentives will go up, and windows will have a specification change. Heat 
pump water heaters are an emerging technology that we plan to encourage, and 0.67 gas water 
heater incentives will go up and 0.62 gas water heaters will be removed. 
 
Solar water heating has been based on kWh, and with a change to therms on the gas side they 
will increase to $8 per therm with the cap remaining in place. The current incentive is about 
$2.25 per square foot of collector size, and it increases to about $3 per square foot. This change 
creates parity between gas and electric water heating with solar energy. The change goes into 


9 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


effect October 1, 2011. The solar incentive changes go along with processing changes. 
PowerClerk will be available to solar water heating trade allies at that time. 
 
For ductless heat pumps, the current incentive is $600, and was established January 1, 2011. It 
used to be $400, and the technical specification was aligned with NEEA for two years. They 
were conducting the NW Ductless Heat Pump Project, and we weren’t actively promoting them 
outside NEEA’s efforts. This year we increased the incentive to emphasize ductless heat pumps 
and the savings. We are increasing the incentives even further to $800 to drive this emerging 
technology and attract more of NEEA’s installers into our territory, instead of just BPA territory 
where there are higher incentives. This is especially important as lighting continues to recede as 
a savings tool. 
 
Holly Meyer: Is this less about the customer and more about the contractor? 
 
Marshall: It’s both. From a trade ally standpoint, contractors are following the incentives and use 
them to promote the product. It’s an emerging technology, and because they have higher 
incentives somewhere else, they are less interested in coming to our territory. It’s to motivate 
the consumer, but it pulls contractors. 
 
Scott Inman: Is there a minimum standard? 
 
Marshall: It has to be inverter driven and reach a certain coefficient of performance; which would 
be available on our website and NEEA’s website. 
 
Fred Gordon: When do these things kick in? 
 
Marshall: Other than solar water heating, all the incentives I’ll review are set to start January 1, 
2012. This will be aired in a few places, including roundtables, newsletters and separate 
messaging to trade allies. 
 
Marshall: Windows will remain unchanged in dollar amounts, but we are increasing the spec for 
the high-performance windows tier. We are aligned with the national R5 Window program right 
now, but based on activity in our program and recent research on product availability we felt we 
were too aggressive in the specifications. We are moving the spec down a little to be consistent 
with a market transformation approach and to get manufacturers to build to the lower specs. 
 
Jeremy Anderson: What’s the quick way you arrived at these levels? 
 
Diane Ferington: NEEA talked to manufacturers to find out if they could make a whole suite of 
windows that meet the specs. Also, a new glazing product will allow more full suites of windows 
series that fall in line with U-Value 0.25. We would have to defer to NEEA staff for the specific 
glazing process. 
 
Jeremy: Just a note that most of that technology won’t be adopted in the Willamette Valley 
because of condensation issues. 
 
Scott Inman: The U 0.30 requirements did a lot for the industry.  
Marshall: It’s fair to say that we helped get most windows down to 0.30, but at some point we 
will move out of the 0.30 market because of freerider rates and market transformation 
indications. 
 


10 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


Marshall: For water heating, we will offer a new incentive pilot for heat pump water heaters that 
meet NEEA specs. One product currently meets it and two others are close. Lab tests confirmed 
savings estimates, and we derived a $500 incentive consistent with other utilities for tier 2 
specs. We chose not to do tier one because of performance issues. NEEA is going to hire a 
contractor like they did for the Northwest Ductless Heat Pump Project. We plan to walk just 
behind them and align with them and leverage the work they’re doing. The contactors must be 
Energy Trust trade allies and meet NEEA requirements to participate. The units must replace 
existing electric resistance water heating. We need to be able to test them and see if they bring 
in the expected savings. 
 
Holly: How do you test the performance? How can you isolate what’s used on water heating? 
 
Fred: It’s the same technique we use in utility programs. We can adjust load data for weather. 
Sometimes we can take out space heat, which leaves appliances and  water heating. We 
compare bills before and after the installation. We’re fairly close with those estimates. We’ve got 
better lab data on this than on any other water heater. We’ll learn more about how they operate, 
and we’ll look at a large sample. 
 
Holly: On a pilot scale it can be controlled. It makes sense replacing resistance heat. It’s 
concerning to us that we don’t know about water heating costs with any reliability. Maybe it will 
lead contractors or customers to fudge data. 
 
Marshall: We’re going to rely on contractors trained to NEEA standards and quality controlled by 
NEEA. We see a ton of potential to reduce electric load, but it has to be launched in a very 
measured environment, and we have to be sure the savings are what we planned before we 
can go beyond a pilot. It’s probably 18-24 months out, and there will be a lot of potential for 
discussion down the road. 
 
Holly: Training doesn’t keep people from being dishonest, and you don’t want a system set up 
where people are encouraged to be dishonest. You need to be sure there are internal controls 
to keep it accurate. 
 
Marshall: There is a way of identifying and ensuring a percentage of early installs by a 
contractor are inspected and they receive less quality control as they become more established. 
The QC helps us ensure the requirements are met. Manufacturers are very concerned about 
returns because of improperly installed products. The one meeting specs right now is not a 
major brand, but the major ones are in the works. This less known manufacturer has a keen 
interest in making sure this is done properly. We’ll have a field test that shows the data we will 
use to monitor savings, and we’re going to watch what needs to be done. 
 
Holly: Would QCs tell you what equipment was taken out of the house? 
 
Fred: If you didn’t have a big electric load before and it suddenly shows up, we’ll know 
something is wrong. 
 
Jason: What are the installed costs and incentives? What’s the cost for customers? 
 
Marshall: We take an incremental cost assumption of about $1,650 then we take off $500 for 
incentives and $700 for tax credits and it’s a quick payback. 
 
Dan Enloe: I reviewed the NEEA specs, which are very comprehensive and well written. This is 
much more sophisticated than a regular water heater specification. Good training instructions 


11 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


and guidance are very important, as with a high-efficiency furnace or air conditioner with 
condensate drains.  
 
Bruce Dobbs: These have a COP of around 2? They are roughly twice as good as a standard 
electric water heater. Are you going to monitor them to see if there is any degradation? 
 
Diane: NEEA has aligned with other programs to promote the northern tier spec, and one 
manufacturer has developed a product meeting the spec, but the goal is to get the higher 
performance into the codes and standards. They will follow protocol to do that. 
 
Bruce: Is there any consideration for the carbon footprint of site vs. source? We focus more on 
site here, but is it considered? 
 
Marshall: We’re following NEEA’s lead, doing the research and doing the evaluations. 
 
Fred: We are also following the OPUC’s lead, and NW Natural has a proposal about these 
things. We’re looking forward to what they have to say. 
 
Jason: How long is the pilot? 1 year? 2 years? 
 
Marshall: We’ll follow the pilot procedures and guidelines and evaluation plans. It’s probably a 
minimum of 18 months. 
 
Fred: It will be strongly influenced by NEEA, and it will be coordinated to minimize the cost to 
each utility. 
 
Jason: Are you intending to use current channels to promote this product, or is there a selected 
way? 
 
Marshall: We haven’t totally defined our plan, but it’s not going to focus on emergency 
replacement for the pilot. We want to build infrastructure to install them, and reach out to 
customers who are likely to install them. We will likely follow up with electric homes that have 
electric water heat, in coordination with NEEA, as they select an implementation contractor and 
develop their program. 
 
Tim Abshire: From NW Natural’s perspective, please be sensitive to reaching out to gas heating 
customers. There is significant overlap of customers who have gas space heat but electric water 
heat. 
 
Marshall: We won’t target homes that have gas heat, based on what we know of heat sources. 
 
John Frankel: Will there be restrictions on where they are installed? They would have to be 
outside normal conditioned space. 
 
Marshall: The northern tier spec includes a ducting kit that allows them to go inside conditioned 
space. The spec shows how it should occur, and NEEA has worked on it since 2009, but it has 
just landed with us. We don’t want to be out in front of NEEA because they have the most 
experience. 
 
Tim: What Energy Factor number are they showing for that northern tier? 


Marshall: There’s an Energy Factor for Northern Climate and it’s very specific for measuring 
energy factor in this climate zone. 


12 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


 
Tim: The tier 2 requirement USDOE factor is higher than that. 
 
Alexis Allan: The classification for the tiers will likely be live on the NEEA website soon. What’s 
up there now isn’t the most current. There’s a webinar today to share it out with a broader 
audience. In the next couple of weeks we’ll add comments and post it on our site and at 
www.smartwaterheater.com.  
 
Fred: There is a lot of research pointing to the fact that the standard measures used with water 
heaters are not valid for heat pump water heaters or tankless. 
 
Jason: Most of these will be installed outside because they are very expensive to install in 
conditioned space. 
 
Marshall: We don’t necessarily believe that assumption, and the ducting kit doesn’t need a 
plumber to install. It could be installed by someone else. We’ll learn more through NEEA’s roll-
out efforts. It’s important that manufacturers offer training for both basements and garages. 
 
Marshall: For other water heaters, 0.67 gas water heater customer incentives will increase to 
$150 from $100 and we’re ceasing 0.62 water heaters. We have worked with gas water heater 
manufacturers for four years to bring this product to a place where it conforms to requirements. 
We’ve had six distributors participate this year, and we’ve seen great uptake. We believe that 
manufacturers now have connections with distributors along with installers. We’re at a point 
where we have a maturing product, and in order to bolster demand, we are eliminating the 0.62 
incentive and adding money from stocking incentives to the customer incentive. We withheld 
some funds to promote midstream efforts to move the water heaters.  
 
5. Tankless water heaters 
Peter: We periodically do evaluations on our programs, and we take the results seriously. We 
just finished evaluations on several fronts, and tankless water heaters were one of the things 
that stood out. Lakin Garth will give us facts from the latest evaluation. This latest evaluation is 
on top of two other looks at these units with similar results. 
 
Lakin: We’ve offered incentives in the Existing Homes and New Homes programs since 2007, 
and required that they have an Efficiency Factor (EF) of 0.80. There have also been $340 in tax 
credits through the Residential Energy Tax Credit, and since 2006 there have been federal tax 
credits for 0.82 units. Those credits are expiring this year. Our analysis applies only to tankless 
water heaters for Existing Homes. 
 
Holly Meyer: Can you say why only Existing Homes? Is it that we don’t have analysis for New 
Homes yet? 
 
Lakin: In Existing Homes this is a stand-alone install, while it’s part of a suite of measures in 
New Homes. 
 
So far, we’ve claimed 185,000 therms and paid $860,000 in incentives for these units. 4,300 
incentives have been paid since 2007. The original savings estimate was an annual 102 therms 
saved per unit. The most recent evaluation through billing analysis of our customers actually 
shows 65 therms per year, on average. That a difference of 35 percent between the original and 
actual. These studies are generally based on full calendar years with the program, and we’ve 
done about three years now. We’ve had lots of review from independent contractors. 
 


13 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


On the graph in the presentation we show the average installer cost. As we have done more, we 
haven’t seen the installed cost go down, and actually have seen it go up quite a bit. The data is 
through August 31, 2011. 
 
Sometimes after an evaluation we see savings that don’t match original estimates. We have to 
pass two cost/benefit tests for all of our measures. Both have to show a ratio of 1 or higher. 
There’s a utility cost-effectiveness test and a societal test, which is the cost to the consumer. 
These units don’t pass the societal test. 
 
Holly: Isn’t 2.91 kind of high? Does that make sense vs. other measures? 
 
Lakin: It’s pretty typical for residential. Sometimes we have a little room to work with. 
 
Holly: Since 2.91 seems high; it’s basically 3 times what it needs to be. The societal test is low, 
but that’s just what a customer is willing to pony up, right? If the utility one is very strong, maybe 
it can offset the societal test being low. It shows how much the consumer is willing to pay, and 
they aren’t hurting anything with that choice. 
 
Fred: The societal test factors in value to the utility plus any quantifiable non-energy benefits. It 
looks at the whole picture. The consumer test would be the payback.  
 
Holly: So the equipment was getting more expensive and that was hurting the consumer? 
 
Fred: The increase in cost is going into the societal test.  You are correct that it would also 
factor into a consumer payback, but that’s not the purpose of the societal test. 
 
Peter: In this case, savings went down 36 percent, and cost went up by 32 percent. 
 
Holly: What was the baseline for comparison? 
 
Lakin: About 0.50, which is a standard water heater. This presentation is based on the average 
of what we see. 
 
Jason: Have you looked at hybrid tankless? They have 0.98 efficiency and no startup heat loss. 
It’s a very small draw. They have small tanks and less startup. Today what’s sold is condensing 
or hybrid condensing, which is much more efficient. 
 
Lakin: Even at 150 therms, the cost will have to come down substantially to pass the test. The 
average installed cost we’re seeing is $2,363+700 higher. Using a minimum, baseline efficiency 
unit of $700, the average is about $3,000 over time. 
 
John Frankel: In 2005 you did a study, and I looked at the methodology. The standard have a 
0.8 or 0.81, and showed some savings, but what explains the drop of half or more on the recent 
study? 
 
Lakin: The original study was done for PG&E, and showed much higher savings, and our 
findings on actual savings simply don’t match what they showed. 
 
Fred: Davis Energy in California, who did the 2005 study, later did end-use metering and found 
much lower savings than expected. We are watching evaluations of hybrids, and we may get 
there eventually. 
 


14 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


Jason: The cost increase you mentioned, is that weighted against installations of 98 percent 
efficient water heaters? The graph showed exactly what we should expect as equipment 
increases. Did you weight the study? 
 
Lakin: We looked at strictly all the water heaters that exceed 0.80, the average costs vs. 
installed costs and incentives paid. We also looked at the costs for the 0.80 units alone, and the 
cost was still far too high to pass the test. We are recommending, based on our three 
evaluations and four years of experience, that we should remove the incentive. We did show 65 
therms of stable savings. They are good savings, but are quite expensive to the customer and 
don’t meet the OPUC societal benefit test. The costs have gone up and remained stable at a 
higher level. Consumer payback period is probably around 35 years. The cost efficiency would 
have to decline by a factor of four. 
 
John Frankel: Can you make the methodology available to us? 
 
Sarah Castor: We have it on the web. 
 
Jason: Why are you not taking the same approach with tankless as the 0.62 and 0.67 water 
heaters? You’re paying $150 for the savings there, which are less than the savings you’re 
paying $200 for. 
 
Peter: Fred mentioned that we’re looking at a third-party evaluation of the 0.98s and we’re 
interested in them. We have a real issue here. There are two tests under state law, and utility 
and societal have to be greater than one unless we do market transformation and want to drive 
up the society benefit number. You can launch a project at less than 1 if you intend to drive that 
number higher. In that case, you are starting a new market and costs are higher for training, 
promotion and standards. As long as you are driving it higher, you’ve done the job. After four 
years, this one has gone the other way. We’ve dropped in therms saved and increased in costs 
for installation. Under the regulations we have to adhere to, it’s going in the wrong direction. 
 
Jason: Your data is fundamentally right. The 0.8s are not efficient, and you can’t throw them into 
the mix with the newer technology. 
 
Fred: We thought we had the correct savings for the tankless units, but we were wrong. We 
began researching the condensing and hybrid units, but discovered that other organizations are 
already doing the load research, so we are waiting for their findings. We’d like to have 
something for condensing tankless units, and have looked at condensing ones, but don’t have 
much hope. Hybrids may have a shot, but the research hasn’t been very forthcoming. 
 
Holly: There are many objectives around the table. I know you don’t like to put incentives out 
and pull them back, due to all the training and startup costs. If there is this other technology that 
looks promising, it seems a little incongruent to pull this one back and wait for the 0.98. The 
savings of 65 therms is solid, so why not keep momentum going so you don’t have to start 
things up again when the 0.98s come out? This start-stop thing doesn’t fit with how you 
approach incentives. 
 
Tim Abshire: How did you segment the demographic data of the buyers? Maybe they were well 
to do smaller families at first. As you broke down data and found savings were less, did you 
break them down further to how many people were in each household? 
 
Lakin: We may be able to look at that from an evaluation standpoint. Income data proxies exist. 
Occupants may be available. Number of bedrooms may help. Square footage may also help. 


15 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


 
Tim: In homes of five or larger, the savings could be higher, and the number of bedrooms could 
be an indicator, for example. This is a premier product, and is expensive, unless you have four 
or five kids. Then it might pay for itself. 
 
Fred: We worked with you to promote this for larger families, but that didn’t seem to change the 
savings.  We did not get just this type of customer.   
 
Tim: BCR is what you paid in incentives under savings. The issue was on the societal test, 
where people would pay more on their own for the product, rather than you having to pay for it. 
They are willing to pay for it, but you’re going to pull it anyway? 
 
Lakin: There are savings there, and it may be a great product, but it doesn’t pass the test that 
we have to pass according to the law and rules we have to follow. 
 
Jason: That’s the test that all these things have to pass?  
 
Peter:  with the exceptions noted, yes 
 
Kevin York: I work for the biggest distributor of this equipment, and can say that we are 
concerned about the 39-year-payback being thrown around. We would like to see the testing 
criteria. That’s the highest number we’ve ever seen in all of our North American operations. 
 
Lakin: The numbers are easy: it’s the average install cost to the consumer, minus the incentive, 
divided by retail rate for energy, times the amount of time in which we’ll see savings. 
 
Kevin: You were able to look at actual savings for everyone you installed for? 
 
John Frankel: The 65 therms in savings is from gas to gas? If they are converting from electric 
to gas tankless, some of the manufacturers could have different measures. Electric is an 
expensive way to heat water. We have a pile of anecdotal information because we’ve installed 
over 1,000 of these, and we’ve seen savings from employees and consumers who have tracked 
these things. They show anywhere from about $250 per year, which would be 215 therms per 
year. How did you gather the data and who did you talk to? 
 
Holly: Aren’t you all starting with gas as your base? 
 
John Frankel: The delta for the condensing tankless is about $400 so it’s not all that expensive. 
It has been adopted more and is more available. The growth in sales for condensing units is 
very high over the 0.8 units. You may want to look at these ones that have 20 percent better 
efficiency and a better adoption rate. 
 
Fred: We did a threshold test based on what the mix of units we’re seeing cost and save, and 
the manufacturers group couldn’t show that they were going to come up. 
 
Wendy Gerlitz: As an early adopter of tankless, I would guess that the majority of customers are 
putting in tankless gas to replace electric. Why would you use gas as the base when the norm is 
replacing things that way? 
 
Don Jones: Isn’t there a fuel switching policy?  
 


16 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


Fred: Our current logic is that we work with both gas and electric, so we don’t incent people to 
switch fuels. We don’t cover costs of switching fuel. We assume that people are going from gas 
to better gas, for example. 
 
Don: You compare standard, better and best against each other. 
 
Fred: We are currently working under the rules we have, and can’t put money out to encourage 
a switch. 
 
Don: The market seems to be making decisions to switch to gas for water heating. 
 
Holly: It’s one thing to take away tankless, but not at the same time as adding a heat pump 
water heater. If we do both of these, it sends a message that we need to carefully consider, and 
contractors will follow the incentive. What message are you sending them? Wendy and John are 
both getting to this. What’s standard gas vs. efficient gas, and standard electric vs. efficient 
electric? Because gas is already so efficient at heating water, you should be looking at which is 
the most efficient. You can pay a big incentive for a heat pump because it is so inefficient. It’s 
frustrating to have this wildly efficient fuel source and get dinged by having smaller incentives 
because it’s so efficient. 
 
Peter: What I think you asked us to do, by consequence, is promote fuel switching, and we can’t 
do this. 
 
Wendy: To be clear, I’m not advocating anything at this point. 
 
Holly: We need to look at all the options, instead of promoting across fuels and paying across 
fuels. You need to look at this concept of fuel neutrality and whether it makes sense. 
 
Peter: This comes back to the site vs. source arguments. We’ve been clear with the OPUC that 
we need more direction from them, and they need to help us understand where our application 
of  fuel neutrality. They need to look at the standards that Oregon has used for 2 to 2 ½ 
decades. We are eager to hear what the staff has to say, and what comes out of the site and 
source discussions. In the meantime, we’re cognizant of the evaluations and the unfavorable 
societal cost/benefit ratio. We’re proposing a transition: continue with what we have through the 
end of the year, budget permitting. January 1, we decrease the incentive by half, and maintain 
that through May 1. We get through the heating season and step it down. After that, we end it. 
Maybe we’ll have more information on hybrid units at that point. We’ll also step back on web 
promotions, beginning this fall. Promotions are really the first step. 
 
Peter: 0.67 is the alternative, and we can increase the incentive on the customer side. We have 
partnered with NW Natural on the launch. Through Clean Energy Works Oregon and Home 
Performance with ENERGY STAR, we would like to further promote the 0.67 and work with 
contractors and trade organizations, plus use mid-stream incentives proposed earlier. We’ll 
have greater reliance on these, and phase out tankless. 
 
Marilyn Williamson: It would appear that the decision is already made, and now it’s a matter of 
bridging the compromises. I want to counter the assumptions. Water heaters are a lot of the 
remodel market and I hate to have that pulled from the remodel environment. Those decisions 
are made between March and August. You’d be pulling the plug mid-season. Reconsider ending 
the web promotion and presence beginning this fall. We have a high-efficiency furnace and 
tankless promotion in the fall through end of year. It would run counter to what we’re promoting 


17 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


to our gas customers. If you’re going to do a bridge, anticipate a way that it doesn’t fall off the 
map until something else is seamlessly brought on. 
 
Peter: The decision has not been made in final.  But part of keeping the $200 through the end of 
the year is to address the pipeline. 
 
Carolyn: This tells customers it’s not worth considering, and it shouldn’t come off the web. 
 
Peter: Some of what we considered in the furnace discussion was that our promotion was 
endorsement. We decided that a 39-year payback was a tough thing to promote. It was tough to 
balance that against “are we telling people the right thing to do?” 
 
Carolyn: We recommend a partnership approach. 
 
Peter: We don’t expect this to be decided today, and we plan to come back to this discussion. 
 
Bruce: To summarize some of this, I’m thinking about the Prius. It’s a hybrid that still uses gas 
and is more efficient, and has also gotten more expensive. People are willing to pay for it, and 
that’s why it’s gotten more expensive. Natural gas is not as sexy as electricity, and fewer new 
products are available. Tankless doesn’t seem like a transformational product, but it does work 
that way and moves people to higher efficiency. There haven’t been a lot of cost effective 
products in the gas market lately. Tankless water heaters are one of the very few 
transformational products we have really seen. That’s why there’s such a strong response. 
 
Peter: This is because of a standard we’ve inherited.  It is no fun being the bearer of bad news.  
But we remain with a fundamental issue of finding that savings, through 3rd party evaluation are 
significantly lower and seeing prices that have not come down as the market expanded.   
 
Tom Henry: Why isn’t Energy Trust looking at fuel switching as an effective way of saving 
energy and taking it to those who govern your standards? We have a proposal before the 
OPUC about it. In the marketplace you are accepting electricity as the efficient technology, and 
it’s hard for the gas companies to overcome that. With ending this promotion and adding heat 
pump water heaters and ductless promotions, we need to see about having an opportunity to 
consider the good arguments made around networks invested in tankless and the momentum 
they have. 
 
Peter: You’ve shared some of your data for furnaces and heat pumps and we’ve reviewed it in a 
collegial role. I believe you are now sharing this with OPUC staff.  It’s at a state policy level now. 
It remains that we grew the effectiveness of our gas program by 67 percent and it’s growing 
much faster than the electrics. We are doing substantial things for gas savings.  
 
Joe Brewer: Do you forecast that tankless water heaters will continue upward when your 
incentive ends? The federal tax credit goes away and your incentives go away toward the end 
of the year. 
 
Peter: We don’t know what the market will do. 
 
Joe: I can assure you they won’t continue going up in this economy. The cheapest solutions will 
win, and we’ll be installing something designed in 1950. 
 
Whit Hall: This rebate didn’t keep up with innovation. The programs shouldn’t be evaluated on 
four year ODL numbers, but using current numbers from condensing units. Move forward with 


18 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


them instead of abandoning the program. We’ve done great things and innovated. Get the new 
numbers before the end of the year. They’ll look more favorable. 
 
Joe: Your budget for conservation for 2011 is about $80MM from the ratepayers. You’ve done 
4,300 rebates since 2007. That’s 1 percent of what you taken in for the number 2 energy 
consumer in the house. That doesn’t make sense. 
 
Peter: We can’t evaluate relative to our whole budget. We have to use the measure tests 
required. 
 
Joe: Consumers are funding you since 2003, and we’re talking about a primitive technology vs. 
the newest efficient technology, and you want to drop it? Something is wrong here. 
 
Juliette: As OPUC staff, there were important policy issues discussed today, and we have 
specific measures by which these programs are evaluated. We heard two big issues today: fuel 
switching and societal benefit tests. We are looking at those things going forward. 
 
Joe: When will they be reevaluated? 
 
Juliette: It may take a while, but it will probably be about a year. 
 
Jason: A lot of us are skeptical about data based on old inaccurate numbers. The Davis study is 
based on very old technology, and the decision should be based on newer data. 
 
Holly: What will be the method of addressing this? 
 
Peter: We’ll remind people where to find the studies. Some questions have been asked that 
need to be responded to, and we will do that for the next CAC. 
 
Fred: For the hybrid to pass the test, if it costs exactly the same, they would need to save four 
times as much energy as the ones we tested.  
 
Peter: You’ll see more comments when you see the studies, and we’ll respond and re-look at 
the proposal. 
 
Fred: Right now we’re looking at research in Minnesota and California, and we don’t control it. It 
may be several months. 
 
Theresa Gibney: I thought there was no data in your condensing studies? I thought I heard that 
you pulled the 0.8s out and higher efficiency condensing units still failed the tests. 
 
Lakin: We get the cost data, but not indicators of what the unit would save. I took out the 
baseline units and just based on costs, they would have to save four times as much to pass the 
test. 
 
Holly: I’ve never really heard the role of the Conservation Advisory Council. Do we make 
decisions, or are they already made and we just get to argue about them? Can we get that 
information? It would be worth discussing at another council meeting so we understand our role. 
 
Peter: It’s an advisory council, and we take a census of the group and use the comments to 
provide information for the board. On October 26, if there’s a counter proposal, we’ll represent 


19 







CAC notes – 9/14/2011 


20 


what we think in the budget plans, represent any counters to that, and the board will decide as 
part of their process. 


 
6. Additional public comment 
 
Peter asked for additional public comment; no additional comments were added. 
 
7. Adjourn 
  
Peter thanked everyone for their time, and said that we will revisit the tankless discussion in 
future meetings. Information will be posted online, along with links to the studies used in the 
tankless water heater proposal. The next Conservation Advisory Council meeting is October 26, 
2011, at 1:30 p.m. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:58 p.m. 








 


Customer Service Dashboard—August 2011 
 
Call Volume1 
 
Call volume increased slightly to 2,748 in August 2011. It is typical for call volume to remain low in the 
warmer months. The majority of callers continue to be homeowners wanting to order a free Energy Saver 
Kit and inquiring about energy-saving opportunities in their home.  


 
 


 
 


8/10 9/10 10/10 11/10 12/10 1/11 2/11 3/11 4/11 5/11 6/11 7/11 8/11
Calls 3,086 3,949 4,720 5,060 4,674 5,269 3,284 3,489 3,026 2,999 3,033 2,623 2,748


1,000 


1,500 


2,000 


2,500 


3,000 


3,500 


4,000 


4,500 


5,000 


5,500 


Website Visits 
 
Website volume increased to 38,865 in August 2011. On slickdeals.net, a consumer-driven deal sharing 
site, a customer posted about the Kill-A-Watts available in local libraries through Energy Trust. Due to this 
post, slickdeals.net was the third highest source of referrals to our website for August, behind search 
engines and direct access. Portland General Electric, Pacific Power, NW Natural and Clean Energy 
Works Oregon websites also referred a high number of visitors to our website in August.    


8/10 9/10 10/10 11/10 12/10 1/11 2/11 3/11 4/11 5/11 6/11 7/11 8/11
Web Hits 36,192 37,523 45,787 54,826 45,020 41,870 37,582 46,298 38,784 35,178 46,812 36,691 38,865


20,000


25,000


30,000


35,000


40,000


45,000


50,000


55,000


60,000


 
                                                            
1 This data does not include customers responding to requests for missing information on incentive applications or 
direct calls to PMC hotlines or Energy Trust staff. It only includes information on calls coming into our main hotline, 
1.866.368.7878. 








R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 9/21/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 9/1/2011
Page 1 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Administration


 6,961,679  4,465,832  2,495,847Administration Total:


Communications & Outreach


 4,007,108  1,927,092  2,080,016Communications & Outreach Total:


Energy Efficiency Programs
Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Regional Energy Eff 


Initiative


 39,356,800  9,774,711  29,582,089 1/1/10 7/1/15Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. PMC EB 2011  7,982,860  4,328,864  3,653,996 1/1/11 12/31/11Cherry Hill


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PMC NHP 2011  7,925,677  4,923,557  3,002,120 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Conservations Services Group, 


Inc.


2011 HES PMC  7,311,955  4,540,802  2,771,153 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


2011 NBE PMC  4,676,684  2,735,757  1,940,927 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Oregon State University CHP Project - OSU  2,024,263  1,920,000  104,263 12/20/10 12/20/13Corvallis


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2011  1,775,000  1,104,708  670,292 1/1/11 12/31/11


Cascade Energy, Inc. PDC - PE 2011  1,479,579  902,684  576,895 1/1/11 12/31/11Walla Walla


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. 2011 MF PMC  1,310,134  740,250  569,884 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2011  1,190,580  726,867  463,713 1/1/11 12/31/11Medford


OPOWER, Inc. OPOWER Agreement  977,000  895,000  82,000 3/2/10 9/2/11Arlington


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2011  839,500  399,480  440,020 1/1/11 12/31/11San Francisco


Cascade Energy, Inc. PDC - PE 2011 Small 


Indsutrial


 805,384  418,723  386,661 1/1/11 12/31/11Walla Walla


Evergreen Consulting Group, 


LLC


PE Lighting PDC 2011  637,852  376,673  261,179 1/1/11 12/31/11Tigard


Ecos IQ, Inc. 80 Plus Initiative - 2011  466,650  293,151  173,499 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


J. Hruska Global HES QA services  410,000  357,348  52,652 1/1/08 12/31/11Columbia City


Clean Energy Works Oregon 


Inc


Clean Energy Works  300,000  300,000  0 1/1/10 12/31/12Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation  295,000  315,191 -20,191 1/1/10 12/31/11Watertown


Northwest Power & 


Conservation Council


2011 Reg Tech Forum 


Sponsor


 287,400  287,400  0 1/1/11 12/31/11


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Technical Service 


Provider


 284,483  298,511 -14,028 8/1/09 7/31/12Portland


Edgar L. Wales Gov't acct management 


services


 245,000  167,012  77,988 5/17/10 1/31/12Canby


Conservation Services Group 


Inc


2011 HES WA PMC  175,900  69,793  106,107 1/1/11 12/31/11Westborough


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. NWN WA BE Pilot 2011  163,900  119,393  44,507 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


City of Portland Bureau of 


Planning & Sustainability


BPS Grant Agreement  150,000  0  150,000 1/1/09 12/31/13Portland


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer  137,500  60,228  77,272 8/15/03 8/15/12Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Portland Clean Energy 


Pilot


 120,000  120,000  0 6/18/09 7/31/11Portland


Opinion Dynamics Corporation Evaluate OPOWER Pilot  95,000  46,740  48,260 4/1/11 8/31/12Waltham


Heschong, Mahone Group, Inc. QA Consultant Services  88,500  64,990  23,510 3/15/11 12/31/12Fair Oaks


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. NWN DSM Initiative 


2011


 80,000  13,653  66,347 1/1/11 12/31/11Cherry Hill


QEI Energy Management, Inc. Technical Energy 


Analysis


 80,000  3,320  76,680 1/21/10 11/30/11


Stellar Processes, Inc. EE Resource 


Assessment


 75,690  74,943  748 3/1/10 1/31/11Portland


ICF Resources, LLC CHP Performance  72,000  58,110  13,890 8/5/09 6/30/12Fairfax


New Buildings Institute Customized Guide 


License


 71,667  71,667  0 8/28/09 12/31/11White Salmon


Navigant Consulting Inc Clothes Washer Mkt 


Transform


 68,750  0  68,750 7/15/11 12/31/11Boulder


Delta-T, Inc. EE Consulting Services  50,000  8,449  41,551 3/1/09 12/31/11Goldendale


1


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 9/21/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 9/1/2011
Page 2 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Energy Efficiency Funding 


Group Inc


Training 


Classes/Workshops


 50,000  7,438  42,562 6/1/11 5/31/13San Francisco


The Cadmus Group Inc. Commercial Op Pilot 


Eval


 50,000  0  50,000 7/1/11 11/30/12Watertown


The Cadmus Group Inc. Path to Net-Zero Pilot  49,000  8,871  40,129 11/1/09 12/31/11Watertown


Research Into Action, Inc. Evaluate ENH Programs  48,700  48,700  0 2/14/11 8/31/11Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI NWN Pilot 2011  45,331  30,242  15,089 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc Kaizen & CA Pilot  40,000  18,389  21,612 11/1/09 12/31/11Boulder


Portland General Electric Utility Data Payment - 


OPOWER


 40,000  19,928  20,072 8/1/10 9/2/11Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Eval SB 838 2010 & 


2011 Funds


 40,000  3,903  36,097 6/15/11 12/31/11Portland


NW Natural Info Transfer & 


Reimbursement


 35,000  21,263  13,737 7/12/10 9/2/11Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc Sustainable Energy Syst 


Pilot


 30,000  0  30,000 2/15/11 11/30/12Boulder


Navigant Consulting Inc IEI Pilot Review  30,000  12,897  17,104 11/1/09 12/31/11Boulder


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


EE Consultant Services  29,980  19,996  9,985 6/1/11 5/31/13Portland


Center of Design for an Aging 


Society


Memory Care Lighting 


Solutions


 28,950  25,735  3,215 1/18/11 9/30/11Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. NWN WA Prgm Process 


Eval


 25,000  24,326  674 10/11/10 5/15/11Portland


Stellar Processes, Inc. EPS Modeling 


Comparison


 25,000  15,960  9,040 1/15/11 12/31/11Portland


Portland General Electric PGE Efficiency 


Seminars 2011


 24,950  24,950  0 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Corvallis Environmental Center Energy Advocate 


Program


 20,000  13,541  6,459 2/1/11 12/31/11


Energy Center of Wisconsin Billing Analysis 


Evaluation


 20,000  0  20,000 1/1/10 12/31/11Madison


Michael Blasnick & Associated Billing Analysis Process  20,000  2,538  17,463 1/1/10 12/31/11Boston


Watershed Sciences Inc Airborne Thermal 


Infrared Data


 18,600  18,556  44 11/25/09 5/31/11Corvallis


Lane Community College, NEEI 


Science Division


2011 Scholarship Grant  15,400  11,200  4,200 2/24/11 12/31/11Eugene


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Gas Seed 


Funding


 15,000  15,000  0 8/31/10 7/1/11Portland


Oregon Department of Energy Oregon Leaders Project  15,000  0  15,000 9/19/11 1/31/14Salem


Consortium for Energy 


Efficiency


Membership Dues - 


2011


 14,518  14,518  0 1/1/11 12/31/11


PWP, Inc. NBE SCEP Evaluation  13,000  5,330  7,670 7/1/11 12/31/11


American Council for and 


Energy Efficient Economy


Large Consumer 


Research Proj


 8,000  8,000  0 12/29/10 12/29/11


Home Performance Contractors 


Guild of Oregon


Grant Agreement  6,000  6,000  0 4/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Watershed Sciences Inc Thermal Imaging Data 


Analysis


 6,000  0  6,000 7/1/11 12/31/11Corvallis


Cost Plus Heating & Air Video Challenge  5,000  5,000  0 5/11/11 6/30/11Portland


 82,779,137  36,900,253  45,878,883Energy Efficiency Programs Total:


Joint Programs
The Iris Group Marketing Manager 


Comm/Ind/Ag


 155,000  136,531  18,469 1/1/10 12/31/11Portland


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services  76,757  50,407  26,350 1/1/06 12/31/10Portland


Gilmore Research Fast Feedback Survey  65,000  19,000  46,000 5/1/11 6/30/12Seattle


Research Into Action, Inc. Residential Awareness 


2011


 58,000  23,636  34,364 2/14/11 9/30/11Portland


Stellar Processes, Inc. Resource Assessment - 


2011


 35,000  13,485  21,515 5/11/11 9/30/11Portland


Matthew Taylor Evaluation Supoort 


Services


 30,000  17,620  12,380 9/1/09 8/31/11Portland


2


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 9/21/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 9/1/2011
Page 3 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Research Into Action, Inc. 2011 Trade Ally Survey  25,000  21,093  3,908 1/24/11 9/30/11Portland


ICF Resources, LLC Planning Consultant 


Services


 15,000  14,160  840 6/16/11 5/31/13Fairfax


CoStar Realty Information Inc Property Data  6,398  898  5,500 6/1/11 5/31/12Baltimore


Navigant Consulting Inc P&E Consultant 


Services


 4,600  1,746  2,854 6/30/11 7/1/13Boulder


 470,755  298,576  172,179Joint Programs Total:


Renewable Energy Program
Sunway 3, LLC Prologis PV installation  3,405,000  3,396,044  8,956 9/30/08 9/30/28


enXco Asset Holdings Inc Bellevue Solar Facility  2,012,500  0  2,012,500 7/23/10 7/23/35San Diego


EBD Hydro LLC Hydroelectric Facility  2,000,000  0  2,000,000 12/10/10 12/10/30Bend


Revolution Energy Solutions 


LLC


Biogas Manure Digester 


Project


 1,766,640  0  1,766,640 10/27/10 10/27/25Washington


Rough & Ready Lumber 


Company


Biopower Funding 


Agreement


 1,685,088  1,164,771  520,317 7/21/06 7/21/26Cave Junction


enXco Asset Holdings Inc Yamhill Solar Facility  1,437,500  0  1,437,500 7/23/10 7/23/35San Diego


Alder Solar LLC Habilitation Center PV  1,236,750  1,224,244  12,506 1/18/08 12/31/28Portland


Central Oregon Irrigation 


District


Juniper Ridge 


Hydroelectric


 1,000,000  1,000,000  0 10/31/08 6/30/31Redmond


Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc. Funding Assistance 


Agreement


 827,000  275,667  551,333 6/24/09 6/24/29Corvallis


Tioga Solar VI, LLC Photovoltaic Project 


Agreement


 570,760  245,123  325,637 2/1/09 2/1/30San Mateo


Oregon Institute of Technology Geothermal Resource 


Funding


 487,000  487,000  0 3/2/10 3/2/30Klamath Falls


K2A Properties, LLC Doerfler Wind Farm 


Project


 230,000  115,000  115,000 5/20/10 5/20/30Aumsville


Oregon Dairy Farmers 


Association


Tech. Assist. & Fac. 


Services


 201,500  184,580  16,920 6/15/07 12/31/11Portland


Gary Higbee DBA WindStream 


Solar


Solar Inspector  200,000  19,471  180,529 2/1/11 7/31/12Eugene


Luxurious Plumbing and 


Heating, Inc.


Solar Program Inspector  200,000  17,550  182,450 1/1/11 7/31/12West Linn


Robert Dickson dba D&H 


Industrial


Solar Program Inspector  200,000  21,493  178,507 1/1/11 7/31/12


Ronald Burden Solar Program Inspector  120,000  49,095  70,905 8/23/10 7/31/12Portland


Steve Ault Inspections Inc Solar Inspector  120,000  26,864  93,136 8/23/10 7/31/12Sisters


City of Astoria Astoria Bear Creek 


Hydro


 118,000  0  118,000 4/4/11 4/4/31Astoria


Farmers Irrigation District Indian Creek Corridor 


Project


 100,000  100,000  0 1/5/10 1/4/29Hood River


Renewable Energy Solutions 


LLC


Upfront Hydroelectric 


Fund


 100,000  0  100,000 7/15/11 7/14/12Enterprise


Oregon State University OSU Wind Program  85,670  57,430  28,240 7/1/10 12/31/11Corvallis


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV  79,815  77,390  2,425 12/1/05 12/1/26Dayton


E. Edison Kennell Small wind technical 


assist.


 75,000  23,679  51,321 8/22/08 12/31/11Bend


City of Portland Water Bureau Vernon Hydro  65,000  0  65,000 11/15/10 11/15/30Portland


Robert Andrew Volkman Project Finanace 


Consultant


 62,500  1,200  61,300 10/1/10 12/31/11Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc RE Consultant  55,161  55,161  0 3/1/10 6/1/11Boulder


Oregon Assoc. of Clean Water 


Agencies


Waste water workshops  45,000  45,000  0 4/1/10 10/31/11


University of Oregon UO SRML Contribution  45,000  45,000  0 2/22/11 2/21/12Eugene


MC Energy LLC Small Wind Incentive  43,250  43,250  0 9/21/10 9/21/25Spokane


ECONorthwest Economic Impact 


Analysis


 42,000  42,000  0 10/13/10 6/30/11Eugene


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 9 (2012)  39,543  39,543  0 7/1/11 6/30/12


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart 


Farms


17.5 kW PV project  32,500  31,386  1,114 5/25/07 5/25/27Malin


3


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 9/21/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 9/1/2011
Page 4 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Oregon Community Wind LLC Anemometer Equipment 


Incentive


 28,321  28,321  0 1/15/10 1/14/13Portland


SPS of Oregon Inc Spaur Microhydro  25,000  0  25,000 7/23/10 7/23/30Wallowa


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy 


system


 24,125  5,261  18,864 4/11/07 1/31/24Newberg


Solar Oregon Outreach Contract  24,000  14,000  10,000 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Construct Inc RE Consultant Services  18,000  12,291  5,709 1/1/11 12/31/12Portland


Associated Master Inspectors 


LLC


Small Wind Program 


Consultant


 15,000  4,051  10,949 1/31/11 1/31/12Tigard


Gary Higbee DBA WindStream 


Solar


Small Wind Program 


Consultant


 15,000  2,664  12,336 1/1/11 12/31/11Eugene


Renewable Energy Associates, 


LLC


Renewable Energy 


Consultant


 14,700  3,802  10,898 11/1/09 10/31/11Corvallis


Mariah Wind LLC Anemometer Transfer 


Ownership


 14,206 -14,610  28,817 6/29/11 6/29/12Victor


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project  13,150  9,255  3,895 10/1/05 10/1/20Salem


Bloomberg LP Insight Services - 2011  12,000  6,000  6,000 4/1/11 3/31/12San Francisco


Robert Dickson dba D&H 


Industrial


Small Wind Consultant  12,000  0  12,000 1/1/11 12/31/11


Water & Energy Resource 


Services


Research OR County 


Land Use


 10,000  8,938  1,063 3/17/11 9/30/11Clackamas


Western Community Energy 


LLC


Anemometer Agreement  7,291  7,291  0 9/29/10 7/31/11Portland


National Climate Trust Biogas Industry White 


Paper


 7,000  7,000  0 11/15/10 2/1/11Portland


Ecofys US, Inc. RE Consultant Services  6,800  6,640  160 4/18/11 12/31/11Corvallis


Madison Farms Small Hydro regen test 


on farm


 5,381  5,381  0 4/23/10 10/31/11Echo


Watkins and Associates, Inc. Residential PV Portland 


Metro


 5,000  3,650  1,350 7/5/11 12/31/11Portland


American Wind Group LLC Anemometer Incentive 


Funding


 4,031  0  4,031 7/22/11 2/15/14Oasis


Blue Tree Strategies Inc RE Consulting Services  3,600  3,555  45 6/14/11 5/31/13Portland


 18,952,783  8,901,431  10,051,351Renewable Energy Program Total:


 113,171,462  52,493,185  60,678,277Grand Totals:


4


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.








R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 8/19/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 8/1/2011
Page 1 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Administration


 6,682,173  4,296,448  2,385,725Administration Total:


Communications & Outreach


 4,229,318  2,229,409  1,999,909Communications & Outreach Total:


Energy Efficiency Programs
Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Regional Energy Eff 


Initiative


 39,356,800  9,099,913  30,256,887 1/1/10 7/1/15Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. PMC EB 2011  7,982,860  3,643,319  4,339,541 1/1/11 12/31/11Cherry Hill


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PMC NHP 2011  7,925,677  4,315,761  3,609,916 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Conservations Services Group, 


Inc.


2011 HES PMC  7,311,955  3,877,522  3,434,433 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


2011 NBE PMC  4,676,684  2,366,508  2,310,176 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Oregon State University CHP Project - OSU  2,024,263  1,920,000  104,263 12/20/10 12/20/13Corvallis


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2011  1,775,000  938,052  836,948 1/1/11 12/31/11


Cascade Energy, Inc. PDC - PE 2011  1,479,579  792,332  687,247 1/1/11 12/31/11Walla Walla


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. 2011 MF PMC  1,310,134  646,354  663,780 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2011  1,190,580  637,074  553,506 1/1/11 12/31/11Medford


OPOWER, Inc. OPOWER Agreement  977,000  895,000  82,000 3/2/10 9/2/11Arlington


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2011  839,500  365,994  473,506 1/1/11 12/31/11San Francisco


Cascade Energy, Inc. PDC - PE 2011 Small 


Indsutrial


 805,384  365,037  440,347 1/1/11 12/31/11Walla Walla


Evergreen Consulting Group, 


LLC


PE Lighting PDC 2011  637,852  325,066  312,786 1/1/11 12/31/11Tigard


Ecos IQ, Inc. 80 Plus Initiative - 2011  466,650  233,107  233,543 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


SBW Consulting, Inc. Impact Eval 2008-09 BE 


Program


 413,000  413,000  0 1/1/10 5/31/11Bellevue


J. Hruska Global HES QA services  410,000  345,770  64,230 1/1/08 12/31/11Columbia City


Clean Energy Works Oregon 


Inc


Clean Energy Works  300,000  300,000  0 1/1/10 12/31/12Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation  295,000  288,698  6,302 1/1/10 12/31/11Watertown


Northwest Power & 


Conservation Council


2011 Reg Tech Forum 


Sponsor


 287,400  287,400  0 1/1/11 12/31/11


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Technical Service 


Provider


 284,483  301,743 -17,260 8/1/09 7/31/12Portland


Edgar L. Wales Gov't acct management 


services


 245,000  157,309  87,691 5/17/10 1/31/12Canby


Conservation Services Group 


Inc


2011 HES WA PMC  175,900  57,651  118,249 1/1/11 12/31/11Westborough


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. NWN WA BE Pilot 2011  163,900  86,617  77,283 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


City of Portland Bureau of 


Planning & Sustainability


BPS Grant Agreement  150,000  0  150,000 1/1/09 12/31/13Portland


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer  137,500  60,228  77,272 8/15/03 8/15/12Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Portland Clean Energy 


Pilot


 120,000  120,000  0 6/18/09 7/31/11Portland


Opinion Dynamics Corporation Evaluate OPOWER Pilot  95,000  38,465  56,535 4/1/11 8/31/12Waltham


Heschong, Mahone Group, Inc. QA Consultant Services  88,500  56,208  32,292 3/15/11 12/31/12Fair Oaks


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. NWN DSM Initiative 


2011


 80,000  28,712  51,288 1/1/11 12/31/11Cherry Hill


QEI Energy Management, Inc. Technical Energy 


Analysis


 80,000  3,320  76,680 1/21/10 11/30/11


Stellar Processes, Inc. EE Resource 


Assessment


 75,690  74,943  748 3/1/10 1/31/11Portland


ICF Resources, LLC CHP Performance  72,000  58,110  13,890 8/5/09 6/30/12Fairfax


New Buildings Institute Customized Guide 


License


 71,667  71,667  0 8/28/09 12/31/11White Salmon


1


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 8/19/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 8/1/2011
Page 2 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Navigant Consulting Inc Clothes Washer Mkt 


Transform


 68,750  0  68,750 7/15/11 12/31/11Boulder


Delta-T, Inc. EE Consulting Services  50,000  8,449  41,551 3/1/09 12/31/11Goldendale


Energy Efficiency Funding 


Group Inc


Training 


Classes/Workshops


 50,000  7,438  42,562 6/1/11 5/31/13San Francisco


The Cadmus Group Inc. Path to Net-Zero Pilot  49,000  8,871  40,129 11/1/09 12/31/11Watertown


Research Into Action, Inc. Evaluate ENH Programs  48,700  48,700  0 2/14/11 8/31/11Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI NWN Pilot 2011  45,331  26,140  19,191 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc Kaizen & CA Pilot  40,000  18,389  21,612 11/1/09 8/30/11Boulder


Portland General Electric Utility Data Payment - 


OPOWER


 40,000  19,928  20,072 8/1/10 9/2/11Portland


NW Natural Info Transfer & 


Reimbursement


 35,000  21,263  13,737 7/12/10 9/2/11Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. DSM Metrics  35,000  35,000  0 9/1/10 1/31/11Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc Sustainable Energy Syst 


Pilot


 30,000  0  30,000 2/15/11 11/30/12Boulder


Navigant Consulting Inc IEI Pilot Review  30,000  12,897  17,104 11/1/09 8/30/11Boulder


Center of Design for an Aging 


Society


Memory Care Lighting 


Solutions


 26,950  25,735  1,215 1/18/11 8/31/11Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. NWN WA Prgm Process 


Eval


 25,000  24,326  674 10/11/10 5/15/11Portland


Stellar Processes, Inc. EPS Modeling 


Comparison


 25,000  14,040  10,960 1/15/11 12/31/11Portland


Portland General Electric PGE Efficiency 


Seminars 2011


 24,950  24,950  0 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Corvallis Environmental Center Energy Advocate 


Program


 20,000  13,541  6,459 2/1/11 12/31/11


Energy Center of Wisconsin Billing Analysis 


Evaluation


 20,000  0  20,000 1/1/10 12/31/11Madison


Michael Blasnick & Associated Billing Analysis Process  20,000  2,538  17,463 1/1/10 12/31/11Boston


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


EE Consultant Services  20,000  19,996  5 6/1/11 5/31/13Portland


Watershed Sciences Inc Airborne Thermal 


Infrared Data


 18,600  18,556  44 11/25/09 5/31/11Corvallis


Lane Community College, NEEI 


Science Division


2011 Scholarship Grant  15,400  9,000  6,400 2/24/11 12/31/11Eugene


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Gas Seed 


Funding


 15,000  15,000  0 8/31/10 7/1/11Portland


Consortium for Energy 


Efficiency


Membership Dues - 


2011


 14,518  14,518  0 1/1/11 12/31/11


American Council for and 


Energy Efficient Economy


Large Consumer 


Research Proj


 8,000  8,000  0 12/29/10 12/29/11


Home Performance Contractors 


Guild of Oregon


Grant Agreement  6,000  6,000  0 4/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Cost Plus Heating & Air Video Challenge  5,000  5,000  0 5/11/11 6/30/11Portland


 83,091,157  33,579,151  49,512,005Energy Efficiency Programs Total:


Joint Programs
The Iris Group Marketing Manager 


Comm/Ind/Ag


 155,000  136,531  18,469 1/1/10 12/31/11Portland


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services  76,757  50,407  26,350 1/1/06 12/31/10Portland


Gilmore Research Fast Feedback Survey  65,000  14,000  51,000 5/1/11 6/30/12Seattle


Research Into Action, Inc. Residential Awareness 


2011


 58,000  21,098  36,902 2/14/11 9/30/11Portland


Stellar Processes, Inc. Resource Assessment - 


2011


 35,000  6,885  28,115 5/11/11 9/30/11Portland


Matthew Taylor Evaluation Supoort 


Services


 30,000  17,620  12,380 9/1/09 8/31/11Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. 2011 Trade Ally Survey  25,000  21,093  3,908 1/24/11 9/30/11Portland


ICF Resources, LLC Planning Consultant 


Services


 15,000  14,160  840 6/16/11 5/31/13Fairfax


2


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 8/19/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 8/1/2011
Page 3 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


CoStar Realty Information Inc Property Data  6,398  398  6,000 6/1/11 5/31/12Baltimore


Navigant Consulting Inc P&E Consultant 


Services


 4,600  0  4,600 6/30/11 7/1/13Boulder


 470,755  282,192  188,563Joint Programs Total:


Renewable Energy Program
Sunway 3, LLC Prologis PV installation  3,405,000  3,396,044  8,956 9/30/08 9/30/28


enXco Asset Holdings Inc Bellevue Solar Facility  2,012,500  0  2,012,500 7/23/10 7/23/35San Diego


EBD Hydro LLC Hydroelectric Facility  2,000,000  0  2,000,000 12/10/10 12/10/30Bend


Revolution Energy Solutions 


LLC


Biogas Manure Digester 


Project


 1,766,640  0  1,766,640 10/27/10 10/27/25Washington


Rough & Ready Lumber 


Company


Biopower Funding 


Agreement


 1,685,088  1,164,771  520,317 7/21/06 7/21/26Cave Junction


enXco Asset Holdings Inc Yamhill Solar Facility  1,437,500  0  1,437,500 7/23/10 7/23/35San Diego


Alder Solar LLC Habilitation Center PV  1,236,750  1,224,244  12,506 1/18/08 12/31/28Portland


Central Oregon Irrigation 


District


Juniper Ridge 


Hydroelectric


 1,000,000  1,000,000  0 10/31/08 6/30/31Redmond


Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc. Funding Assistance 


Agreement


 827,000  275,667  551,333 6/24/09 6/24/29Corvallis


Tioga Solar VI, LLC Photovoltaic Project 


Agreement


 570,760  245,123  325,637 2/1/09 2/1/30San Mateo


Oregon Institute of Technology Geothermal Resource 


Funding


 487,000  487,000  0 3/2/10 3/2/30Klamath Falls


K2A Properties, LLC Doerfler Wind Farm 


Project


 230,000  0  230,000 5/20/10 5/20/30Aumsville


Oregon Dairy Farmers 


Association


Tech. Assist. & Fac. 


Services


 201,500  184,580  16,920 6/15/07 12/31/11Portland


Gary Higbee DBA WindStream 


Solar


Solar Inspector  200,000  19,471  180,529 2/1/11 7/31/12Eugene


Luxurious Plumbing and 


Heating, Inc.


Solar Program Inspector  200,000  17,550  182,450 1/1/11 7/31/12West Linn


Robert Dickson dba D&H 


Industrial


Solar Program Inspector  200,000  18,053  181,947 1/1/11 7/31/12


Ronald Burden Solar Program Inspector  120,000  42,445  77,555 8/23/10 7/31/12Portland


Steve Ault Inspections Inc Solar Inspector  120,000  23,456  96,544 8/23/10 7/31/12Sisters


City of Astoria Astoria Bear Creek 


Hydro


 118,000  0  118,000 4/4/11 4/4/31Astoria


Farmers Irrigation District Indian Creek Corridor 


Project


 100,000  100,000  0 1/5/10 1/4/29Hood River


Renewable Energy Solutions 


LLC


Upfront Hydroelectric 


Fund


 100,000  0  100,000 7/15/11 7/14/12Enterprise


Oregon State University OSU Wind Program  85,670  54,516  31,154 7/1/10 12/31/11Corvallis


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV  79,815  77,390  2,425 12/1/05 12/1/26Dayton


E. Edison Kennell Small wind technical 


assist.


 75,000  23,679  51,321 8/22/08 12/31/11Bend


City of Portland Water Bureau Vernon Hydro  65,000  0  65,000 11/15/10 11/15/30Portland


Robert Andrew Volkman Project Finanace 


Consultant


 62,500  1,200  61,300 10/1/10 12/31/11Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc RE Consultant  55,161  49,216  5,945 3/1/10 6/1/11Boulder


Oregon Assoc. of Clean Water 


Agencies


Waste water workshops  45,000  45,000  0 4/1/10 10/31/11


University of Oregon UO SRML Contribution  45,000  45,000  0 2/22/11 2/21/12Eugene


MC Energy LLC Small Wind Incentive  43,250  43,250  0 9/21/10 9/21/25Spokane


ECONorthwest Economic Impact 


Analysis


 42,000  42,000  0 10/13/10 6/30/11Eugene


Keith Rossman Solar Program 


Contractor


 37,120  25,866  11,254 2/1/10 6/30/11Portland


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart 


Farms


17.5 kW PV project  32,500  31,386  1,114 5/25/07 5/25/27Malin


Oregon Community Wind LLC Anemometer Equipment 


Incentive


 28,321  28,321  0 1/15/10 1/14/13Portland


SPS of Oregon Inc Spaur Microhydro  25,000  0  25,000 7/23/10 7/23/30Wallowa


3


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 8/19/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 8/1/2011
Page 4 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy 


system


 24,125  4,595  19,530 4/11/07 1/31/24Newberg


Solar Oregon Outreach Contract  24,000  14,000  10,000 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Associated Master Inspectors 


LLC


Small Wind Program 


Consultant


 15,000  4,051  10,949 1/31/11 1/31/12Tigard


Gary Higbee DBA WindStream 


Solar


Small Wind Program 


Consultant


 15,000  2,664  12,336 1/1/11 12/31/11Eugene


Renewable Energy Associates, 


LLC


Renewable Energy 


Consultant


 14,700  3,802  10,898 11/1/09 10/31/11Corvallis


Mariah Wind LLC Anemometer Transfer 


Ownership


 14,206 -14,610  28,817 6/29/11 6/29/12Victor


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project  13,150  9,255  3,895 10/1/05 10/1/20Salem


Bloomberg LP Insight Services - 2011  12,000  6,000  6,000 4/1/11 3/31/12San Francisco


Construct Inc RE Consultant Services  12,000  8,785  3,215 1/1/11 12/31/12Portland


Robert Dickson dba D&H 


Industrial


Small Wind Consultant  12,000  0  12,000 1/1/11 12/31/11


Water & Energy Resource 


Services


Research OR County 


Land Use


 10,000  7,188  2,813 3/17/11 9/30/11Clackamas


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


Solar 4R Schools PV - 


2011


 7,800  7,228  572 7/30/10 7/30/11Portland


Western Community Energy 


LLC


Anemometer Agreement  7,291  7,291  0 9/29/10 7/31/11Portland


National Climate Trust Biogas Industry White 


Paper


 7,000  7,000  0 11/15/10 2/1/11Portland


Ecofys US, Inc. RE Consultant Services  6,800  4,337  2,463 4/18/11 12/31/11Corvallis


Madison Farms Small Hydro regen test 


on farm


 5,381  0  5,381 4/23/10 10/31/11Echo


Watkins and Associates, Inc. Residential PV Portland 


Metro


 5,000  1,200  3,800 7/5/11 12/31/11Portland


Blue Tree Strategies Inc RE Consulting Services  3,600  3,555  45 6/14/11 5/31/13Portland


Advanced Renewable 


Technology LLC


Install Requirements 


Review


 3,000  1,687  1,314 2/10/11 6/1/11Newberg


Luxurious Plumbing and 


Heating, Inc.


Install Requirement 


Review


 3,000  975  2,025 2/10/11 6/1/11West Linn


Solar Inspection Services Install Requirements 


Review


 3,000  1,050  1,950 2/10/11 6/1/11Portland


 18,957,129  8,745,282  10,211,847Renewable Energy Program Total:


 113,430,532  49,132,481  64,298,050Grand Totals:


4


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.








 


Evaluation Committee Meeting 
August 26, 2011 Noon-3pm 


Attendees 
1. Debbie Kitchin, Board Member – Committee Chair 
2. Dan Enloe, Board Member (by phone) 
3. Ken Keating, Expert Outside Reviewer 
4. Margie Harris, Executive Director (by phone) 
5. Phil Degens, Evaluation Manager 
6. Sarah Castor, Evaluation Sr. Project Manager 
7. Brien Sipe, Evaluation Project Manager 
8. Ashley Jackson, Trade Ally Coordinator 
9. Debbie Menashe, Senior Counsel 
10. Diane Ferington, Residential Sector Lead 
11. John Volkman, General Counsel & Policy Director 
12. Lakin Garth, Planning Project Manager 
13. Lewis Colon, Sr. Manager - Strategies and New Initiatives, Conservation Services 


Group (CSG) 
14. Pete Catching, Planning and Economic Analysis Manager 
15. Steve Lacey, Director of Operations 
16. Sue Fletcher, Communication and Customer Service Sr. Manager 
17. Susan Jamison, Residential Marketing Manager 
18. Ted Light, Planning Project Manager 
19. Tim Davis, Sr. Manager - Contractor Programs, CSG 
20. Tom Beverly, Trade Ally Manager 
 


The meeting began at noon with a review of the agenda.  
 


Agenda 
1. 2011 Trade Ally Survey 
2. 2009 Existing Homes Billing Analysis – Gas Measures 
3. Thermal Imaging Pilot 


 
1. 2011 Trade Ally Survey 
Contractor: Research Into Action 
 
Phil presented results from the draft report. The survey is now in its seventh year; it was 
fielded in February and March, 2011 and asked questions about the 2010 program year. 
Energy Trust collaboratively implemented the survey with Research Into Action. The 
objectives were to assess firm demographics, collect feedback on marketing and 
communications initiatives and data on market behavior and technology installation. Ken 
asked what “collaboratively implemented” meant. Phil said that the online survey was fielded 
through Energy Trust’s survey account and announcements were sent out by Energy Trust 
staff; Research Into Action edited the survey and analyzed the results, as well as sent out 
gift cards to respondents entered into a drawing for completing the survey.  
 
Changes to the survey for 2010 included: replacing open-ended questions with categorical 
questions, adding sections for ductless heat pump contractors, and questions on the trade 
ally rating system. Real Estate trade allies were not invited to participate in the survey; they 
were surveyed as part of the New Homes Process Evaluation (draft expected soon). 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes August 26, 2011 


Page 2 of 10 


There were 218 completed responses from 1,450 survey invitations and respondents 
represented 192 unique companies or franchises. 
 
Table 1. Respondents by Primary Program 
 2011 2010 
Residential 105 154 
Commercial 32 60 
Solar 20 38 
Industrial 8 9 
Other renewables 9 5 
Other 18 7 
 
Firmographics were very similar to last year. One fourth of trade allies rated their 
participation with Energy Trust as having a negative economic impact. Dan noted that the 
result for this question lined up with the opinion of the star rating system for trade allies, 
indicated the two might be related. Ken asked if a negative impact was really indicated or if it 
meant weak or no impact. According to the scale used for the question, a response of 0-4 
should mean a negative impact; but respondents may have been confused or they may 
really believe there is a negative impact. 
 
Most trade allies report completing the bulk of paperwork for incentives, rather than the 
customer completing it. Many felt that the paperwork was excessive or too complex. They 
reported that management or administrative staff were more likely to complete the 
paperwork than sales staff or technicians. Ken noted that these people were the furthest 
away from the actual work or site knowledge. Diane said that in small businesses, a 
manager may also be a technician. Phil added that respondents reported completing work in 
the office not the field, and that we should be trying to make the paperwork easier for trade 
allies, not just participants. Debbie K. noted that there is a science to making forms efficient 
and easy to complete, and we should be tapping it. 
 
This year, only 11% of respondents were unfamiliar with the Oregon state tax credits, less 
than in previous years, but there were still many suggestions for increasing the use of the 
tax credits. Diane said that ODOE has reached out to our program management contractor 
for existing homes, CSG, to see how we can align processes. 
 
Trade allies report marketing a variety of different financing programs. Phil said that we 
should encourage all kinds of funding sources, not just Clean Energy Works (CEW) or 
Umpqua Bank’s GreenStreet Lending. Tom added that Energy Trust is developing a lending 
ally network.  
 
While many trade allies did not use EBIX, an insurance verification service contracted by 
Energy Trust, the ones that did still had complaints about the experience. Tom said that 
once the new information systems are put in place next year, we should be able to track 
insurance on our own without using EBIX.  
 
More than 19% of respondents reported that they offer services in Washington, up from 10% 
last year. Barriers still include lack of awareness and the “of Oregon” in Energy Trust’s 
name. 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes August 26, 2011 


Page 3 of 10 


With regard to trainings and trade ally roundtables, Tom noted that we already cover most of 
the topics trade allies report interest in, but more than a third still don’t find them useful or 
valuable. Debbie K. suggested that perhaps some attendees find the information to be too 
basic and maybe some topics should be more technical or in-depth. Sue would like to see 
results separated into Portland Metro and non-Metro trade allies, noting that non-Metro 
roundtables tend to be more conversational and open compared to Portland. Tim thought 
this might be due to Portland roundtables being attended by owners rather than techs. 
Diane suggested combining roundtables and trainings in outlying areas. Debbie K. also 
noted that the start time of the roundtables may need to vary by region. Margie would also 
like to see some of these preferences by Metro versus non-Metro.  
 
Results from the section on communications verify that Energy Trust is using methods and 
frequencies that are preferred by trade allies. The majority of respondents receive the 
Insider newsletter and usually read it. Phil noted that preferences have shifted over the 
years to electronic communications.  
 
All trade allies were asked about the star rating system, which currently only applies to 
residential trade allies. About half of respondents were aware of the system and those 
respondents were divided in opinion on the clarity of rating criteria, usefulness and how well 
the rating system might apply to the commercial sector. Fairness of the system was also a 
concern for almost a third. Steve thought it interesting that there weren’t more objections to 
the system. Tom noted that Energy Trust has been working to adjust the system for rural 
and new trade allies who haven’t completed as many projects. Ken asked if trade allies 
could opt out of the rating system and Diane said no. Ken thought the system might favor 
the favorites and hurt the new trade allies. Tim said that the system is now based more on 
quality of installation than on project volume.  
 
Table 2. Trade Ally Satisfaction (% rating 4 or 5 on a five-point scale) 
 Energy Efficiency 


Trade Allies Solar Trade Allies 


Overall satisfaction with Energy Trust 74% 78% 
Knowledge of Energy Trust programs and 
procedures 80% 85% 


Interactions with Energy Trust staff 77% 81% 
Quality assurance/quality control process 68% -- 
Quality of responses to your requests 68% 81% 
Response times to requests for information 66% 70% 
Response times to requests for assistance on forms 57% -- 
Turnaround time for incentive application/approval of 
paperwork 56% 67% 


Incentive payment processing time 53% 48% 
Quality of your relationship with Energy Trust 
inspectors -- 63% 


Scheduling of Energy Trust inspections -- 62% 
Quality of Energy Trust inspections -- 58% 
 
 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes August 26, 2011 


Page 4 of 10 


Overall, 74% of energy efficiency and 78% of renewable trade allies are satisfied with 
Energy Trust, about the same as last year. However, satisfaction with payment processing 
time was significantly lower this year compared to last. Sarah noted that the survey is 
usually fielded in February or March – immediately after the end-of-year spike in 
applications, which was particularly high this year; at this time satisfaction with processing 
time is bound to be at its lowest of any point in the year. Phil repeated suggestions from past 
years on changing Energy Trust processes to allow for bulk processing or direct payment to 
the contractor. Steve noted that there was a drop in satisfaction with the quality of response 
to requests for both energy efficiency and renewable trade allies. This is interesting because 
energy efficiency trade allies receive responses from the PMCs and renewable trade allies 
receive responses from Energy Trust staff. 
 
Of those who perceived a change in their relationship with Energy Trust over the past year, 
nearly half of respondents felt it had improved, while less than 10% felt it had declined. 
 
Trade allies were also asked some questions about the main category of measures they 
reported installing. Among residential trade allies, efficient gas furnaces and heat pumps 
continued to dominate installations. Margie asked how long we expect to offer incentives for 
heat pumps and how we will judge whether they are still necessary. Phil said that we will 
monitor national efforts to increase the code and provide the Department of Energy with 
information on the transformation of our heat pump market. Ken noted that we could move 
to incentivizing a higher efficiency level and that the marginal cost of efficient heat pumps 
does not seem to dissuade people from buying them. Dan added that there is a broad range 
of efficiency levels available in the market. Ken said that when the tax credits for heat 
pumps are removed the marginal cost for an efficient unit may fall.  
 
This year, nine trade allies reported primarily installing ductless heat pumps (DHPs). Dan 
asked if DHPs are being installed in manufactured or prefab housing. Sarah said that the 
early results of the New Homes Process evaluation, which interviewed manufactured home 
builders, show that the manufactured homes market is in such rough shape right now that 
builders are not interested in trying out new (to them) technologies. For existing home 
retrofits, Phil noted that DHPs are best for non-ducted homes.  
 
Among other residential measures, windows continue their steady trend toward increasing 
efficiency levels, as well as becoming more readily available. There is also a lot of overlap in 
the activity and potential of air sealing and insulation measures.  
 
Commercial lighting trade allies report that high performance T-8 and T-5 lighting make up 
about 77% of their installations. Occupancy sensors are often installed, but other controls for 
lighting are seldom used, despite years of program effort to get them to take off.  
  
Overall recommendations from the study include: 


• Financing: Large numbers of trade allies are familiar with Umpqua Bank’s Green 
Street loans and other financing programs and many actively offer them. Energy 
Trust should continue to make contractors aware of these financing services and 
options to enable them to communicate the benefits of these services to customers 
accurately. 







Evaluation Committee Notes August 26, 2011 


Page 5 of 10 


• Training: Continue training programs that support trade allies’ efforts to work with 
the programs and market their services to customers. 


• Roundtables: Clearly delineate roundtables by program and consider more specific 
topics to allow trade allies to attend those portions most relevant to their business. 
Continue to develop and expand web-based roundtables. 


• Website: Attempts should be made to increase awareness of trade ally-specific 
resources on the website and to increase ease of navigation. In further efforts to 
upgrade the website, priority should be given to the forms and program incentives 
pages. 


 
Debbie K. recommended that technical trainings be done as webinars.  
 
Phil remarked that there is still a lot of confusion about DHPs and we need to monitor the 
market and make sure they are used in appropriate applications to maximize savings and 
customer satisfaction.  
 
With regard to a comment from trade allies that customer reviews should be viewable on the 
Find a Contractor web page, Margie inquired about an Angie’s List approach or 
collaborating directly with Angie’s List. Tom said that there are legal limitations for us around 
customer reviews and that we have approached Angie’s List, but they do not want to partner 
with other organizations. Dan suggested that we should approach them again and try harder 
to persuade them; he is willing to help if needed.  
 
2. 2009 Existing Homes Billing Analysis – Gas Measures 
 
Brien presented the results of the billing analysis, done in-house. The project was a 
comprehensive look at gas measures through the standard track, Home Performance with 
Energy Star (HPwES) track and Home Energy Reviews (HERs). It is important to note that 
during the study period, average residential gas loads were down 14% due to mild weather 
and the economic recession. 
 
Billing data were normalized for weather and cleaned according to standard protocols. A 
group of 30,000 randomly selected non-participant homes was use as a comparison group. 
Two methods were used to estimate savings: a difference-in-differences model to identify 
household-level and bundled measure savings, and multiple variable regression to 
determine measure and unit level savings.  
 
For the standard track, average savings per treated home (all measures) net of the 
comparison group were 73 therms, about 10% of total gas load. Analysis of measure 
bundles confirms the non-additive nature of measure savings.  
 
Dan made a suggestion last week that savings for insulation and windows should be shown 
per 100 square feet of treated area, so the figures weren’t shown to several decimal places. 
Brien liked the idea, and extended it to show shell insulation per 1,000 sq ft, duct insulation 
per 200 linear feet and windows per 200 sq ft. He also presented air and duct sealing per 
1,000 and 500 CFM reduction, respectively.  
 







Evaluation Committee Notes August 26, 2011 


Page 6 of 10 


Table 3. Estimated Savings by Measure (numbers in italics are not statistically significant) 
Measure 2006-2007 2008 2009 
Air sealing (per 1000/CFM) 0 5 15 
Duct sealing (per 500/CFM) 24 6* 12 
Gas furnace 77 68 65 
Windows(per 200/sq. ft.) 22 39 38 
Ceiling insulation (per 1000/sq. ft.) 52 52 45 
Floor insulation (per 1000/sq. ft.) 35 51 36 
Wall insulation (per 1000/sq. ft.) 52 62 38 
Duct insulation (per 200/Lft.) 14 28 -** 
* Includes the high volume contractor discussed below. 
** The 2009 sample of duct insulation projects was too small to provide a meaningful estimate. 
 
The year 2009 marked the first time we have found measurable savings for air sealing. For 
other measures, average savings were slightly lower than in previous years, likely due to the 
interaction with the recession. Debbie K. said that since the recession is temporary and 
measures may save more in future years, we should revisit these estimates. Phil explained 
that we simply take a three year moving average of savings, to smooth out recessions. Ken 
said one could look at the percent savings over time to control for the changing baseline of 
consumption. He also noted that when multiple measures are installed it can be hard to get 
a precise answer for each measure; these estimates look pretty stable.  
 
The HPwES program is aimed at comprehensive retrofits and uses diagnostic tests for duct 
and home air loss; 2009 was the first program year with enough projects to evaluate and 
about 100 homes were included in the analysis. 
 
The average savings for a treated home was 148 therms, about double the standard track 
estimate. This was just under 20% of the average household gas load. However, the 
modeling software used for HPwES estimated savings of about 314 therms (based on 
overestimated gas loads), resulting in realization rates between 35% and 47%. It is 
recommended that the new modeling software calibrate energy usage to utility bills. The 
cost-effectiveness of the program should also be re-evaluated in light of these first billing 
analysis results. Lakin asked if the estimated savings included instant savings measures 
(ISMs: CFLs, aerators and showerheads); Brien said yes. 
 
Phil pointed out that saving 20% of gas usage is very good; it is just that the model 
overestimated usage from the beginning. Ken asked what modeling software the program 
would be using going forward; Energy Measure Home (EMHome) is the new software and it 
should allow for calibration to billing data. Brien added that at the recent evaluation 
conference, we heard similar stories of low realization rates due to modeling software from 
programs around the country and in Europe. Ken said that he is on the committee that will 
be evaluating the ARRA funding and thinks other programs will have similar results. They 
are spending more money per project, but will probably only see more projects, not more 
savings per project. 
 
Diane is confident that EMHome will produce more accurate savings estimates. Tim added 
that EMHome is designed to be more conservative. Debbie K. asked, even if we get better 
savings estimates, will HPwES still be cost-effective? Brien said the Planning team will re-
evaluate and compare to the standard track. He also said that some of the cost of HPwES is 







Evaluation Committee Notes August 26, 2011 


Page 7 of 10 


from contractors doing low savings measures because they are trying to do everything 
possible in the house at once.  Diane added that CEWO, which uses the HPwES approach, 
has goals beyond energy savings, and even HPwES has goals around health and safety 
that don’t always save energy.  
 
Debbie K. asked how the cost of diagnostic testing affects cost-effectiveness. Brien said that 
we pay a separate incentive ($150) for the Home Performance assessment. Tim said that 
the cost of that assessment has come down significantly in the last few years as the number 
of contractors has grown.  
 
Table 4. Estimated Savings for Baseload Measures 
 Estimated Savings 95% CI Predicted Savings
HERs 36 6 38 
ESKs 12 7 10 
Tankless Water Heaters 58-66 13-29 65 
 
“Baseload measures” – including instant savings measures (ISMs) from Home Energy 
Reviews (HERs) and Energy Saver Kits (ESKs), and tankless water heaters – were 
analyzed separately from the other tracks because of the small expected savings (for ISMs) 
or issue with fuel switching (for tankless water heaters). 
 
Average savings from aerators and showerheads in HER homes with gas water heat were 
36 therms, almost exactly what was expected; average savings for these measures 
distributed through ESKs was 12 therms, also close to the initial estimate. Neither of these 
savings numbers needs to be adjusted going forward.  
 
Tankless water heaters saved an estimated 58-66 therms, consistent with 2007 and 2008 
impact evaluations. It was expected that the incremental cost of tankless water heaters 
would decrease over time, but this hasn’t happened; as a result, the measure is no longer 
cost effective and Evaluation recommends that the incentive be removed. Ken asked about 
new homes; Phil said that the cost to install a tankless unit is lower in new homes because 
the gas plumbing and electrical needs are designed in, whereas in existing homes costs for 
these factors are significant. Ken pointed out that just before the recession, 26% of new 
homes in California were built with tankless water heaters; the measure is really growing.  
 
Brien then discussed an issue with a high volume contractor in the Existing Homes program. 
In 2008 and 2009, one air and duct sealing contractor (a trade ally at the time) was 
responsible for over half of standard track projects in those measure categories, and was 
found to have low quality control (QC) pass rates for their projects. The program invested 
significant resources to retraining the contractor and improving the quality of their work. The 
incentive was also restructured, from paying per CFM reduction to a percent of cost. From 
the billing analysis, it appears that this investment did result in measurable savings for this 
contractor’s work, comparable to other trade allies. Despite this improvement, the contractor 
was removed as a trade ally due to their inability or unwillingness to align with Energy Trust 
program goals. The contractor misrepresented the restructuring of the incentive as the end 
of the offer to customers to get more jobs in before the change. In addition, the contractor 
began submitting high numbers of ‘test-only’ projects where they did not perform work but 
received incentives for testing the homes. 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes August 26, 2011 


Page 8 of 10 


Debbie K. asked if the trade ally has tried to be reinstated. Diane said they have renamed 
themselves and resurfaced here and elsewhere around the Northwest, but everyone in the 
NEEA network is aware of this.  
 
Margie asked what Energy Trust has learned from this experience. Diane said we recognize 
the need for earlier QC/quality assurance (QA) and more interaction with new contractors. 
Dan asked if we plan to do anything to try to repair any damage to Energy Trust’s 
reputation. Debbie said it was worth considering whether to offer affected customers 
additional QA at this stage to correct the work if necessary. Diane said that other contractors 
typically won’t go into affected homes if they know this particular contractor worked there 
because they are afraid there will not be enough savings to receive the incentive. She also 
noted that Energy Trust is not allowed to book savings or pay for the same measure done 
twice at a site. Ken said it should still be possible to get savings out of the sites done before 
the retraining, although it could be that they had selected sites that were less leaky in the 
first place. He also said that the incentive already paid to these sites should be considered a 
sunk cost and not the basis for decisions. Margie said that not every customer would take 
up an offer of additional corrective work, which would reduce the cost. Diane added that we 
have already worked with the contractor in question to fix some jobs.  
 
Debbie M. suggested that we consider the precedent we would be setting by paying to 
correct this contractor’s work. We might be expected to fix all such problems that arise in the 
future and Energy Trust has always said that we cannot guarantee contractor work or 
energy savings. Margie said it is worth exploring the costs and benefits of making some 
reparations. Debbie K. seconds Margie’s view. Brien noted that this contractor’s work 
affected between two and three thousand sites; perhaps 10% of those received remedial 
work, according to Diane. 
 
Brien said the program is continuously trying to find ways to get all contractors to do high 
quality work. A checklist for air sealing has been implemented and the incentive 
restructuring should lead contractors to do comprehensive work rather than meeting the 
minimum requirements. The program has also intervened early with a non-trade ally 
contractor who has been submitting poor quality insulation jobs. The problem was identified 
by quick QC/QA work.  
 
Another possible mitigation strategy would be requiring the contractor to be a trade ally in 
order to pay an incentive. The majority of work is already done by trade allies. Diane would 
like to go to a trade ally-only model at least in the Metro area; it might be unreasonable in 
rural or outlying regions. Steve asked how difficult it is to become a trade ally. The biggest 
constraint is that we require more insurance than the state’s Construction Contractor Board. 
We also require attendance at two 1.5 hour webinars.   
 
3. Thermal Imaging Pilot 
Contractor: Watershed Sciences, Inc. 
 
Phil presented preliminary findings from a thermal imaging pilot. Phil had been hoping to do 
this kind of study from satellite images for several years, but the technology is still not 
deployed; he found that Watershed Sciences had the capability to do the work via flyovers in 
a small plane. Airborne thermal infrared (TIR) remote sensing has been used to assess heat 







Evaluation Committee Notes August 26, 2011 


Page 9 of 10 


loss from buildings in Canada and Denmark. Potential uses of such study include better 
diagnostics for energy efficiency improvements, better targeting of services and long-term 
impact evaluation.  
 
The data was collected on February 2, 2011. The weather needed to be cold and clear with 
no standing snow to gather the best images. The site was 14,165 acres in southeast 
Portland. Images show the range of radiant energy from different surfaces such as roofs, 
trees and the ground. Watershed Sciences was able to use country tax assessor data 
(matched through GIS) to identify structure footprints and LiDAR to exclude non-building 
features from the analysis. Radiant energy statistics were computed for all 64,597 structures 
within the survey area to enable the identification of trends and differences between building 
and neighborhoods.  
 
The images can identify “hotspots” (areas of higher radiant energy) on individual structures, 
but difficulty in interpreting these results from the following factors: 


• Spatial misalignment, causing energy from adjacent or obscuring objects to be 
associated with the building footprint 


• Physical characteristics of the roof, such as slope and reflectivity of material that 
influence a building’s absorptive and emissive properties 


• Lack of ground level validation data; a building with relatively high heat emission may 
be a function of poor insulation or the resident preferring a high internal temperature 
and the TIR cannot distinguish between the two scenarios.  


 
Energy Trust does not plan to share the dataset outside the organization for the foreseeable 
future. We need to study further whether or how TIR imagery can be used. Watershed 
Sciences is currently linking the TIR database with normalized addresses for each structure, 
which will allow us to associate energy consumption or program tracking data.  
 
Preliminary analysis could be available next year, focusing on: 


• The accuracy of the TIR in predicting heat loss from attics or walls 
• How TIR heat loss images correlate to levels of energy consumption 
• Accuracy of hotspot analysis in identifying building issues 
• Usefulness in the commercial sector 


 
Debbie K. asked whether, for initial screening of buildings, it wouldn’t be easier or less 
expensive to look at billing data. Phil said that we are currently restricted by our data-sharing 
agreement with the utilities. Debbie pointed out that the TIR data cannot tell us whether the 
home is a rental or various other factors that affect eligibility. Margie asked how southeast 
Portland was selected for the study. Phil said we wanted a dense urban area with homes of 
various ages.  
 
Margie asked if board members were sensitive about the use of the study. Debbie K., the 
only attending board member remaining at the meeting, said that she was not opposed to 
the use for targeting neighborhoods; she just wanted to use the most cost-effective 
approach. Over the whole service territory, using billing data would probably be cheaper and 
easier to gather. Margie said she would expect some discomfort by people concerned about 
privacy issues.  
 







Evaluation Committee Notes August 26, 2011 


Page 10 of 10 


Lewis asked if we would do a pilot of targeting marketing with the results of the study, to test 
it out. Phil said that once we finish matching to address data we might be able to do a pilot. 
He also said that utilities in the Boston and Toronto areas are exploring gathering TIR 
imagery of buildings there for the same purpose; once other utilities join in and people see 
how the information is used they won’t be so uncomfortable with it. Margie thinks that this 
approach might help us be successful in areas where we haven’t connected before. She 
sees the advantages, but she is also cautious about perception by others. 
 
 
The meeting adjourned at 2:45pm.  
 
 








Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET
August 31, 2011


(Unaudited)


AUG JUL DEC Change from Change from
2011 2011 2010 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents 87,788,905 88,380,345 67,600,402 (591,440) 20,188,503
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 1,024,085 1,024,015 1,436,544 70 (412,459)
  Investments 8,042,156 0 (8,042,156)
  Receivables 5,842 13,520 72,173 (7,677) (66,330)
  Prepaid Expenses 571,014 666,706 420,340 (95,692) 150,674
  Advances to Vendors 1,400,710 2,075,508 1,684,682 (674,798) (283,972)


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
   Total Current Assets 90,790,556 92,160,094 79,256,297 (1,369,538) 11,534,259


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 63,213 63,213 87,564 0 (24,351)
  Computer Hardware and Software 1,011,789 1,011,789 976,859 0 34,930
  Software Development 829,527 756,501 397,503 73,026 432,024
  Leasehold Improvements 42,267 41,995 22,382 272 19,885
  Office Equipment and Furniture 227,330 138,156 138,156 89,174 89,174


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 2,174,127 2,011,654 1,622,464 162,473 551,662
  Less Depreciation (1,056,377) (1,051,204) (991,466) (5,173) (64,911)


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 1,117,750 960,450 630,998 157,300 486,752


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 28,000 28,000 28,000 0 0
  Deferred Compensation Asset 277,968 272,645 233,677 5,324 44,291


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Other Assets 305,968 300,645 261,677 5,324 44,291


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Assets 92,214,273 93,421,188 80,148,972 (1,206,915) 12,065,301


============= ============= ============= ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 7,136,313 6,834,646 18,377,833 301,666 (11,241,520)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 498,258 506,095 444,846 (7,838) 53,411


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 7,634,570 7,340,742 18,822,679 293,828 (11,188,109)


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 19,132 23,915 57,397 (4,783) (38,265)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 277,968 272,645 233,677 5,324 44,291
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 4,681 3,861 2,685 820 1,996


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 301,782 300,421 293,759 1,361 8,023


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Liabilities 7,936,352 7,641,163 19,116,438 295,189 (11,180,086)


Net Assets
  Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 1,024,085 1,024,015 1,436,544 70 (412,459)
  Unrestricted Net Assets 83,253,836 84,756,010 59,595,989 (1,502,175) 23,657,846


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Net Assets 84,277,921 85,780,026 61,032,534 (1,502,105) 23,245,387


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 92,214,273 93,421,188 80,148,972 (1,206,915) 12,065,301


============= ============= ============= ============= =============
BS-Acct-YTD-001


Page 1 of 10







 January February March April May June July August Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 8,694,980$    6,344,720$      2,559,208$    3,816,925$    2,653,406$    (101,217)$        779,470$       (1,502,105)$  23,245,387$  


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 23,088          5,576              10,790          7,316            7,134            7,135               (1,301)           5,173            64,911          
Deferred Rent Amortization (4,783)           (4,783)             (4,783)           (4,783)           (4,784)           (4,783)              (4,783)           (4,783)           (38,265)         


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 24,343          (2,401)             (1,933)           (3,899)           38,219          (2,842)              (4,588)           7,678            54,577          
Other Receivables (8,688)           19,464            (35,219)         34,269          1,928            (3,232)              3,232            -                11,754          
Advances to Vendors 490,581        597,005          (1,585,565)    226,886        627,553        (996,172)          248,886        674,798        283,972        
Other Assets (334,067)       46,711            82,620          (292,436)       68,164          91,410             52,264          90,369          (194,965)       
A/P - Program Subcontracts (13,627)         (419,302)         (848,049)       (521,501)       956,677        (75,510)            399,523        (23,151)         (544,940)       
A/P - Incentives (10,910,385)  (181,507)         1,709,847      (1,300,523)    (170,579)       860,329           (999,470)       335,388        (10,656,900)  
A/P - Professional Services (10,705)         5,181              (7,985)           2,180            (9,866)           (8,099)              (3,410)           (4,464)           (37,168)         
A/P - Operations 27,651          32,706            (74,019)         (60,637)         77,142          3,960               (2,564)           (6,108)           (1,869)           
Payroll and related accruals 22,479          54,457            14,780          9,512            12,222          2,830               (16,065)         (2,514)           97,701          
Other liabilities 310               0 100 766               820               1,996            


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies (1,998,823)    6,497,827       1,819,692      1,913,409      4,257,217      (226,191)          451,960        (428,899)       12,286,191    


Investing Activites:


A/P Fixed Assets
(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets 36,107          (51,678)           (52,521)         (26,492)         (114,016)       (144,269)          (36,321)         (162,473)       (551,663)       


Cash used in Investing Activities 36,107          (51,678)           (52,521)         (26,492)         (114,016)       (144,269)          (36,321)         (162,473)       (551,663)       


Cash at beginning of Period 77,079,102    75,116,386      81,562,537    83,329,708    85,215,978    89,359,180      88,988,721    89,404,360    77,079,102    


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash (1,962,716)    6,446,152       1,767,173      1,886,270      4,143,202      (370,461)          415,640        (591,372)       11,733,889    


Cash at end of period 75,116,386$  81,562,537$    83,329,708$  85,215,978$  89,359,180$  88,988,721$    89,404,360$  88,812,990$  88,812,990$  


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2011


Page 2 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2011 - December 2012
Based on 2011-B-02, 2012-P-02


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding


  Self Direct Repayments


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out
Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Dedicated funds Adjustment


Committed Funds Adjustment


Cash Reserve


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted by Dedicated Funds


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances
Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Dedicated funds adjustment:
Committed funds adjustment:


Cash reserve:
Escrow:


2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011


January February March April May June July August September October November December


13,547,299      14,361,000      13,017,942     13,366,240      10,870,148      9,911,545       9,490,111       9,055,884       9,884,945       10,012,046        10,680,331     13,377,681         


-                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                   -                       


41,516            9,925              11,923           9,728              66,329            10,546           8,929              23,817            16,667            16,667              16,667           16,663               


13,588,815      14,370,925      13,029,865     13,375,968      10,936,477      9,922,091       9,499,040       9,079,701       9,901,612       10,028,713        10,696,998     13,394,344         


2,309,252       2,873,291       6,373,930       3,507,052       1,906,225       4,801,364       (371,478)         3,123,128       1,660,983       3,404,346         3,770,231       3,770,231           


11,932,478      3,969,269       3,503,665       6,255,908       3,668,658       4,166,941       5,598,221       5,362,060       7,051,627       10,027,450        10,851,942     13,394,597         


611,416          625,232          626,835         613,078          624,583          640,340         633,681          620,777          708,387          708,387            708,387         708,387             


324,901          358,297          552,966         590,920          481,585          (441,086)        429,717          376,315          371,851          1,250,349         1,011,592       1,008,518           


373,484          98,686            205,296         522,091          112,225          1,124,991       2,793,259       188,792          373,760          254,958            349,493         1,085,644           


15,551,531      7,924,775       11,262,692     11,489,050      6,793,276       10,292,550     9,083,400       9,671,072       10,166,607     15,645,491        16,691,644     19,967,377         


(1,962,716)      6,446,150       1,767,173       1,886,918       4,143,202       (370,459)        415,640          (591,371)         (264,995)         (5,616,778)        (5,994,647)     (6,573,033)         


77,079,102      75,116,386      81,561,887     83,329,058      85,215,975      89,359,180     88,988,721      89,404,360      88,812,989     88,547,994        82,931,216     76,936,569         


75,116,386      81,561,887      83,329,058     85,215,975      89,359,180      88,988,721     89,404,360      88,812,989      88,547,994     82,931,216        76,936,569     70,363,536         


(18,106,611)    (18,708,096)    (19,239,991)    (17,105,010)    (17,838,450)    (16,394,980)    (17,011,425)    (17,722,045)    (17,998,339)    (17,532,867)      (17,137,645)    (14,633,974)        


(13,761,983)    (14,200,745)    (14,645,116)    (15,454,240)    (16,318,408)    (18,569,608)    (19,300,802)    (20,058,090)    (19,883,345)    (17,510,876)      (14,537,339)    (9,008,955)         


(6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)        (6,800,000)     (6,800,000)         


36,447,792   41,853,045   42,643,950  45,856,725   48,402,321   47,224,133  46,292,133   44,232,853   43,866,310   41,087,473     38,461,585  39,920,608      


1,436,544       1,436,544       1,344,008       1,344,163       1,116,948       1,117,101       1,117,250       1,024,015       1,024,085       1,024,725         1,025,365       1,026,006           


(92,646)           -                    (227,489)         -                    -                    (93,321)           -                    -                    -                      -                   (99,000)              


110                155               274                153                149               85                  70                  640                640                  641               610                   


1,436,544       1,344,008       1,344,163       1,116,948       1,117,101       1,117,250       1,024,015       1,024,085       1,024,725       1,025,365         1,026,006       927,616             


reduction in available cash for commitments to Renewable program projects with board approval, or when board approval not required, with signed agreements
reduction in available cash for commitments to Efficiency program projects with signed agreements
reduction in available cash to cover cashflow variability and winter revenue risk
dedicated funds set aside in separate bank accounts


Actual Budget 2011-B-02


Page 3 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2011 - December 2012
Based on 2011-B-02, 2012-P-02


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding


  Self Direct Repayments


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out
Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Dedicated funds Adjustment


Committed Funds Adjustment


Cash Reserve


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted by Dedicated Funds


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances
Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Dedicated funds adjustment:
Committed funds adjustment:


Cash reserve:
Escrow:


2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012


January February March April May June July August September October November December


17,160,243      16,242,959      14,637,394     13,250,443      12,596,750     11,882,967      12,201,940      12,146,826      11,480,872     11,310,385        12,380,439      15,512,542      


-                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                     -                    -                    -                    -                      -                     -                     


16,667            16,667            16,667           16,667            16,667           16,667            16,667            16,667            16,667            16,667              16,667            16,667            


17,176,909      16,259,626      14,654,060     13,267,109      12,613,417     11,899,634      12,218,606      12,163,492      11,497,538     11,327,052        12,397,106      15,529,208      


3,773,451       3,218,301       3,268,061       3,268,222       3,421,294       3,421,294        3,421,375       3,912,429       3,962,107       3,962,107         3,980,893        3,980,893        


2,646,395       2,983,859       3,540,902       4,532,055       4,158,896       4,562,227        4,916,419       4,945,858       5,710,614       7,880,741         8,443,041        18,388,881      


718,810          718,810          718,810         718,810          718,810         718,810          718,810          718,810          718,810          718,810            718,810          718,810          


1,068,910       964,709          964,685         1,004,480       954,933         955,087          994,754          1,081,424       1,081,464       1,121,116         1,116,017        1,103,943        


216,142          133,342          132,219         196,618          196,323         193,547          133,242          125,577          136,362          134,117            293,579          144,585          


8,423,709       8,019,021       8,624,676       9,720,185       9,450,256       9,850,966        10,184,600      10,784,098      11,609,358     13,816,891        14,552,340      24,337,112      


8,753,201       8,240,605       6,029,384       3,546,924       3,163,161       2,048,668        2,034,006       1,379,394       (111,819)         (2,489,840)        (2,155,235)       (8,807,903)       


70,363,536      79,116,737      87,357,342     93,386,726      96,933,650     100,096,811    102,145,479    104,179,485    105,558,880    105,447,060      102,957,220    100,801,986    


79,116,737      87,357,342      93,386,726     96,933,650      100,096,811   102,145,479    104,179,485    105,558,880    105,447,060    102,957,220      100,801,986    91,994,083      


(14,924,558)    (15,285,391)    (15,674,975)    (15,607,225)    (15,920,476)    (16,241,311)     (16,431,895)    (16,716,653)    (16,538,336)    (16,204,750)      (15,944,333)     (7,842,384)       


(10,111,911)    (11,454,701)    (12,682,219)    (13,716,188)    (15,095,714)    (17,201,097)     (18,589,431)    (19,950,864)    (20,077,106)    (17,245,358)      (13,536,358)     (6,645,450)       


(6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)       (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)        (6,800,000)       (6,800,000)       


47,280,269   53,817,250   58,229,532  60,810,237   62,280,621  61,903,071   62,358,159   62,091,362   62,031,618   62,707,113     64,521,295   70,706,249   


927,616          829,165          829,683         830,202          731,690         732,147          732,605          634,032          634,428          634,824            635,221          635,618          


(99,000)           -                    -                    (99,000)           -                    -                     (99,000)           -                    -                    -                      -                     (99,000)           


549                518                519               488                457               458                 427                396                397                397                  397                 366                 


829,165          829,683          830,202         731,690          732,147         732,605          634,032          634,428          634,824          635,221            635,618          536,984          


reduction in available cash for commitments to Renewable program projects with board approval, or when board approval not required, with signed agreements
reduction in available cash for commitments to Efficiency program projects with signed agreements
reduction in available cash to cover cashflow variability and winter revenue risk
dedicated funds set aside in separate bank accounts


Projection 2012-P-02


Page 4 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2011
(Unaudited)


August YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,876,904 3,013,751 (136,847) 25,003,869 24,512,463 491,407


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,839,839 2,034,279 (194,440) 16,455,477 16,443,337 12,140


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 619,237 584,939 34,299 15,196,270 14,169,090 1,027,180


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 162,227 205,293 (43,066) 768,679 1,179,511 (410,832)


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
Total Public Purpose Funds 5,498,207 5,838,261 (340,054) 57,424,296 56,304,401 1,119,895


Incremental Funds - PGE 2,006,446 2,811,609 (805,164) 19,159,528 19,486,695 (327,167)


Incremental Funds - PacifiCorp 1,551,231 1,643,612 (92,381) 14,830,678 13,653,737 1,176,941


NW Natural - Industrial DSM 0 172,733 (172,733) 1,558,336 1,263,062 295,274


NW Natural - Washington 0 0 0 642,144 495,208 146,936


Special Projects - Clackamas County 0 0 0 4,450 0 4,450


Contributions 0 0 0 735 0 735


Revenue from Investments 16,139 16,667 (528) 128,137 133,336 (5,199)
----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 9,072,023 10,482,882 (1,410,859) 93,748,304 91,336,438 2,411,866
============== ============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 3,775,595 3,726,552 (49,043) 26,885,547 28,630,557 1,745,010


Incentives 5,697,448 6,178,436 480,988 33,800,300 48,418,702 14,618,402


Salaries and Related Expenses 618,263 708,387 90,124 5,093,646 5,667,096 573,450


Professional Services 371,851 1,146,947 775,097 3,534,818 8,963,726 5,428,908


Supplies 4,063 6,118 2,055 20,686 47,278 26,592


Telephone 9,887 5,463 (4,424) 30,094 43,700 13,606


Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,005 5,058 4,053 11,048 40,467 29,418


Occupancy Expenses 33,462 43,350 9,887 277,753 337,625 59,872


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 30,539 53,505 22,966 325,509 290,703 (34,805)


Call Center 13,063 18,799 5,736 131,457 171,847 40,390


Printing and Publications 1,501 17,588 16,086 52,643 144,900 92,257


Travel 4,460 16,356 11,896 66,829 140,846 74,017


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 2,317 31,433 29,117 80,726 257,717 176,991


Insurance 7,245 8,333 1,088 63,575 66,667 3,091


Miscellaneous Expenses 660 300 (360) 3,065 2,400 (665)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 2,768 10,044 7,275 125,221 94,269 (30,952)


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 10,574,127 11,976,668 1,402,541 70,502,917 93,318,499 22,815,582


============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (1,502,105) (1,493,787) (8,318) 23,245,387 (1,982,061) 25,227,448
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


IS-Acct-YTD-001


Page 5 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2011


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communications & Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General Customer Service Expenses Total Budget Variance


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 54,820,925 5,864,922 60,685,847 60,685,847 77,049,259 16,363,412
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,321,912 593,860 1,915,772 1,070,512 335,189 1,405,701 3,321,473 3,620,316 298,843
Outsourced Services 1,789,007 316,202 2,105,209 116,278 409,966 526,244 2,631,453 6,262,484 3,631,031
Planning and Evaluation 934,734 139,070 1,073,804 13,628 13,628 1,087,432 1,694,578 607,146
Customer Service Management 486,626 20,833 507,459 507,459 736,873 229,414
Trade Allies Network 247,736 16,939 264,675 264,675 438,685 174,010


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------- -------------------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------ -------------------
Total Program Expenses 59,600,940 6,951,827 66,552,767 1,186,790 758,783 1,945,573 68,498,340 89,802,194 21,303,854


Program Support Costs


Supplies 4,319 2,139 6,458 6,680 1,477 8,157 14,615 26,126 11,511
Postage and Shipping Expenses 5,363 897 6,260 1,417 590 2,007 8,267 17,024 8,757
Telephone 5,114 2,794 7,908 3,722 1,173 4,895 12,803 9,677 (3,126)
Printing and Publications 32,917 7,042 39,959 1,884 5,448 7,332 47,291 135,869 88,578
Occupancy Expenses 70,696 32,290 102,986 51,047 21,262 72,309 175,295 206,892 31,597
Insurance 16,317 7,453 23,770 11,782 4,907 16,689 40,459 42,637 2,178
Equipment 3,667 43,073 46,740 2,648 1,103 3,751 50,491 14,559 (35,932)
Travel 21,515 17,720 39,235 10,980 1,549 12,529 51,764 118,847 67,083
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 11,376 8,330 19,706 39,012 1,628 40,640 60,346 180,134 119,788
Depreciation & Amortization 3,420 9,101 12,521 2,469 1,028 3,497 16,018 8,589 (7,429)
Dues, Licenses and Fees 34,039 17,300 51,339 60,706 830 61,536 112,875 77,765 (35,110)
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,368 7 1,375 11 1,311 1,322 2,697 1,800 (897)
IT Services 881,280 154,417 1,035,697 250,150 125,809 375,959 1,411,656 2,676,390 1,264,734


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------- -------------------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------ -------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,091,391 302,562 1,393,953 442,509 168,116 610,625 2,004,578 3,516,304 1,511,726


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------- -------------------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------ -------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 60,692,334 7,254,389 67,946,723 1,629,300 926,900 2,556,200 70,502,917 93,318,499 22,815,582


========== ========== =========== =========== =============== =========== ========== ========== ===========


OPUC measure, versus 11% 4%


Exp-Acct-YTD-002


Page 6 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2011
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL


PGE PacifiCorp Total
NWN 


Industrial NW Natural Cascade Avista Oregon Total NWN WA ETO Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $19,441,879 $12,776,690 $32,218,569 $15,196,270 $768,679 $48,183,518 $48,183,518 $5,561,991 $3,678,787 $9,240,778 $57,424,296
Incremental Funding 19,159,528 14,830,678 33,990,206 1,558,336 35,548,542 642,144 36,190,686 36,190,686
Contributions 735 735
Special Projects 1,662 1,662 2,788 4,450 4,450 4,450
Revenue from Investments 128,137 128,137


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 38,603,069 27,607,368 66,210,437 1,558,336 15,199,058 768,679 83,736,510 642,144 84,378,654 5,561,991 3,678,787 9,240,778 128,872 93,748,304


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,435,945 1,101,050 2,536,994 29,050 676,295 76,199 3,318,539 85,174 3,403,713 317,340 276,520 593,860 3,997,573
  Program Delivery 10,830,264 7,939,833 18,770,097 328,783 2,696,093 343,858 22,138,831 158,057 22,296,888 82,229 56,875 139,104 22,435,992
  Incentives 13,381,015 9,402,901 22,783,916 76,288 4,514,582 509,215 27,884,001 190,483 28,074,484 3,842,871 1,882,949 5,725,820 33,800,304
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 715,671 539,554 1,255,225 5,566 256,431 25,376 1,542,598 16,809 1,559,407 73,152 69,568 142,720 1,702,127
  Program Marketing/Outreach 1,381,106 956,546 2,337,653 3,034 604,560 72,619 3,017,866 46,683 3,064,549 51,900 35,689 87,589 3,152,138
  Program Legal Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Program Quality Assurance 26,116 22,935 49,051 0 26,897 3,090 79,038 0 79,038 7,763 564 8,327 87,365
  Outsourced  Services 172,719 137,018 309,736 551 74,578 3,098 387,964 0 387,964 127,259 89,130 216,389 604,353
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 301,757 221,485 523,241 497 174,020 20,187 717,945 16,416 734,361 25,263 12,509 37,772 772,133
  IT Services 380,385 285,385 665,771 4,386 172,332 19,359 861,847 19,433 881,280 85,651 68,766 154,417 1,035,697
  Other Program Expenses 90,919 66,365 157,284 2,406 28,985 3,670 192,345 18,305 210,650 91,226 57,165 148,391 359,041


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 28,715,896 20,673,072 49,388,968 450,561 9,224,775 1,076,670 60,140,974 551,360 60,692,334 4,704,654 2,549,735 7,254,389 67,946,723


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Notes 1 & 2) 689,096 495,697 1,184,793 10,734 222,184 25,921 1,443,632 13,114 1,456,746 107,927 64,627 172,554 1,629,300
  Communications & Customer Svc (Notes 1 & 2) 392,023 281,999 674,022 6,106 126,399 14,746 821,274 7,461 828,735 61,399 36,766 98,165 926,900


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
Total Administrative Costs 1,081,119 777,696 1,858,816 16,840 348,582 40,667 2,264,906 20,575 2,285,481 169,325 101,394 270,719 2,556,200


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 29,797,016 21,450,770 51,247,786 467,401 9,573,355 1,117,338 62,405,880 571,932 62,977,812 4,873,978 2,651,128 7,525,106 70,502,917


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 8,806,053 6,156,598 14,962,651 1,090,935 5,625,703 (348,659) 21,330,630 70,212 21,400,842 688,013 1,027,659 1,715,672 128,872 23,245,387


========== ========== ========== =========== ========== ======== ====== =========== ======= ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ===========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/10 (Note 4) 14,983,896 (1,961,443) 13,022,453 805,043 5,878,939 526,165 25,458 20,258,058 675,003 20,933,061 21,576,604 8,203,634 29,780,238 10,319,233 61,032,532
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 5,000,000 7,900,000 7,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (9,600,000)
Interest re-attributed (1,740,000) (1,740,000) (5,000,000) (6,740,000) (6,740,000) 6,740,000


========== ========== ========== =========== ========== ======== ====== =========== ======= ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ===========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 23,789,949 5,355,155 29,145,104 1,895,978 11,504,642 177,506 25,458 42,748,688 745,215 43,493,903 22,264,617 10,931,293 33,195,910 7,588,105 84,277,921


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communications & Customer Service Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2010 reflects audited results.


Page 7 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expense by Service Territory


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2011
(Unaudited)


PGE
Pacific 
Power


Subtotal 
Elec. Utilities


NWN 
Industrial


NW Natural 
Gas Cascade


Subtotal Gas 
Providers Oregon Total


NWN 
WA ETO Total YTD Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Existing Buildings 7,783,516 4,228,927 12,012,443 48,588 2,067,253 171,727 2,287,568 14,300,011 215,255 14,515,266 18,903,544 4,388,278
New Buildings 2,375,008 2,966,518 5,341,526 1,191,508 59,306 1,250,814 6,592,340 6,592,340 7,000,098 407,758
NEEA 841,438 634,769 1,476,207 0 1,476,207 1,476,207 1,631,731 155,524


-------------- ------------------ ------------------ --------------------------------------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------
  Total Commercial 10,999,962 7,830,214 18,830,176 48,588 3,258,761 231,033 3,538,382 22,368,558 215,255 22,583,813 27,535,373 4,951,560


Industrial
Production Efficiency 5,944,709 4,275,246 10,219,955 418,813 213,566 121,612 753,991 10,973,946 10,973,946 14,344,367 3,370,421
NEEA 449,780 339,307 789,087 0 789,087 789,087 817,393 28,306


-------------- ------------------ ------------------ --------------------------------------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------
  Total Industrial 6,394,489 4,614,553 11,009,042 418,813 213,566 121,612 753,991 11,763,033 11,763,033 15,161,760 3,398,727


Residential
Existing Homes 4,431,217 3,901,328 8,332,545 4,571,534 524,799 5,096,333 13,428,878 211,084 13,639,962 16,801,165 3,161,203
New Homes/Products 6,764,332 4,194,120 10,958,452 1,529,494 239,894 1,769,388 12,727,840 145,593 12,873,433 13,846,448 973,015
NEEA 1,207,016 910,555 2,117,571 0 2,117,571 2,117,571 2,154,603 37,032


-------------- ------------------ ------------------ --------------------------------------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------
  Total Residential 12,402,565 9,006,003 21,408,568 6,101,028 764,693 6,865,721 28,274,289 356,677 28,630,966 32,802,216 4,171,250


-------------- ------------------ ------------------ --------------------------------------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Costs 29,797,016 21,450,770 51,247,786 467,401 9,573,355 1,117,338 11,158,094 62,405,880 571,932 62,977,812 75,499,349 12,521,537


-------------- ------------------ ------------------ --------------------------------------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------


Renewables


Biopower 98,484 433,026 531,510 0 531,510 531,510 2,002,670 1,471,160
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 3,983,449 1,937,763 5,921,212 0 5,921,212 5,921,212 10,688,590 4,767,378
Other Renewable 792,045 280,339 1,072,384 1,072,384 1,072,384 5,127,890 4,055,506


-------------- ------------------ ------------------ --------------------------------------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------
  Renewables Program Costs 4,873,978 2,651,128 7,525,106 0 7,525,106 7,525,106 17,819,150 10,294,044


-------------- ------------------ ------------------ --------------------------------------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------


======== ========== ========== ======== ========= ======= ========== ========== ======= ========= ============ ========
  Cost Grand Total 34,670,994 24,101,898 58,772,892 467,401 9,573,355 1,117,338 11,158,094 69,930,986 571,932 70,502,917 93,318,499 22,815,581


======== ========== ========== ======== ========= ======= ========== ========== ======= ======== ============ ========


PUC-Proj-ST-07-C


Page 8 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Two Months and Year to Date Ended August 31, 2011
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & CUSTOMER SERVICE
QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER YTD QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER YTD


ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $17,365 $93,930 $76,564 $99,808 $239,146 $139,338 $87,666 $271,954 $184,288 $409,804 $712,711 $302,907


Legal Services 186 14,375 14,189 16,081 38,333 22,252


Salaries and Related Expenses 255,088 474,591 219,504 1,070,512 1,265,577 195,065 80,578 130,959 50,381 335,189 349,223 14,034


Supplies 1,161 250 (911) 3,589 667 (2,922) 175 500 325 190 1,333 1,144


Telephone 255 710 455 906 933 28


Postage and Shipping Expenses 625 625 1,667 1,667 1,250 1,250 3,333 3,333


Noncapitalized Equipment 500 500 1,333 1,333


Printing and Publications 33 75 42 175 200 25 12,500 12,500 4,736 33,333 28,598


Travel 1,855 8,613 6,758 10,975 22,967 11,991 322 1,500 1,178 1,548 4,000 2,452


Conference, Training & Mtngs 13,240 38,662 25,422 39,012 103,100 64,088 302 4,750 4,448 1,628 12,667 11,039


Miscellaneous Expenses 275 275 733 733 1,306 (1,306)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 54,357 1,415 (52,942) 60,706 6,193 (54,513) 168 1,250 1,082 830 3,333 2,503


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 19,755 36,772 17,017 77,386 97,123 19,737 7,320 13,616 6,297 32,232 35,964 3,732


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 58,755 186,635 127,879 250,150 474,265 224,115 29,550 93,865 64,315 125,809 238,524 112,715


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 3,341 7,880 4,540 13,628 21,237 7,609


--------------- ----------------------- --------------------- --------------- ---------------- ------------------- --------------- ----------------------- --------------------- --------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 422,050 856,928 434,877 1,629,300 2,250,903 621,604 209,422 540,525 331,103 926,900 1,416,992 490,093


======== ============= =========== ======== ========= ========== ======== ============= =========== ======== ========= ==========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 2nd  Month of Quarter
Exp-Prog-YTD-002


Page 9 of 10







$-
$10 
$20 
$30 
$40 
$50 
$60 
$70 
$80 
$90 


$100 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2011


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$5 


$10 


$15 


$20 


$25 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2011


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$20 


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2011


$50


$60 


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2011


Page 10 of 10


$-
$10 
$20 
$30 
$40 
$50 
$60 
$70 
$80 
$90 


$100 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2011


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$5 


$10 


$15 


$20 


$25 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2011


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$2 


$4 


$6 


$8 


$10 


$12 


$14 


$16 


$18 


$20 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2011


Budget
Actual
Last Yr


$-


$10 


$20 


$30 


$40 


$50 


$60 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2011


Budget
Actual
Last Yr


Page 10 of 10








Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET


July 31, 2011
(Unaudited)


JUL JUN DEC Change from Change from
2011 2011 2010 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents 88,380,345 87,871,471 67,600,402 508,874 20,779,943
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 1,024,015 1,117,250 1,436,544 (93,235) (412,529)
  Investments 8,042,156 0 (8,042,156)
  Receivables 13,520 12,163 72,173 1,356 (58,653)
  Prepaid Expenses 666,706 724,494 420,340 (57,788) 246,366
  Advances to Vendors 2,075,508 2,324,394 1,684,682 (248,886) 390,826


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
   Total Current Assets 92,160,094 92,049,772 79,256,297 110,321 12,903,797


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 63,213 87,564 87,564 (24,351) (24,351)
  Computer Hardware and Software 1,011,789 1,011,789 976,859 0 34,930
  Software Development 756,501 695,829 397,503 60,672 358,998
  Leasehold Improvements 41,995 41,995 22,382 0 19,613
  Office Equipment and Furniture 138,156 138,156 138,156 0 0


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 2,011,654 1,975,333 1,622,464 36,321 389,190
  Less Depreciation (1,051,204) (1,052,505) (991,466) 1,301 (59,738)


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 960,450 922,828 630,998 37,622 329,452


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 28,000 28,000 28,000 0 0
  Deferred Compensation Asset 272,645 267,121 233,677 5,524 38,967


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Other Assets 300,645 295,121 261,677 5,524 38,967


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Assets 93,421,188 93,267,721 80,148,972 153,467 13,272,216


============= ============= ============= ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 6,834,646 7,440,566 18,377,833 (605,920) (11,543,186)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 506,095 527,684 444,846 (21,589) 61,249


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 7,340,742 7,968,251 18,822,679 (627,509) (11,481,938)


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 23,915 28,698 57,397 (4,783) (33,481)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 272,645 267,121 233,677 5,524 38,967
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 3,861 3,095 2,685 766 1,176


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 300,421 298,914 293,759 1,507 6,662


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Liabilities 7,641,163 8,267,165 19,116,438 (626,002) (11,475,276)


Net Assets
  Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 1,024,015 1,117,250 1,436,544 (93,235) (412,529)
  Unrestricted Net Assets 84,756,010 83,883,306 59,595,989 872,704 25,160,021


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Net Assets 85,780,026 85,000,556 61,032,534 779,469 24,747,492


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 93,421,188 93,267,721 80,148,972 153,467 13,272,216


============= ============= ============= ============= =============
BS-Acct-YTD-001


Page 1 of 10







 January February March April May June July Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 8,694,980$    6,344,720$     2,559,208$    3,816,925$    2,653,406$    (101,217)$        779,470$      24,747,492$  


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 23,088          5,576              10,790          7,316            7,134            7,135               (1,301)           59,738          
Deferred Rent Amortization (4,783)           (4,783)             (4,783)           (4,783)           (4,784)           (4,783)              (4,783)           (33,482)         


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 24,343          (2,401)             (1,933)           (3,899)           38,219          (2,842)              (4,588)           46,899          
Other Receivables (8,688)           19,464            (35,219)         34,269          1,928            (3,232)              3,232            11,754          
Advances to Vendors 490,581        597,005          (1,585,565)    226,886        627,553        (996,172)          248,886        (390,826)       
Other Assets (334,067)       46,711            82,620          (292,436)       68,164          91,410             52,264          (285,334)       
A/P - Program Subcontracts (13,627)         (419,302)         (848,049)       (521,501)       956,677        (75,510)            399,523        (521,789)       
A/P - Incentives (10,910,385)  (181,507)         1,709,847     (1,300,523)    (170,579)       860,329           (999,470)       (10,992,288)  
A/P - Professional Services (10,705)         5,181              (7,985)           2,180            (9,866)           (8,099)              (3,410)           (32,704)         
A/P - Operations 27,651          32,706            (74,019)         (60,637)         77,142          3,960               (2,564)           4,239            
Payroll and related accruals 22,479          54,457            14,780          9,512            12,222          2,830               (16,065)         100,215        
Other liabilities 310               0 100 766               1,176            


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies (1,998,823)    6,497,827       1,819,692     1,913,409     4,257,217     (226,191)          451,960        12,715,090    


Investing Activites:


A/P Fixed Assets
(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets 36,107          (51,678)           (52,521)         (26,492)         (114,016)       (144,269)          (36,321)         (389,190)       


Cash used in Investing Activities 36,107          (51,678)           (52,521)         (26,492)         (114,016)       (144,269)          (36,321)         (389,190)       


Cash at beginning of Period 77,079,102    75,116,386     81,562,537    83,329,708    85,215,978    89,359,180      88,988,721    77,079,102    


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash (1,962,716)    6,446,152       1,767,173     1,886,270     4,143,202     (370,461)          415,640        12,325,259    


Cash at end of period 75,116,386$  81,562,537$    83,329,708$  85,215,978$  89,359,180$  88,988,721$    89,404,360$  89,404,360$  


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2011


Page 2 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2011 - December 2012
Based on 2011-B-02, 2012-P-02


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding


  Self Direct Repayments


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out
Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM
Ending cash & MM


Dedicated funds Adjustment


Committed Funds Adjustment


Cash Reserve


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted by Dedicated Funds


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances
Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Dedicated funds adjustment:
Committed funds adjustment:


Cash reserve:
Escrow:


2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011
January February March April May June July August September October November December


13,547,299   14,361,000   13,017,942  13,366,240   10,870,148   9,911,545    9,490,111     10,466,215   9,884,945     10,012,046     10,680,331  13,377,681      


-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                     -                  -                      


41,516          9,925            11,923         9,728            66,329          10,546         8,929            16,667          16,667          16,667            16,667         16,663             


13,588,815   14,370,925   13,029,865  13,375,968   10,936,477   9,922,091    9,499,040     10,482,882   9,901,612     10,028,713     10,696,998  13,394,344      


2,309,252     2,873,291     6,373,930    3,507,052     1,906,225     4,801,364    (371,478)       1,408,308     3,402,887     3,404,346       3,770,231    3,770,231        


11,932,478   3,969,269     3,503,665    6,255,908     3,668,658     4,166,941    5,598,221     6,178,436     7,051,627     10,027,450     10,851,942  13,394,597      


611,416        625,232        626,835       613,078        624,583        640,340       633,681        708,387        708,387        708,387          708,387       708,387           


324,901        358,297        552,966       590,920        481,585        (441,086)      429,717        426,307        1,146,947     1,250,349       1,011,592    1,008,518        


373,484        98,686          205,296       522,091        112,225        1,124,991    2,793,259     422,139        469,297        254,958          349,493       1,085,644        


15,551,531   7,924,775     11,262,692  11,489,050   6,793,276     10,292,550  9,083,400     9,143,577     12,779,145   15,645,491     16,691,644  19,967,377      


(1,962,716)    6,446,150     1,767,173    1,886,918     4,143,202     (370,459)      415,640        1,339,305     (2,877,533)    (5,616,778)      (5,994,647)   (6,573,033)       


77,079,102   75,116,386   81,561,887  83,329,058   85,215,975   89,359,180  88,988,721   89,404,360   90,743,664   87,866,131     82,249,354  76,254,707      
75,116,386   81,561,887   83,329,058  85,215,975   89,359,180   88,988,721  89,404,360   90,743,664   87,866,131   82,249,354     76,254,707  69,681,674      


(18,106,611)  (18,708,096)  (19,239,991) (17,105,010)  (17,838,450)  (16,394,980) (17,011,425)  (17,722,045)  (17,998,339)  (17,532,867)    (17,137,645) (14,633,974)     


(13,761,983)  (14,200,745)  (14,645,116) (15,454,240)  (16,318,408)  (18,569,608) (19,300,802)  (20,058,090)  (19,883,345)  (17,510,876)    (14,537,339) (9,008,955)       


(6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)   (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)   (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)   (6,800,000)       


36,447,792   41,853,045   42,643,950  45,856,725   48,402,321   47,224,133  46,292,133   46,163,529   43,184,448   40,405,611     37,779,723  39,238,746      


1,436,544     1,436,544     1,344,008    1,344,163     1,116,948     1,117,101    1,117,250     1,024,015     1,024,655     1,025,295       1,025,936    1,026,577        


(92,646)         -                   (227,489)       -                   -                   (93,321)         -                   -                   -                     -                  (99,000)            


110               155              274               153               149              85                 640               640              641                 641              611                  
1,436,544     1,344,008     1,344,163    1,116,948     1,117,101     1,117,250    1,024,015     1,024,655     1,025,295     1,025,936       1,026,577    928,188           


reduction in available cash for commitments to Renewable program projects with board approval, or when board approval not required, with signed agreements
reduction in available cash for commitments to Efficiency program projects with signed agreements
reduction in available cash to cover cashflow variability and winter revenue risk


Actual Budget 2011-B-02


Page 3 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2011 - December 2012
Based on 2011-B-02, 2012-P-02


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding


  Self Direct Repayments


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out
Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM
Ending cash & MM


Dedicated funds Adjustment


Committed Funds Adjustment


Cash Reserve


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted by Dedicated Funds


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances
Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Dedicated funds adjustment:
Committed funds adjustment:


Cash reserve:
Escrow:


2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012
January February March April May June July August September October November December


17,160,243   16,242,959   14,637,394  13,250,443   12,596,750  11,882,967   12,201,940   12,146,826   11,480,872   11,310,385     12,380,439   15,512,542   


-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   -                   -                   -                     -                    -                    


16,667          16,667          16,667         16,667          16,667         16,667          16,667          16,667          16,667          16,667            16,667          16,667          


17,176,909   16,259,626   14,654,060  13,267,109   12,613,417  11,899,634   12,218,606   12,163,492   11,497,538   11,327,052     12,397,106   15,529,208   


3,773,451     3,218,301     3,268,061    3,268,222     3,421,294    3,421,294     3,421,375     3,912,429     3,962,107     3,962,107       3,980,893     3,980,893     


2,646,395     2,983,859     3,540,902    4,532,055     4,158,896    4,562,227     4,916,419     4,945,858     5,710,614     7,880,741       8,443,041     18,388,881   


718,810        718,810        718,810       718,810        718,810       718,810        718,810        718,810        718,810        718,810          718,810        718,810        


1,068,910     964,709        964,685       1,004,480     954,933       955,087        994,754        1,081,424     1,081,464     1,121,116       1,116,017     1,103,943     


216,142        133,342        132,219       196,618        196,323       193,547        133,242        125,577        136,362        134,117          293,579        144,585        


8,423,709     8,019,021     8,624,676    9,720,185     9,450,256    9,850,966     10,184,600   10,784,098   11,609,358   13,816,891     14,552,340   24,337,112   


8,753,201     8,240,605     6,029,384    3,546,924     3,163,161    2,048,668     2,034,006     1,379,394     (111,819)      (2,489,840)      (2,155,235)    (8,807,903)    


69,681,674   78,434,875   86,675,480  92,704,864   96,251,788  99,414,949   101,463,617 103,497,623 104,877,017 104,765,198   102,275,358  100,120,124  
78,434,875   86,675,480   92,704,864  96,251,788   99,414,949  101,463,617  103,497,623 104,877,017 104,765,198 102,275,358   100,120,124  91,312,220   


(14,924,558)  (15,285,391)  (15,674,975) (15,607,225)  (15,920,476) (16,241,311)  (16,431,895)  (16,716,653)  (16,538,336)  (16,204,750)    (15,944,333)  (7,842,384)    


(10,111,911)  (11,454,701)  (12,682,219) (13,716,188)  (15,095,714) (17,201,097)  (18,589,431)  (19,950,864)  (20,077,106)  (17,245,358)    (13,536,358)  (6,645,450)    


(6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)   (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)   (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)      (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    


46,598,407   53,135,388   57,547,670  60,128,375   61,598,759  61,221,209   61,676,297   61,409,500   61,349,756   62,025,251     63,839,433   70,024,387   


928,188        829,737        830,255       830,774        732,263       732,720        733,178        634,606        635,002        635,399          635,796        636,194        


(99,000)         -                   -                   (99,000)         -                   -                    (99,000)         -                   -                   -                     -                    (99,000)         


549               519               519              488               458              458               427               397               397              397                 397               367               
829,737        830,255        830,774       732,263        732,720       733,178        634,606        635,002        635,399        635,796          636,194        537,560        


reduction in available cash for commitments to Renewable program projects with board approval, or when board approval not required, with signed agreements
reduction in available cash for commitments to Efficiency program projects with signed agreements
reduction in available cash to cover cashflow variability and winter revenue risk


Projection 2012-P-02


Page 4 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Seven Months Ending July 31, 2011
(Unaudited)


July YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,737,374 2,869,285 (131,911) 22,126,966 21,498,712 628,254


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,831,710 2,057,604 (225,894) 14,615,638 14,409,058 206,580


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 667,976 999,660 (331,684) 14,577,033 13,584,151 992,881


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 37,783 56,665 (18,881) 606,452 974,218 (367,766)


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
Total Public Purpose Funds 5,274,843 5,983,214 (708,371) 51,926,089 50,466,140 1,459,949


Incremental Funds - PGE 2,028,071 2,366,238 (338,167) 17,153,082 16,675,085 477,997


Incremental Funds - PacifiCorp 1,553,864 1,673,917 (120,054) 13,279,448 12,010,125 1,269,323


NW Natural - Industrial DSM 633,333 172,733 460,600 1,558,336 1,090,329 468,007


NW Natural - Washington 0 0 0 642,144 495,208 146,936


Special Projects - Clackamas County 0 0 0 4,450 0 4,450


Contributions 0 0 0 735 0 735


Revenue from Investments 13,517 16,667 (3,150) 111,998 116,669 (4,671)
----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 9,503,628 10,212,769 (709,141) 84,676,281 80,853,556 3,822,725
============== ============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 2,890,929 3,681,435 790,506 23,109,952 24,904,005 1,794,053


Incentives 4,598,751 6,141,359 1,542,608 28,102,852 42,240,266 14,137,414


Salaries and Related Expenses 617,616 708,387 90,771 4,475,383 4,958,709 483,326


Professional Services 426,307 1,146,907 720,600 3,162,967 7,816,779 4,653,812


Supplies 1,183 6,118 4,935 16,623 41,160 24,537


Telephone 3,656 5,463 1,807 20,208 38,238 18,030


Postage and Shipping Expenses 654 5,058 4,405 10,043 35,408 25,365


Occupancy Expenses 35,304 43,350 8,046 244,291 294,275 49,984


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 40,392 36,491 (3,901) 294,970 237,198 (57,772)


Call Center 10,433 15,563 5,129 118,394 153,049 34,655


Printing and Publications 1,669 17,588 15,918 51,142 127,313 76,170


Travel 10,137 16,356 6,219 62,369 124,491 62,121


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 16,386 31,433 15,048 78,409 226,283 147,874


Insurance 7,245 8,333 1,088 56,330 58,333 2,003


Miscellaneous Expenses 424 300 (124) 2,405 2,100 (305)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 63,072 10,044 (53,029) 122,453 84,225 (38,227)


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 8,724,158 11,874,185 3,150,027 59,928,790 81,341,830 21,413,041


============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 779,469 (1,661,416) 2,440,885 24,747,492 (488,274) 25,235,766
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


IS-Acct-YTD-001


Page 5 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Seven Months Ending July 31, 2011


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communications &Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General Customer Service Expenses Total Budget Variance


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 46,474,367 4,738,437 51,212,804 51,212,804 67,144,271 15,931,467
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,156,880 521,323 1,678,203 945,563 295,059 1,240,622 2,918,825 3,167,776 248,951
Outsourced Services 1,607,570 286,899 1,894,469 109,591 350,898 460,489 2,354,958 5,459,886 3,104,928
Planning and Evaluation 824,452 122,662 947,114 12,020 12,020 959,134 1,484,141 525,007
Customer Service Management 434,247 18,749 452,996 452,996 646,848 193,852
Trade Allies Network 222,547 15,217 237,764 237,764 382,866 145,102


---------------------- ----------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ -----------------
Total Program Expenses 50,720,064 5,703,286 56,423,350 1,055,154 657,977 1,713,131 58,136,481 78,285,788 20,149,307


Program Support Costs


Supplies 3,593 1,811 5,404 5,054 1,104 6,158 11,562 22,859 11,297
Postage and Shipping Expenses 5,099 777 5,876 1,230 520 1,750 7,626 14,896 7,270
Telephone 3,380 2,030 5,410 2,442 694 3,136 8,546 8,468 (78)
Printing and Publications 31,746 6,989 38,735 1,786 5,424 7,210 45,945 119,222 73,277
Occupancy Expenses 61,901 28,319 90,220 44,807 18,957 63,764 153,984 180,302 26,318
Insurance 14,409 6,592 21,001 10,430 4,413 14,843 35,844 37,309 1,465
Equipment 3,318 36,801 40,119 2,402 1,016 3,418 43,537 12,740 (30,797)
Travel 21,515 16,811 38,326 9,417 1,549 10,966 49,292 105,241 55,949
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 11,056 8,107 19,163 37,556 1,444 39,000 58,163 157,616 99,453
Depreciation & Amortization 2,982 7,961 10,943 2,159 913 3,072 14,015 7,515 (6,500)
Dues, Licenses and Fees 31,984 17,300 49,284 60,410 830 61,240 110,524 69,784 (40,740)
Miscellaneous Expenses 730 3 733 5 1,308 1,313 2,046 1,574 (472)
IT Services 781,123 136,868 917,991 221,721 111,511 333,232 1,251,223 2,318,515 1,067,292


---------------------- ----------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ -----------------
Total Program Support Costs 972,836 270,369 1,243,205 399,420 149,684 549,104 1,792,309 3,056,042 1,263,733


---------------------- ----------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ -----------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 51,692,893 5,973,654 57,666,547 1,454,572 807,661 2,262,233 59,928,790 81,341,831 21,413,041


============ ========== ============ =========== =============== ========= ========== ========== ==========


OPUC measure, versus 11% 4%


Exp-Acct-YTD-002


Page 6 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Seven Months Ending July 31, 2011
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL


PGE PacifiCorp Total
NWN 


Industrial NW Natural Cascade Avista Oregon Total NWN WA ETO Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $17,198,615 $11,338,667 $28,537,282 $14,577,033 $606,452 $43,720,767 $43,720,767 $4,928,351 $3,276,971 $8,205,322 $51,926,089
Incremental Funding 17,153,082 13,279,448 30,432,530 1,558,336 31,990,866 642,144 32,633,010 32,633,010
Contributions 735 735
Special Projects 1,662 1,662 2,788 4,450 4,450 4,450
Revenue from Investments 111,998 111,998


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 34,353,359 24,618,115 58,971,474 1,558,336 14,579,821 606,452 75,716,083 642,144 76,358,227 4,928,351 3,276,971 8,205,322 112,733 84,676,281


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,224,012 973,026 2,197,038 26,095 588,333 70,624 2,882,090 72,985 2,955,075 280,592 240,731 521,323 3,476,398
  Program Delivery 9,301,286 6,835,265 16,136,551 297,956 2,293,512 312,065 19,040,084 119,532 19,159,616 69,390 47,751 117,141 19,276,757
  Incentives 10,955,695 8,048,843 19,004,538 65,196 3,798,347 456,604 23,324,685 156,871 23,481,556 3,035,163 1,586,133 4,621,296 28,102,852
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 626,842 470,158 1,097,000 5,318 225,204 23,962 1,351,484 16,113 1,367,597 63,892 59,970 123,862 1,491,459
  Program Marketing/Outreach 1,196,516 859,021 2,055,537 3,116 529,529 65,297 2,653,480 39,297 2,692,777 50,114 35,132 85,246 2,778,023
  Program Legal Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Program Quality Assurance 20,510 20,509 41,020 0 23,580 2,860 67,460 0 67,460 7,763 564 8,327 75,787
  Outsourced  Services 154,528 114,175 268,703 681 66,250 3,011 338,645 0 338,645 113,748 78,130 191,878 530,523
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 263,650 203,689 467,339 629 155,592 18,764 642,324 14,469 656,793 22,534 11,432 33,966 690,759
  IT Services 331,500 256,651 588,151 4,219 153,214 18,314 763,898 17,225 781,123 76,763 60,104 136,867 917,990
  Other Program Expenses 81,007 61,732 142,739 2,267 26,539 3,570 175,116 17,135 192,251 81,944 51,804 133,748 325,999


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 24,155,546 17,843,070 41,998,617 405,477 7,860,102 975,071 51,239,266 453,627 51,692,893 3,801,902 2,171,752 5,973,654 57,666,547


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Notes 1 & 2) 609,296 450,071 1,059,366 10,228 198,262 24,595 1,292,451 11,442 1,303,893 93,216 57,463 150,679 1,454,572
  Communications & Customer Svc (Notes 1 & 2) 338,315 249,905 588,220 5,679 110,086 13,657 717,642 6,354 723,996 51,759 31,906 83,665 807,661


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
Total Administrative Costs 947,611 699,976 1,647,586 15,907 308,348 38,252 2,010,093 17,796 2,027,889 144,975 89,369 234,344 2,262,233


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 25,103,162 18,543,047 43,646,209 421,384 8,168,453 1,013,323 53,249,369 471,422 53,720,791 3,946,879 2,261,120 6,207,999 59,928,790


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------- ------------------- ------------------- ---------- ------------------- -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 9,250,197 6,075,068 15,325,265 1,136,952 6,411,368 (406,871) 22,466,714 170,722 22,637,436 981,472 1,015,851 1,997,323 112,733 24,747,492


========== ========== ========== ========== =========== ========== ====== =========== ======= ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ===========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/10 (Note 4) 14,983,896 (1,961,443) 13,022,453 805,043 5,878,939 526,165 25,458 20,258,058 675,003 20,933,061 21,576,604 8,203,634 29,780,238 10,319,233 61,032,532
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 5,000,000 7,900,000 7,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (9,600,000)
Interest re-attributed (1,740,000) (1,740,000) (5,000,000) (6,740,000) (6,740,000) 6,740,000


========== ========== ========== ========== =========== ========== ====== =========== ======= ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ===========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 24,234,093 5,273,625 29,507,718 1,941,995 12,290,307 119,294 25,458 43,884,772 845,725 44,730,497 22,558,076 10,919,485 33,477,561 7,571,966 85,780,026


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communications & Customer Service Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2010 reflects audited results.


Page 7 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expense by Service Territory


For the Seven Months Ending July 31, 2011
(Unaudited)


PGE
Pacific 
Power


Subtotal 
Elec. 


NWN 
Industrial


NW Natural 
Gas Cascade


Subtotal Gas 
Providers


Oregon 
Total NWN WA ETO Total


YTD 
Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Existing Buildings 6,500,113 3,766,244 10,266,357 65,269 1,743,552 152,169 1,960,990 12,227,347 174,415 12,401,762 16,090,407 3,688,645
New Buildings 2,179,415 2,145,739 4,325,154 837,305 61,147 898,452 5,223,606 5,223,606 5,843,677 620,071
NEEA 707,108 533,431 1,240,539 1,240,539 1,240,539 1,416,781 176,242


---------------- ----------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- -------------- -------------------- ---------------- ------------- --------------- ---------------- ----------------
  Total Commercial 9,386,636 6,445,414 15,832,050 65,269 2,580,857 213,316 2,859,442 18,691,492 174,415 18,865,907 23,350,865 4,484,958


Industrial
Production Efficiency 4,808,307 3,784,800 8,593,107 356,115 200,689 114,473 671,277 9,264,384 9,264,384 11,956,581 2,692,197
NEEA 374,300 282,366 656,666 656,666 656,666 709,798 53,132


---------------- ----------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- -------------- -------------------- ---------------- ------------- --------------- ---------------- ----------------
  Total Industrial 5,182,607 4,067,166 9,249,773 356,115 200,689 114,473 671,277 9,921,050 9,921,050 12,666,379 2,745,329


Residential
Existing Homes 3,484,260 3,498,608 6,982,868 4,021,167 487,469 4,508,636 11,491,504 183,098 11,674,602 14,986,684 3,312,082
New Homes/Products 6,014,410 3,750,882 9,765,292 1,365,740 198,065 1,563,805 11,329,097 113,909 11,443,006 12,023,358 580,352
NEEA 1,035,249 780,977 1,816,226 1,816,226 1,816,226 1,870,717 54,491


---------------- ----------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- -------------- -------------------- ---------------- ------------- --------------- ---------------- ----------------
  Total Residential 10,533,919 8,030,467 18,564,386 5,386,907 685,534 6,072,441 24,636,827 297,007 24,933,834 28,880,759 3,946,925


---------------- ----------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- -------------- -------------------- ---------------- ------------- --------------- ---------------- ----------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Cost 25,103,162 18,543,047 43,646,209 421,384 8,168,453 1,013,323 9,603,160 53,249,369 471,422 53,720,791 64,898,003 11,177,212


---------------- ----------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- -------------- -------------------- ---------------- ------------- --------------- ---------------- ----------------


Renewables


Biopower 80,107 408,976 489,083 489,083 489,083 1,938,195 1,449,112
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 3,220,248 1,616,930 4,837,178 4,837,178 4,837,178 9,658,858 4,821,680
Other Renewable 646,524 235,214 881,738 881,738 881,738 4,846,775 3,965,037


---------------- ----------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- -------------- -------------------- ---------------- ------------- --------------- ---------------- ----------------
  Renewables Program Costs 3,946,879 2,261,120 6,207,999 6,207,999 6,207,999 16,443,828 10,235,829


---------------- ----------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- -------------- -------------------- ---------------- ------------- --------------- ---------------- ----------------


========= ========== ========== ========= ========= ======== =========== ========= ======= ========= ========= =========
  Cost Grand Total 29,050,041 20,804,167 49,854,208 421,384 8,168,453 1,013,323 9,603,160 59,457,368 471,422 59,928,790 81,341,831 21,413,041


========= ========== ========== ========= ========= ======== =========== ========= ======= ========= ========= =========


PUC-Proj-ST-07-C


Page 8 of 10







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Month and Year to Date Ended July 31, 2011
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & CUSTOMER SERVICE
MONTHLY QUARTERLY QUARTER YTD MONTHLY QUARTERLY QUARTER YTD
ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $10,679 $93,930 $83,250 $93,122 $207,836 $114,714 $28,595 $271,954 $243,359 $350,733 $622,059 $271,326


Legal Services 186 14,375 14,189 16,081 33,542 17,460


Salaries and Related Expenses 130,138 474,591 344,454 945,563 1,107,380 161,818 40,448 130,959 90,511 295,059 305,570 10,511


Supplies 52 250 198 2,480 583 (1,897) 500 500 15 1,167 1,152


Telephone 150 710 560 801 817 16


Postage and Shipping Expenses 625 625 1,458 1,458 1,250 1,250 2,917 2,917


Noncapitalized Equipment 500 500 1,167 1,167


Printing and Publications 17 75 59 159 175 17 12,500 12,500 4,736 29,167 24,431


Travel 292 8,613 8,320 9,413 20,096 10,683 322 1,500 1,178 1,548 3,500 1,952


Conference, Training & Mtngs 11,785 38,662 26,878 37,556 90,212 52,657 117 4,750 4,633 1,444 11,083 9,640


Miscellaneous Expenses 275 275 642 642 1,306 (1,306)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 54,061 1,415 (52,646) 60,410 5,722 (54,688) 168 1,250 1,082 830 2,917 2,087


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 9,638 36,772 27,134 67,269 84,865 17,596 3,549 13,616 10,068 28,461 31,425 2,964


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 30,326 186,635 156,309 221,721 410,848 189,128 15,252 93,865 78,613 111,511 206,630 95,119


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 1,733 7,880 6,147 12,020 18,599 6,579


------------------- ----------------------- --------------------- --------------- ---------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------------- --------------------- --------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 247,324 856,928 609,604 1,454,572 1,964,176 509,602 90,184 540,525 450,340 807,661 1,236,201 428,539


========== ============= =========== ======== ========= ========== ========== ============= =========== ======== ========= ==========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 1st Month of Quarter
Exp-Prog-YTD-001


Page 9 of 10







$-


$10 


$20 


$30 


$40 


$50 


$60 


$70 


$80 


$90 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2011


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$5 


$10 


$15 


$20 


$25 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2011


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$20 


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2011


$40 
$45 


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2011


Page 10 of 10


$-


$10 


$20 


$30 


$40 


$50 


$60 


$70 


$80 


$90 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2011


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$5 


$10 


$15 


$20 


$25 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2011


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$2 


$4 


$6 


$8 


$10 


$12 


$14 


$16 


$18 


$20 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2011


Budget
Actual
Last Yr


$-
$5 


$10 
$15 
$20 
$25 
$30 
$35 
$40 
$45 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2011


Budget
Actual
Last Yr


Page 10 of 10








 
 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated March 19, 2011 
 
Administrative Costs 
Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, have general objectives which enable an 
organization’s programs to function.  The organization’s programs in turn provide direct services 
to the organization’s constituents and fulfill the mission of the organization.  
i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach expenses 
 


I. Management and General  
• Includes governance/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, 


payroll, human resources, general legal support, and other general 
organizational management costs. 


• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the 
organization and general public awareness.  


• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based 


upon an allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the 
pool.  


• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for 
accounting efficiency purposes. 


• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer 
management (call center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, 
complaint tracking, etc). The accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that 
benefited by using the ratio of calls into the call center by program (i.e. the allocation 
base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits and taxes. 
• Office operations.  Includes rent, telephone, utilities, supplies, etc.  
• Information Technology (IT) services. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for gas utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the 


board of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, 
and certifying that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting 
principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding 
specific items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified 
opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements 
present an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s 
financial records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a 
qualified opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in 


their annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a 


designated category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward 
for expenditure to the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied 
against the cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked 


by program. 
 


Commitments 
• Represents funds obligated to identified efficiency program participants in the form of 


signed applications or agreements and tracked in the project forecasting system. 
• If the project is not demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed 


funds return to incentive pool. Reapplication would then be required. 
• Funds are expensed when the project is completed. 
• Funds may be held in the operating cash account, or in escrow accounts. 


 
Contract obligations  


• A signed contract for goods or services that creates a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Contract Status Summary Report. 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from 


both a utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and 


societal cost of energy.  







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


3 


• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program 
costs plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 


 
Dedicated Funds 


• Represents funds obligated to identified renewable program participants in the form of 
signed applications or agreements and tracked in the project forecasting system.  


• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 
• Methodology utilized to develop renewable energy activity-based budgets amounts. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual 
program/project; or can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, 
cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total 


program funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining 


program funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a 


cost pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate bank account that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned 
to Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still 
“owned” by Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred 
out of the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the 
income statement for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have 
been received or earned within the month or year.  
 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


4 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive 
payments, with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy 
savings, incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or 
application has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be 
documented by programs using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has 
received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that 
have reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive 
dollars until project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion 
date by project and by service territory must be documented in project records and in 
FastTrack. If project not demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, 
committed funds return to incentive pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Dedicated-Renewable project that has been committed, has a signed agreement, and if 
required, has been approved by the board of directors.  


 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for 


payment for utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy 
efficiency and renewable energy measures in the homes or apartments of such 
residential customers. 
 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as 


defined above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable 
energy measure. 


• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 
 


III. Service Incentives 
• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the 


final cost to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or 
renewable energy measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home 
reviews and technical analysis studies. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency 
practices proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or 
high efficiency lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of 


services and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC 
diagnosis, air filtration, etc. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


5 


Indirect Costs 
• Shared costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning 


individual charges to programs.  
• Allocated to all programs and administration functions based on a standard basis such 


as hours worked, square footage, customer phone calls, etc. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and 


depreciation. 
 
IT Support Services  


• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking 


support of PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Includes technical architecture design and physical infrastructure. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units. 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Expenditures made to fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists 


and are authorized through the program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, 


quality assurance, program-specific marketing and other costs incurred solely for 
program purposes. 


• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 
 


Program Delivery Expense  
• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, 


program coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program 
delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management 


contractors under contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer 


maintenance and general renewable energy consulting. 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a 


program-specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff 


management, etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


6 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual 


programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit 


to the public. 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a 


particular program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support 


costs. 
 Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
 Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following 


categories:  supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; 
occupancy expenses; insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; 
conferences and training; depreciation and amortization; dues, licenses, 
subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll & related expense; 
outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology department 
cost. 


 
Project Specific Costs (for Renewable Energy) 


• Expenses directly related to identified projects or identified customers to assist them in 
constructing or operating renewable projects.  Includes services to prospective as well 
as current customers.   


• Must involve direct contact with the project or customer, individually or in groups, and 
provide a service the customer would otherwise incur at their own expense.   


• Does not include general program costs to reach a broad (unidentified) audience such 
as websites, advertising, program development, or program management.  


• Project-Specific costs may be in the categories of; Incentives, Staff salaries, Program 
delivery, Legal services, Public relations, Creative services, Professional services, 
Travel, Business meetings, Telephone, or Escrow account bank fees. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data 
entry by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on 
deemed savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for 
custom measures.  They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and 
distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used 
for public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution 
factors, evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working 
values. These values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during 
the “true-up” as a result of new information or identified errors. 
  







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


7 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings 
at the time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to 
arrive at this number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is 
agreed to at the beginning of the contract year and is applied to all program measures. 
 This is based on the sum of the adjustments between working and reportable numbers 
in the forecast developed for the program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more 
accurate savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These 
factors are determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. 
The factors are determined based on the best available information from: 


 Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over 
effects and measure impacts to date; and  


 Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from 
electric measure savings.  


 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations, levelized cost calculations and in 
management reports used to track funds spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration 
costs to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of 


administration (management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for 


nonprofits, administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade 
ally network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies 
associated with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as 
call center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center 
per month. 


  







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


8 


True Up 
• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how 


much energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic 
performance and our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data 
factor), anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of 
similar programs have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual 
evaluations of the program and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up 
Report (for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 
years, especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the 
savings are updated through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








 


 
 
Briefing Paper 
Contract Extensions for a Production Efficiency 
Custom Track PDC 
October 5, 2011 


Summary 
Staff proposes two-year extensions of Nexant’s custom track program delivery contract 
for the Production Efficiency Program, through December 2013. Under the board 
resolution approving this contract, the executive director is authorized to extend it for up 
to two years if extension criteria are met and the board does not object.  


 


Background 
• The custom track of the Production Efficiency program targets medium to large 


industries with a broad range of customized services and incentives, including 
capital projects, O&M and Strategic Energy Management. While the program is 
managed in-house, Program Delivery Contractors (PDCs) provide technical 
expertise and facilitation for firms participating in Energy Trust programs. The 
Custom Track represented 2/3 of electric savings achieved by the Production 
Efficiency Program in 2010. 


• In 2008, Energy Trust solicited bids for custom track PDCs and chose RHT, 
PGE-CTS, Cascade and Nexant, Inc. for an initial three-year term with an option 
for up to two years extension.  


• In May of 2011, staff briefed the board of its intention to, absent board objection, 
exercise the 2-year contract extension for 3 of the custom track PDCs (RHT, 
PGE-CTS and Cascade Energy) based on their strong performance in all 
contract extension metrics. The board did not object to these extensions. 


• At that time, staff deferred until Fall 2011 to brief the board on any potential 
extension of Nexant’s PDC contract, giving staff additional time to review 
Nexant's results and evaluate performance against the contract extension 
metrics.   


• The board resolution authorizing the PDC contracts required staff to report to the 
board on the PDCs’ progress and performance before extending the contract. 
The contract extension metrics are: 


1. Cross program referrals 
2. Project pipeline 
3. Innovation 
4. Teamwork 
5. Satisfactory execution of statement of work deliverables 


 







Production Efficiency Custom Track PDC Contract Extension Briefing Paper October 5, 2011 
 


 
Page 2 of 4 


Discussion 
• The 2011 and projected 2012 contract amounts for Nexant are below.  Actual 


amounts obligated in the extended contract will be consistent with the 2012-2013 
board-approved budgets. Program delivery represents 23% of the total 
Production Efficiency budget for 2011, with this contract representing 13% of that 
delivery budget in 2011. 


 


2011 Contract Amount 2012 Estimated Contract Amount  
$822,500 $825,000


 


• Nexant’s performance in relation to extension criteria: 


 
1. Cross-Program Referrals:  Nexant has successfully worked to achieve 


project referrals and increase savings and generation in other Energy 
Trust programs by: 
 


a. Meticulously following protocols to sort projects between programs 
with the Small Industrial Initiative, New Buildings and Existing 
Buildings.  


b. Working cooperatively and creatively with Energy Trust's New 
Buildings program management contractor to serve industrial new 
construction projects on a case by case basis, generating qualified 
leads for small industrial and for the Existing Buildings program.  


c. Working with Energy Trust renewable staff to learn the technical 
basics of solar hot water, PV, biomass and biogas combined-heat-
and-power in order to explore these opportunities at industrial 
sites, and routinely scoping for solar hot water interest and 
potential when looking for thermal efficiency opportunities 


d. Providing an ongoing source of referrals to other Energy Trust 
business programs. Nexant has provided 20 qualified leads to 
other programs and PDCs just in the first 7 months of 2011.  


 
2. Project Pipeline: Nexant has built a significant pipeline of projects for 


2011 and 2012 while balancing budget and savings targets by: 
 


a. Creating an annual and mid-year action plan to strategically target 
program offerings for specific participants and sectors and to plan 
new strategic efforts with the Energy Trust. 


b. Ramping up outreach to historically under-participating sites and 
developing a more comprehensive engagement by PDC 
engineers to drive deeper savings at top participating sites. .  


c. Accurately tracking project milestones and consistently updating 
the Program on changes to project schedules to improve the 
program’s forecasting accuracy. 


  







Production Efficiency Custom Track PDC Contract Extension Briefing Paper October 5, 2011 
 


 
Page 3 of 4 


Project Pipeline    (named projects, working kWh and therms as of 
9/7/11)  


 
2011 Stretch 


Goal 2011 pipeline 2012 pipeline 


Electric (kWh) 
 


11,750,000         10,300,000 2,100,000 


Gas (therms) 
 


85,000         123,500 38,000 
 
 


3. Innovation: Nexant has closely engaged Energy Trust staff to implement 
new strategies and measures to achieve greater market penetration. 
These innovations include:  
   


a. Adding low-cost operations and maintenance measures to the 
custom track in 2009 and 2010, testing and verifying approaches 
to technical analysis, promoting persistence of savings, and 
rapidly accelerating deployment of these measures through the 90 
by 90 Custom O&M special offer when most needed during the 
economic downturn.  


b. Adding gas incentives to the custom track in mid-2009.  In addition 
to deploying these new services and incentives, they had to 
quickly train their field engineers to identify opportunities and 
provide rigorous 3rd party technical review of studies.    


c. Coordinating and recruiting for the successful Industrial Efficiency 
Initiative (IEI) strategic energy management (SEM) pilot in 2010. 
In 2011, Nexant is bringing the new suite of enhanced technical 
services to their territory. This program development has shifted 
the PDC focus from retrofits to comprehensive and continuous 
energy solutions.  
 


4. Teamwork: Nexant has engaged with Energy Trust staff by: 
 


a. Working with the Energy Trust Industrial Marketing Manager and 
Communications and Customer Service group to better represent 
all Energy Trust programs, refine marketing approaches in 
industrial sector and penetrate each market sector more 
effectively.  


b. Participating actively with the other PDCs in quarterly meetings to 
share challenges, best practices and lessons learned from the 
field.  


 
5. Deliverables:   


 
a. Although Nexant did not reach savings goals in 2009 or 2010, 


their savings results have improved each year, and in 2011 they 
are poised to exceed conservative goals in electric and to exceed 
stretch in gas savings. Staff has identified 2 main factors as 
contributing to Nexant’s diminished savings results in the first 2 
years: 







Production Efficiency Custom Track PDC Contract Extension Briefing Paper October 5, 2011 
 


 
Page 4 of 4 


i. Nexant was the only new PDC in 2009, and was also 
assigned to a newly established PE program "territory." 
The other custom track PDCs had prior experience under 
the industrial program when Energy Trust brought it in-
house. Unlike other PDCs, they did not enter 2009 with a 
pipeline of projects. Given the long lead times for many 
industrial capital projects, it took 1 – 2 years to get the 
pipeline developed. In hindsight, savings targets in the first 
2 years of this contract may have been overly aggressive, 
as they were based on historical savings achieved by 
incumbent PDCs in mature territories. 
 


ii. Nexant’s assigned PDC territory is significantly smaller 
than the other custom PDCs and is more challenging, 
including only Central Oregon plus a small set of 8 
historically non-participating High Tech manufacturers. 
Central Oregon has limited industry, much of which is 
forest products. These businesses and the Central Oregon 
region in particular have been more impacted by the 
economic downturn than other areas of the state. Despite 
these challenges, Nexant’s efforts increased participation 
each year in these 2 historically underserved territories 
from 2009 – 2011.   
 


b. Nexant has been the primary source of industrial savings in 
Cascade Natural Gas territory, and their presence and growing 
relationships in Central Oregon continue to be the program’s best 
opportunity to achieve industrial gas savings in this region.   


        
      


Nexant Electric (working million kWh) Gas (working therms)


Year 
Stretch 
Goal 


Electric 
Actual 


% of Cons. 
Goal


% of 
stretch


Stretch 
Goal


Gas 
actual 


% of 
stretch


2009     7.8     2.0   34% 25%  65,000 
        
54,150   83%


2010    9.7     6.6   90% 68% 120,000 
      
41,000   33%


2011  11.7    8.8  117% 75% 85,000 98,018  117%
Note: 2011 “Actuals” are pipeline of projects as of Sept. factored by project stage for likelihood of completion 
in 2011. 


 


• If extended, the contract terms for the extension period would remain as initially 
approved, with a modified schedule, savings targets and compensation to reflect 
the board-approved action plans and budgets for 2012 and 2013. 


 
Next Steps 
Staff recommends that the contract with Nexant for delivery of the Custom track of the 
Production Efficiency program be extended to the end of December 2013. If the board 
does not object, the executive director will sign the extension.  





		Briefing Paper






 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
September 13, 2011  


Attendees 


John Reynolds, Roger Hamilton (by telephone), Jason Eisdorfer (by telephone), Amber Cole, 
Fred Gordon, Margie Harris, Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample and John Volkman  


1. Equity policy. The equity policy is up for routine, three-year review. While the existing 
policy is general and the subject is addressed in a broader context in the 2009 strategic plan 
(pp. 18-19), staff sees no need to change the policy except to delete the final paragraph. This 
change would reflect the fact that the strategic plan specifies how the concept will be handled 
over the 2009-2014 period:  


Bring a broad perspective to two-year action plans and annual budgets by considering 
their overall balance and equity. In addition to individual programs and initiatives, Energy 
Trust will view its investment of ratepayer funds from a portfolio perspective by considering 
how well budgets and action plans address the following: 


• Long-term and short-term perspectives: Do they include an appropriate mix of 
initiatives and measures with near-term (1-3 years) and longer-term benefits? 
Investment in new technologies and innovative pilot initiatives like the Path to Net 
Zero pilot and the Positive Energy/OPOWER behavioral pilot will take years to 
generate large quantities of energy savings, and while some will pay off, some will 
not. Yet these investments provide the “next generation” of energy efficiency, energy 
conservation and renewable energy development. It is vital that Energy Trust’s 
portfolio puts due weight on these forward-looking investments. 


• Sector and geographic diversity: Will all customer sectors that contribute funding to 
Energy Trust have equitable opportunities to participate in programs? Is there 
sufficient emphasis on geographic diversity and customers whose participation 
previously was more limited? Energy Trust already explores ways to cost-effectively 
reach more rural consumers, moderate-income households and small businesses. 
Continuing to invest in these efforts is an important way to demonstrate the value of 
energy efficiency and renewable energy state-wide, and that ratepayer funds are 
managed equitably. 


• Reach upstream: Is there appropriate emphasis on reaching upstream to 
manufacturers and supply chains? For example, Energy Trust works with the 
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance to coordinate nationally to promote efficient 
electronic devices, such as televisions and computers. Similar efforts may be 
appropriate for efficient new manufactured homes, refurbishing vending machines, 
and influencing design choices and equipment selections of national chain stores. 
Keeping a place for these upstream initiatives in Energy Trust’s portfolio will 
complement programs with more immediate focus. 


 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


2 


 


The committee endorsed the staff’s proposal and suggested it be put on the board’s consent 
agenda.  
 


2. Data transfer rules. OPUC staff says the OPUC will initiate rulemaking on our data 
transfer rulemaking proposal in mid-September. The draft rules are Attachment 1 (for electric 
utilities) and Attachment 2 (gas utilities). The draft rules are the result of extensive consultation 
over the past few years. We seek the committee’s feedback on a tentative schedule that could 
accelerate implementation of the new rules, essentially by having the policy committee do its 
work on a new Energy Trust policy in parallel with the OPUC’s consideration of rule changes. 
This is tentative because the OPUC has not yet announced a schedule, and it assumes a fairly 
aggressive OPUC schedule: 
 
Date OPUC Energy Trust  Utilities 


Sept. 2011 • Mid-month: 
propose rules, 
invite comment 


• Legal analysis of utility 
obligations to protect customer 
data 


 


October • Comment 
deadline mid-
month 


• 11th - Policy Committee 
recommend policy changes  


• Submit comments  


• 26th – Brief CAC/RAC  


 


• Comment 


• Comment 


November   
 
 
• 22nd - hearing  


• Order adopting 
rules 


• 9th - Brief board on ETO policy 
and OPUC rule proposals 


• 22nd - OPUC testimony 


 
 
 
• Testimony 


December  • 16th – Board adopt policy 
changes 


• Notify customers 
of new rules 


January 2012  • Negotiate data-transfer agreements 


 
The committee agreed to work toward the accelerated schedule, which would allow us to 
complete the process and implement a new system in early 2012. 
 


3. Status report on 2012 utility funding discussions. Margie and Steve Lacey briefed the 
committee on 2012 funding discussions with the utilities. We could not find a time for a utility 
roundtable until October 6; we will brief the full board on October 5. We have proposed several 
levels of mitigation options. We aim to close part of the gap left by BETC. Mitigation would not 
be limited to the two programs we identified for 2011. The utilities are leaning toward mitigation 
at a level that would help achieve stretch savings goals. This would cover about 10% of the 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


3 


 


BETC gap, about an $8 million increase across all the utilities. There are more discussions and 
the utilities are still making decisions, but it looks positive so far. Oregon’s budget deficit is 
projected to be even higher than during the 2011 session, and it seems unlikely that Oregon tax 
credits will be increased in 2012. Energy Trust budget increases of this scale bring the efficiency 
budget above $150 million. 


 
4. Strategic utility roundtable. The roundtable is a two-year pilot ending in January 2012 


(see Attachment 3, Operating Principles). The committee talked about what process we want to 
use to help the parties decide whether to continue it. We have heard no complaints about the 
process. The committee asked staff to talk to the OPUC, the utilities individually, CUB, ICNU 
and RNP to sound out their reactions to continuing the process. Staff will document this 
feedback, write a summary document, report back to the committee and then the board. Margie 
suggested that roundtables be scheduled further in advance. The morning before board 
meetings seems to work.  


 
5. Cost-effectiveness policy.  Staff asked the committee to endorse changes to the cost-


effectiveness policy. Staff first proposed these changes in March. They are intended to bring the 
policy in line with IRP and other OPUC-related processes, and limit the policy to cost-
effectiveness analysis per se. Factors that are included in the current policy but not actually 
used in cost-effectiveness analysis are addressed elsewhere (e.g., the strategic plan), would be 
removed from the policy. Staff discussed these revisions with the CAC on May 18. Relatively 
minor issues were raised in that discussion, which have been addressed in Attachments 5 and 
6. Staff believes the proposed changes fairly reflect how we actually do cost-effectiveness 
analysis now.  


 
Proposed changes: 
• Eliminate reference to the consumer perspective, which is not a test of cost-


effectiveness, but a judgment made in program design. 
• Cost-related changes: 


o Acknowledge that Energy Trust now offers services in Washington State, which 
uses a version of the Societal Test. 


o For measures that would be purchased regardless of efficiency actions, the 
incremental cost of upgrading the efficiency of the purchase beyond common 
practice is used. 


o Exclude costs compensated by state and federal tax credits, because they are 
excluded in avoided cost calculations. 


o Exclude costs of state and local program administration because they often 
reflect non-energy considerations. We explored this change with OPUC staff in 
connection with Clean Energy Works, and they acceded to this approach. 


• Benefit-related changes: 
o Energy values are based on avoided cost forecasts used in OPUC processes, 


with potential adjustments for hedge value.  







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


4 


 


o Energy Trust may use proxies for non-energy benefits where they are large and 
unquantified. The OPUC is reportedly working on a new approach to cost-
effectiveness that could change the way we approach this subject. In particular, 
OPUC does not endorse our use of proxy values for non-energy benefits. 
Therefore, our approach to this subject is meant to be used only until the OPUC 
develops an alternative approach.  


o Include bulk transmission system capacity as benefits. 
o Benefits relating to natural gas capacity and reduced gas transmission and 


delivery losses are included where significant and quantifiable. The existing 
policy would not consider these benefits. 


• Treat carbon value consistent with OPUC guidance, which includes it in utility price 
forecasts.  


• Explains current approach to discount rates, which is consistent with SB 838 and OPUC 
planning, utility avoided cost forecasts, etc., and also reflects Energy Trust’s need for an 
aggregate rate. 


It is possible that the committee and the board would have to revisit these changes as soon as 
next year. As noted above, the OPUC is reportedly working on a new approach to cost-
effectiveness analysis. Their view may differ from the attached draft, especially on our use of 
proxy values for non-energy benefits. While they disagree with this approach, it will take time for 
the OPUC to fully develop its alternative, and in the meantime OPUC staff does not expect us to 
deny incentives for measures that we can support only because of proxy values.  
 
The committee endorsed the proposal, after discussing how carbon values are treated in 
integrated resource planning. The committee suggested a simple, clear board presentation. 


 
6. CAC memberships. The committee approved two changes in CAC membership. 


• The Oregon Remodelers’ Association proposes to replace Paul Case with Scott 
Inman as its representative. The ORA has been represented on the CAC for many 
years, brings contractor perspectives to the CAC, and facilitates contractor 
understanding and implementation of Energy Trust programs. 


• PGE proposes to switch their representative from Lauren Shapton to Anne Snyder 
Grassman, who essentially took over Lauren's job after Lauren was promoted. Anne 
began as a Spanish-speaking representative in PGE’s contact center, and was 
promoted to Contact Center leadership. Since 2007, she has worked in Customer 
Program Management, on billing and payment program marketing, on PGE’s 
Renewables program. She led the business energy efficiency marketing, including 
the 2010 and 2011 “Save More, Matter More” campaigns.  Currently she supervises 
the PGE Outreach Specialist team funded by SB 838. 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


5 


 


7. Margie reported that trade allies and contractors are reacting positively to Energy Trust’s 
increased incentives to mitigate the impacts of the tax credit changes. We will gather more 
intelligence and report it in October. The committee discussed risks associated with reaction to 
the legislative changes. 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


6 


 


ATTACHMENT 1  


Electric Consumer Information rule, OAR 860-038-0540 


(1) Subject to Commission approval, an electric company shall determine the proprietary 
consumer information that will be made available to its competitive operations, ESSs, affiliates 
and aggregators. An electric company shall file and maintain a tariff with the Commission that 
specifies the types of information, along with the prices, terms, conditions, and consent 
procedures associated with the transfer of such information to the entities described in this 
section. The provisions of section (1) do not apply to information transferred pursuant to section 
(2) of this rule. 


(2) This section applies only to customers with usage less than one average megawatt and 
those customers who elect to opt-in as described in Section (7).  If the Commission directs that 
public purpose funds be paid to a nongovernmental entity for investment in the public purposes 
described in ORS 757.612(3)(b)(A) and (B), then an electric company shall transfer to that 
entity, hereinafter known as the Administrator, the following proprietary consumer information 
for electric company consumers, if available.  


(a) Consumer name; service address (including apartment/unit/suite number); mailing 
address; in-service/activation date; building type (e.g., multifamily) and business type 
(e.g., SIC or NAICS code);  initially, 18 months of the most recent historical usage data 
on a per-billing month basis (total billed kilowatt hours and kW); meter number and other 
point-of-delivery identification numbers; rate schedule identifier for each consumer 
account; whether consumer is applying self-direct credits against its energy efficiency 
and/or renewable public purpose charge during each billing period; information about 
any energy efficiency program participation and type of space heat used by consumer; 
and updates for all of the usage data and revisions to the underlying database 
information on a periodic basis under subsection (4)(d) of this rule. For unmetered 
accounts (e.g., street lights, cell towers, phone booths, and electric utility service 
buildings), electric companies shall transfer contracted kilowatt-hour consumption rather 
than actual billed consumption. 


(b) An electric company shall not provide social security numbers, billing and payment 
history, credit information, tax identification numbers, driver license numbers, life support 
information, or any medical information. 


(3) The Administrator shall transfer to the electric company information, if available, regarding 
electric company customer participation in electric efficiency programs where electric company 
funding has been applied. At a minimum, the Administrator shall provide: service address 
(including apartment/unit/suite number); meter number and other point-of-delivery identification 
numbers; and information about electric efficiency program participation, such as measures 
installed since the inception of the Administrator’s delivery of the efficiency programs. The 
information provided by the Administrator to the electric company shall be used by the electric 
company solely for the purpose of supporting the Administrator’s implementation of energy 
efficiency and renewable energy programs, and/or ensuring customer or public safety. 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


7 


 


(4) The manner by which such information is transferred shall be governed by an Information 
Transfer Agreement, which is executed and maintained by an electric company and the 
Administrator. An Information Transfer Agreement shall acknowledge the Administrator’s 
obligations to protect proprietary consumer information in accordance with this rule and the 
Administrator’s policy or policies adopted pursuant to Section 10, below, and shall specify: 


(a) The database format to be used for the transfer of information; 


(b) The billing period, payment arrangements, and estimates of incremental costs 
incurred by an electric company or, for information in section 3, the Administrator, for the 
transfer of the information; 


(c) Timelines for information transfer; 


(d) Timelines for updates for all of the data and revisions to the underlying database 
information; 


(e) That the proprietary consumer information will be used by the Administrator to 
implement, administer, and evaluate energy efficiency and renewable energy programs 
and will not be used for telemarketing, and if the Administrator intends to use such 
information for other direct marketing activities, the Administrator shall notify the electric 
company whose customers are likely to be affected and coordinate such activities with 
the electric company; 


(f) That the release of proprietary consumer information by the Administrator for any 
other purpose or to any party, other than the utility, who has not signed an agreement to 
treat such information confidentially pursuant to Section 11(b), below, shall not be made 
without consent of the consumer; and 


(g) Provisions for modification of the Information Transfer Agreement.  


(5)  If the Administrator and an electric company cannot agree on the terms and conditions of an 
Information Transfer Agreement, the Commission shall set the terms and conditions based upon 
input from the Administrator and electric company. 


(6) If the Administrator or an electric company notifies the other that the information supplied by 
the other is insufficient, incomplete, or not usable, the Administrator and electric company will 
attempt to resolve the issue and if necessary, modify the Information Transfer Agreement. If the 
Administrator and electric company cannot resolve the issue, the electric company or the 
Administrator may promptly seek Commission resolution of the dispute.  


 (7) An electric company shall notify in writing consumers whose usage is 1 aMW or greater 
(over 1 aMW consumer) to provide an opportunity to opt in to the information transfer. 
Consumers shall be considered an over 1 aMW consumer pursuant to criteria established by an 
electric company through its billing process. The notice provided by an electric company shall at 
a minimum, (a) identify and explain the role of the Administrator, (b) identify the type of 
proprietary consumer information to be transferred by an electric company; and (c) describe the 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


8 


 


nature and use of the proprietary consumer information by the Administrator. For consumers 
without a usage history, usage may be estimated by an electric company for the purpose of this 
provision and those consumers projected to meet the 1aMW or greater threshold shall be 
included. Consumers having multiple accounts over 1 aMW may have those accounts treated 
as a group for the purpose of this rule and may include or exclude those accounts through one 
notification process. If the over 1 aMW consumer does not opt in to the information transfer, all 
accounts over 1 aMW shall be excluded from the information sharing process, and the electric 
company shall transfer to the Administrator only the name, service address, and whether 
consumer is applying self-direct credits against its energy efficiency and/or renewable public 
purpose charge during each billing period, if known. The over 1 aMW consumer may at any time 
authorize transfer by the electric company to the Administrator of other proprietary consumer 
information described in section 2(a), in which case the electric company shall promptly transfer 
to the Administrator the specified information and provide updates. The transfer of proprietary 
consumer information shall be in accordance with the Information Transfer Agreement. An 
electric company shall also provide periodic opt-in notification for the over 1 aMW consumers 
either as a part of a standard consumer contact discussion or in writing pursuant to the timelines 
agreed upon in the Information Transfer Agreement and set forth in subsection (4) of this rule.  If 
a consumer opts in, it may subsequently opt out by providing written notice to the electric 
company provided that the electric company will continue to provide the Administrator with 
information as previously agreed to between the consumer and Administrator, such as 
information needed to monitor performance and evaluate savings from previously delivered 
programs. 


(8) To effect a transition from data-sharing rules in effect before the 2011 adoption of these 
amended rules, each electric company shall send a notice to its consumers prior to the 
Administrator’s receipt of their proprietary consumer information: 


(a) informing them of the requirements of the amended rules; 


(b) explaining that the purpose of transferring consumer data to the Administrator is to 
help ensure that the Administrator is better prepared to assist a customer who is 
interested in participating in consumer-funded efficiency and renewable energy 
programs; and 


(c) asking consumers if they wish to be on a “do not contact” list, in which case they will 
receive no unsolicited contact from the Administrator, or its contractors; and 


(d) for over 1 aMW consumers, explaining that absent the consumer’s consent, only the 
limited consumer information listed in (6) above will be transferred to the Administrator. 


(9) If an electric company receives an unsolicited request from a consumer to not provide the 
consumer’s proprietary consumer information to the Administrator, and the consumer has not 
agreed otherwise with the Administrator, the electric company shall honor that request unless 
the electric company subsequently receives written consumer consent to transfer the proprietary 
consumer information to the Administrator.  An unsolicited request shall include a consumer’s 
response to a notice from the electric utility explaining the consumer’s rights. 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


9 


 


(10) When an electric company has provided proprietary consumer information to the 
Administrator in accordance with this rule, an electric company shall not be charged with at-fault 
complaints filed with the Commission's Consumer Services Division with respect to the provision 
of proprietary consumer information if the Commission finds that the electric company did not 
violate its tariff, Oregon Administrative Rules, Oregon Revised Statutes, or a Commission 
Order. 


(11)  Before an electric company provides the Administrator with proprietary consumer 
information pursuant to this rule, the Administrator shall: 


(a) Develop and adopt in an open process a policy or policies ensuring that the 
confidentiality of the proprietary consumer information it receives from an electric 
company is protected in a manner that meets the requirements of all federal, state and 
local laws regarding protection for this type of information that are applicable by virtue of 
the requirements they impose on the eLectric company that provided the proprietary 
consumer information to the Administrator;  


(b) Agree to require its employees and contractors to commit to specific non-disclosure 
requirements in order to gain access to proprietary consumer information which, at a 
minimum, require that the proprietary consumer information (i) be used only for the 
purposes of a particular project or contract; (ii) be shared with a subcontractor only 
under similar conditions and requirements and only upon approval of the Administrator; 
and (iii) be returned to the Administrator or destroyed at the completion of the project or 
termination of the contract;  


(c) Agree to honor any do-not-contact-customer requests; and  


(d) Establish a process by which consumers may require the Administrator not to use the 
proprietary consumer information to make unsolicited contact with the consumer, 
including, but not limited to responding to the utility notice in section 7, above. 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


10 


 


ATTACHMENT 2 
Gas Consumer Information rule 
 
(1) Definition: “Proprietary Consumer Information” is any information compiled by a gas utility on 
a customer in the normal course of providing gas services that makes possible the identification 
of any individual customer by matching such information with name, address, account number, 
type or classification of service, current or historic gas usage, expected patterns of use, types of 
facilities used in providing service, individual contract terms and conditions, price or current 
charges, billing records, installed appliance(s) or equipment, or any information that the 
customer has expressly requested not be disclosed.  Information that is redacted or organized 
in such a way as to make it impossible to identify the customer to whom the information relates 
does not constitute Proprietary Consumer Information.  


 (2) A gas utility that offers energy conservation programs through the entity that administers the 
conservation and renewable public purpose funds described in ORS 757.612(3)(d), hereinafter 
known as the Administrator, shall transfer to such Administrator proprietary consumer 
information for gas utility company customers as follows:  


(a) if such information is available for its Residential and Commercial customers in the 
gas utility's records: customer name; service address (including apartment/unit/suite 
number); mailing address; building type (e.g. multifamily) and business type (e.g. SIC 
code);  initially, 18 months of the most recent historical usage data; meter and other 
point-of-delivery identification number; rate schedules for each customer; information 
about energy efficiency program participation, and type of space heat used by 
consumer; and updates for all of the usage data and revisions to the underlying 
database information on a periodic basis under subsection (3)(d) of this rule; 


(b) name, address, rate schedule(s) and account numbers of its industrial customers; 
and 


(c) a gas utility shall not transfer:  (i) social security numbers; (ii) billing and payment 
history; (iii) credit information; (iv) tax identification numbers; (v) driver license numbers; 
(vi) life support information; (vii) medical information; (viii) proprietary consumer 
information protected by the password provision required per OAR 860-021-0009(6); (ix) 
proprietary consumer information for customers who have  requested that their 
information not be shared with third parties; or (x) proprietary consumer information 
including usage data for the gas utility’s transportation customers.  


(3) The Administrator shall transfer to the gas utility information available in the Administrator’s 
records regarding gas utility customer participation in gas conservation programs where gas 
utility funding has been applied. At a minimum, the Administrator shall provide: customer name, 
service address (including apartment/unit/suite number), meter number; and information about 
gas efficiency program participation, such as gas measures installed since the inception of the 
Administrator’s delivery of the gas efficiency programs.   







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


11 


 


(4) The manner by which such information is transferred and used shall be governed by an 
Information Transfer Agreement, which is executed and maintained by a gas utility and the 
Administrator. An Information Transfer Agreement shall: 


(a) Specify the necessary database format for information that will be transferred 
between the gas utility and the Administrator; 


(b) Specify the billing period, payment arrangements, and estimates of incremental costs 
incurred by either the gas utility or the Administrator for the transfer of the information; 


(c) Identify timelines for the transfer of information; 


(d) Identify timelines for providing updates for data and revisions to the underlying 
database information; 


 (e) Acknowledge the Administrator’s obligations to protect proprietary consumer 
information in accordance with this rule and the Administrator’s policy or policies 
adopted pursuant to subsection 10, below;  


(f) Acknowledge that the proprietary consumer information will be used by the 
Administrator to implement, administer and evaluate gas efficiency programs, and the 
Administrator shall regularly apprise the gas utility of these activities;  


(g) Acknowledge that the proprietary consumer information provided to the Administrator 
will not be used for telemarketing to gas utility customers;  


(h)  Acknowledge that the Administrator may use proprietary consumer information for 
the purpose of direct marketing of the Administrator’s gas efficiency programs, provided: 
(1) such marketing activities do not promote fuel-switching; (2) the Administrator has 
given prior notification to the gas utility whose customers are likely to be affected; (3) the 
Administrator has coordinated such direct marketing activities with such utility; and (4) 
disputes regarding such direct marketing activities may be addressed pursuant to 
subsection 6.   


(i) Acknowledge that the release of proprietary consumer information by the 
Administrator for any other purpose or to any other third party who has not signed an 
agreement to treat such information confidentially pursuant to subsection 10(b), below, 
shall not be made without consent of the customer; and 


(j) Acknowledge that the information provided by the Administrator to the gas utility shall 
be used by the gas utility solely for utility business, shall not be shared with other parties, 
and if used for direct marketing, such use will be made only after notice to and in 
coordination with the Administrator.   


(k) Provide for modification of the Information Transfer Agreement. 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


12 


 


(5) If the Administrator and a gas utility company cannot agree on the terms and conditions of 
an Information Transfer Agreement, the Commission shall set the terms and conditions based 
upon input from the Administrator and the gas utility company. 


 (6) If the Administrator or the gas utility notifies the other that the proprietary consumer 
information supplied by the other is insufficient, incomplete, not usable, or is not being used in 
compliance with this rule, the Administrator and gas utility company will attempt to resolve the 
issue and, if necessary, modify the Information Transfer Agreement. If the Administrator and 
gas utility company cannot resolve the issue, either party may seek Commission resolution of 
the dispute. 


(7) Prior to the adoption of these rules, each gas company shall send a notice to its consumers 
prior to the Administrator’s receipt of their proprietary consumer information: 


(a) informing them of the requirements of the amended rules; 
(b) explaining that the purpose of transferring consumer data to the Administrator is to 


ensure that the Administrator is better prepared to assist a customer who is interested in 
participating in customer-funded energy efficiency and renewable energy programs; and 


(c) asking consumers if they wish to be on a “do not contact” list, in which case they will 
receive no unsolicited contact from the Administrator, or its contractors. 


 


(8) If a gas utility company receives an unsolicited request from a consumer to not provide the 
consumer’s proprietary consumer information to the Administrator, and the consumer has not 
agreed otherwise with the Administrator, the gas company shall honor that request unless the 
gas company subsequently receives written consumer consent to transfer the proprietary 
consumer information to the Administrator.  An unsolicited request shall include a consumer’s 
response to a notice from the gas utility explaining the consumer’s rights. 


(9) When a gas utility company has provided proprietary consumer information to the 
Administrator in accordance with this rule, the gas utility company shall not be charged with at-
fault complaints filed with Commission's Customer Services Division for the Administrator’s or 
the Administrator’s sub-contractors’ access to, use or mishandling of proprietary consumer 
information.   


(10)  The Administrator shall: 


(a) Develop and adopt in an open process a policy or policies ensuring that the 
confidentiality of the proprietary consumer information it receives from gas utility 
companies is protected in a manner that meets the requirements of all federal, state and 
local laws regarding protection for this type of information that are applicable by virtue of 
the requirements they impose on the gas company that provided the proprietary 
consumer information to the Administrator. 


(b) Agree to require its employees and contractors to commit to specific non-disclosure 
requirements in order to gain access to proprietary consumer information which, at a 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


13 


 


minimum, require that the proprietary consumer information (i) be used only for the 
purposes of particular programs, projects or contracts; (ii) be shared with a 
subcontractor only under similar conditions and requirements and only upon approval of 
the Administrator; and (iii) be returned to the Administrator or destroyed at the 
completion of the project or termination of the contract; and 


(c) Establish a process by which customers may require the Administrator not to use the 
proprietary consumer information to make unsolicited contact with the customer. 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


14 


 


ATTACHMENT 3 
OPERATING PRINCIPLES 


The Utility Strategic Roundtable is a two-year trial designed to facilitate the utilities’ expressed 
interest in communicating with the Energy Trust Board on a strategic level. 


1. The Utility Strategic Roundtable would be composed of the Energy Trust Board and 
Executive Director, and representatives of the electric and gas utilities served by the 
Energy Trust: Cascade Natural Gas, NW Natural, PacifiCorp and PGE. Members of the 
public and other stakeholders, including representatives of customer groups, the 
environment, workers, and efficiency and renewable energy trade groups, would be 
invited to attend and participate in the discussions. 


 
2. The Roundtable would meet in the first quarter of 2010. At that meeting, and the first 


meeting in 2011, the roundtable will schedule further meetings for that year. There will 
be at least two meetings annually. If possible, meetings should be timed with regular 
Energy Trust Board meetings so all Board members can attend.  


 
3. Roundtable participants are encouraged to appoint decision-level representatives to the 


roundtable, ensure that the appointed person attend all meetings, and try not to vary 
representation from meeting to meeting. 


 
4. Each roundtable agenda would be determined by the Energy Trust Board President in 


consultation with the full Board, the utilities and interested parties. Agendas will be 
organized to allow the utilities to engage in a dialogue on matters of interest to them, and 
may include suitable agenda items suggested by others. In general, the agenda would 
focus on strategic and longer-term ideas, opportunities and concerns, with the goal to 
ensure the entities are working well together to pursue energy efficiency and renewable 
energy in the most effective and coordinated way possible. The following process will be 
followed: 


 
• Energy Trust will propose meeting date(s) and solicit agenda items from utilities, 


board members and interest groups; 
• Candidate topics will be reviewed by staff and discussed with the policy 


committee, which will recommend an agenda to the board President; and 
• The committee will consider whether issues that are not included on the 


roundtable agenda may be suitable for other forums, e.g., CAC, RAC, or regular 
board meetings. 


 
5. Each agenda item will have a sponsoring entity, which will be responsible for providing 


background material on the issue at least 10 days before the roundtable meeting. 
 
6. All meetings will be open except for any portions of meetings that the Energy Trust 


President determines would involve trade secrets, proprietary or other confidential 
commercial or financial information. Energy Trust will provide public notice of meetings.  


 







Policy Committee Notes    September 13, 2011 


 


15 


 


7. Roundtables will discuss issues and may make recommendations to the Energy Trust 
board or others. No votes will be taken. Roundtables are not authorized to take action on 
behalf of the Energy Trust board. 


 
8. Minutes will be kept and a roster of potential action items would be brought back for full 


Energy Trust Board discussion and staff consideration before commitments to pursue 
the actions were made. 


 
9. The parties would try this approach for a two-year period to determine if it is an effective 


way to promote strategic communications before deciding whether to make it a 
permanent feature or pursue some other course.  








Board Decision – Consent Agenda 
Amending Equity Policy  
October 5, 2011 


 
Summary  
Adopt changes to the board policy on equity. 
 
Background 


• Since 2002, Energy Trust has had an equity policy, intended to make programs available 
to all customer classes, to pay special attention to customers that have not had access 
to programs historically.  


• The 2009-2014 strategic plan (pp. 18-19), covers much of the same ground, and in 
certain respects adds to it: 


Bring a broad perspective to two-year action plans and annual budgets by considering 
their overall balance and equity. In addition to individual programs and initiatives, Energy 
Trust will view its investment of ratepayer funds from a portfolio perspective by 
considering how well budgets and action plans address the following: 


• Long-term and short-term perspectives: Do they include an appropriate mix of 
initiatives and measures with near-term (1-3 years) and longer-term benefits? 
Investment in new technologies and innovative pilot initiatives like the Path to Net 
Zero pilot and the Positive Energy/OPOWER behavioral pilot will take years to 
generate large quantities of energy savings, and while some will pay off, some 
will not. Yet these investments provide the “next generation” of energy efficiency, 
energy conservation and renewable energy development. It is vital that Energy 
Trust’s portfolio puts due weight on these forward-looking investments. 


• Sector and geographic diversity: Will all customer sectors that contribute funding 
to Energy Trust have equitable opportunities to participate in programs? Is there 
sufficient emphasis on geographic diversity and customers whose participation 
previously was more limited? Energy Trust already explores ways to cost-
effectively reach more rural consumers, moderate-income households and small 
businesses. Continuing to invest in these efforts is an important way to 
demonstrate the value of energy efficiency and renewable energy state-wide, 
and that ratepayer funds are managed equitably. 


• Reach upstream: Is there appropriate emphasis on reaching upstream to 
manufacturers and supply chains? For example, Energy Trust works with the 
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance to coordinate nationally to promote efficient 
electronic devices, such as televisions and computers. Similar efforts may be 
appropriate for efficient new manufactured homes, refurbishing vending 
machines, and influencing design choices and equipment selections of national 
chain stores. Keeping a place for these upstream initiatives in Energy Trust’s 
portfolio will complement programs with more immediate focus. 
 


Analysis 
• The Policy Committee sees no problem in having an equity policy, which is quite 


general, and a more specific elaboration of its principles in the strategic plan. 







Amending Equity Policy, Resolution 595  October 5, 2011 


 


2 


 


• The one exception is the final paragraph of the equity policy (see attached), given that  
the strategic plan specifies how the subject will be handled over the 2009-2014 period. 
 


Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the board delete the final paragraph of the equity policy, by adopting 
resolution #595. 


RESOLUTION 595 


AMENDING THE ENERGY TRUST EQUITY POLICY  


WHEREAS: 


1. Since 2002, Energy Trust has had an equity policy, intended to make programs available to 
all customer classes, to pay special attention to customers that have not had access to 
programs historically. The current policy is functioning appropriately. 


2. The 2009-2014 Energy Trust strategic plan (pp. 18-19), covers much of the same 
ground, and is in certain respects more specific.  


3. The only aspect of the policy that requires correction is that the 2009-2014 strategic 
plan will govern how the equity policy will be implemented over that time period. 


It is therefore RESOLVED, that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. authorizes 
amendment of the board policy on equity as shown in the attachment. 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 


 


 
 


 







Amending Equity Policy, Resolution 595  October 5, 2011 


 


3 


 


 


4.08.000-P Equity Policy  


Introduction 
Recognizing the Energy Trust’s long-term goals to save electricity and natural gas, and that 
other public purpose funds have been earmarked for schools and low income housing needs, 
the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors hereby adopts as policy using the following 
principles in designing energy efficiency programs and allocating funding among various 
electricity and gas customer classes: 
 
Policy 
• Make programs available to all electricity and gas customer classes by implementing 


programs in the residential, commercial, and industrial sectors. 
• Design and implement programs for private utility electricity and gas customers that have 


not had access to prior conservation programs and/or where penetration rates have been 
historically low, such as rural or agricultural customers. 


• Monitor penetration rates for all programs and adjust them as needed to ensure that all 
private utility electricity and gas customer classes are being served.  The Energy Trust will 
pay particular attention to programs for underserved electricity and gas customers to ensure 
that they achieve penetration rates that are comparable to other successful programs 
operating to serve these markets. 


• Improve program effectiveness to increase conservation savings and reduce costs, thereby 
making it possible to serve more households and businesses. 


• Improve and disseminate information about the cost and availability of conservation in each 
private utility electricity and gas customer class. 


 
The Energy Trust will strive for this kind of equitable distribution of programs over the next five 
years. Annual results may vary; however, the Energy Trust is committed to achieving these 
results over the course of the five-year program planning period.  





		Board Decision – Consent Agenda






 
Board Decision 
Amending Cost-Effectiveness Policy  
October 5, 2011 


 
Summary  
Adopt changes to the board policy on cost-effectiveness 
 
Background 


• Energy Trust’s energy efficiency funding may be used only for “cost-effective energy 
conservation.” ORS 757.612(1), 757.689. 


• Cost-effectiveness is defined in several statutes and administrative rules. The definition 
used in connection with residential energy efficiency (ORS 469. 631(4)) is 
representative: 


"Cost-effective" means that an energy conservation measure that provides or 
saves a specific amount of energy during its life cycle results in the lowest 
present value of delivered energy costs of any available alternative. However, the 
present value of the delivered energy costs of an energy conservation measure 
shall not be treated as greater than that of a nonconservation energy resource or 
facility unless that cost is greater than 110 percent of the present value of the 
delivered energy cost of the nonconservation energy resource or facility. 


• Energy Trust first adopted a policy on cost-effectiveness in 2002, and has updated it 
several times since then. 


• Since the policy was developed, the board has adopted a new strategic plan and Energy 
Trust programs have been much more closely integrated into the integrated resource 
planning process overseen by the OPUC.  


• The changes proposed below were vetted with the Conservation Advisory Council and 
endorsed by the Policy Committee. 
 


Analysis 
• Purposes of the proposed changes:  


o Focus the policy specifically on cost-effectiveness and eliminate other investment 
considerations from the policy. Those considerations are addressed in the 
Energy Trust strategic plan, program design, action plans and elsewhere. They 
are not part of cost-effectiveness analysis per se.  


o Align the policy with OPUC processes associated with supplemental energy 
efficiency funding under the Oregon Renewable Energy Act of 2007 (SB 838) 
and integrated resource planning.    


o These amendments are not meant to change our current practice, but make the 
policy simpler, avoid confusion with other policy documents, and make Energy 
Trust practice more transparent. 







Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy, Resolution 596    October 5, 2011 


 


2 


 


 
• Specific changes: 


o Eliminate reference to the consumer perspective, which is not a test of cost-
effectiveness, but a judgment made in program design (see #1). 


o Cost-related changes: 
 Acknowledge that Energy Trust now offers services in Washington State, 


which uses a version of the Societal Test (see footnote 1). 


 For measures that would be purchased regardless of efficiency actions, 
the incremental cost of upgrading the efficiency of the purchase beyond 
common practice is used (see footnote 2 and accompanying text). 


 Exclude costs compensated by state and federal tax credits, because 
they are excluded in avoided cost calculations (see #2). 


 Exclude costs of state and local program administration because they 
often reflect non-energy considerations (see #3). We explored this 
change with OPUC staff in connection with Clean Energy Works, and 
they acceded to our approach. 


 
o Benefit-related changes: 


 Energy values are based on avoided cost forecasts used in OPUC 
processes, with potential adjustments for hedge value (see footnote 3 and 
surrounding text).  


 Energy Trust may use proxies for non-energy benefits where they are 
large and unquantified. The OPUC is reportedly working on a new 
approach to cost-effectiveness that could change the way we approach 
this subject. In particular, OPUC does not endorse our use of proxy 
values for non-energy benefits. Therefore, our approach to this subject is 
meant to be used only until the OPUC develops an alternative approach. 
(see #4) 


 Includes bulk transmission system capacity benefits (see #5). 
 Benefits relating to natural gas capacity and reduced gas transmission 


and delivery losses are included where significant and quantifiable (see 
#6). The existing policy would not consider these benefits. 


• Address carbon value consistent with OPUC guidance, which includes carbon value in 
utility price forecasts (see #7).  


• Explain our current approach to discount rates, #8, which is consistent with SB 838, 
OPUC planning, utility avoided cost forecasts, etc., and also reflects Energy Trust’s need 
for an aggregate rate. 


• Eliminate “methodology” section (see redline version, second-to-last page) in favor of 
addressing all major considerations in foregoing sections. 


• Revise the “conclusion” section to reflect the foregoing. 


Recommendation 


Staff recommends amendment of the board policy on cost-effectiveness, by adopting resolution 
#596. 







Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy, Resolution 596    October 5, 2011 


 


3 


 


RESOLUTION 596 


AMENDING THE ENERGY TRUST POLICY ON COST-EFFECTIVENESS 


WHEREAS: 


1. Energy Trust’s energy efficiency funding may be used only for “cost-effective energy 
conservation.” ORS 757.612(1), 757.689.  


2. Cost-effectiveness is defined in several statutes and administrative rules, for 
example:  


"Cost-effective" means that an energy conservation measure that provides or 
saves a specific amount of energy during its life cycle results in the lowest 
present value of delivered energy costs of any available alternative. However, the 
present value of the delivered energy costs of an energy conservation measure 
shall not be treated as greater than that of a nonconservation energy resource or 
facility unless that cost is greater than 110 percent of the present value of the 
delivered energy cost of the nonconservation energy resource or facility. (ORS 
469. 631(4)) 


3. Energy Trust first adopted a policy on cost-effectiveness in 2002, and has updated it several 
times since then. 


4. Since the policy was developed, the board has adopted a new strategic plan and Energy 
Trust programs have been much more closely integrated into the integrated resource 
planning process overseen by the OPUC. 


5. The changes proposed below were vetted with the Conservation Advisory Council and 
endorsed by the Policy Committee. 


It is therefore RESOLVED, that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. authorizes 
amendment of the board policy on cost-effectiveness as shown in the attachment. 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 







Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy, Resolution 596    October 5, 2011 


 


4 


 


 


4.06.000-P Cost-Effectiveness Policy and General 
Methodology for Energy Trust of Oregon 
 


Clean version: 
 
Introduction 


The Energy Trust of Oregon seeks a future that includes sufficient, stable, and affordable power 
available to all customers through sustained investment in energy efficiency and renewable 
resources that reduce the economic and environmental costs of using gas and electricity. To 
properly evaluate such investments, Energy Trust compares the cost of energy-saving 
programs and measures to the cost of alternative sources of natural gas and electric energy. 
The cost of alternative sources is known as “avoided cost”. The Oregon Public Utility 
Commission (PUC), the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (WUTC), the 
Northwest Power and Conservation Council (NPCC) and the Northwest Energy Efficiency 
Alliance (Alliance) use similar approaches and assumptions to analyze the cost-effectiveness of 
energy efficiency investments. Consistent with these approaches, this policy encompasses two 
tests to determine cost-effectiveness and describes the key variables or economic model inputs 
that define these tests in Energy Trust analysis.  


The Oregon Renewable Energy Act of 2007 (SB 838) allows supplemental energy efficiency 
funding, i.e., more than the three-percent public purpose charge authorized in the 1999 law. The 
2007 Act, together with the agreements that fund Energy Trust natural gas efficiency programs 
in Oregon, support Energy Trust programs that help utilities meet goals that are determined 
through Integrated Resource Planning. In that process, the OPUC reviews and may 
acknowledge avoided cost forecasts from each utility. Because Energy Trust funding is 
significantly affected by this process, the following policy is designed to be consistent with 
OPUC guidance and, to the extent practical, with utility integrated resource plans. Energy Trust 
may consider prospective costs and benefits over a period of more than one year, as 
appropriate, for emerging technologies and market transformation ventures. 


Policy  


(#1) Energy Trust adopts the Utility System and Societal tests, as described below, as its 
primary determinants of whether efficiency investments meet cost-effectiveness criteria. The 
economic comparison will be presented as a benefit-to-cost ratio. Programs and measures that 
pass both tests, or are likely to over time, are eligible for Energy Trust investment. Both tests 
consider energy impacts on customers who are influenced by the program, and long term 
market effects of programs and measures (e.g., sales, or efficacy of efficient technologies 







Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy, Resolution 596    October 5, 2011 


 


5 


 


beyond the direct program participants) where such effects are significant and likely. The 
difference between the Utility System and Societal tests is that the Societal Test includes all 
costs (not just Energy Trust costs) and savings of program participants and others who were 
influenced to act by Energy Trust programs. The Utility System Test includes Energy Trust costs 
only, and savings from program participants and others who were influenced to act by Energy 
Trust programs. 


For programs and measures that pass these cost-effectiveness tests, in configuring programs 
Energy Trust may consider other factors identified in its strategic plan and action plans. 


Costs 


The societal cost definition is in alignment with the OPUC docket no. UM-551’s definition of 
Total Resource Cost (Societal) perspective as including total costs and total benefits in cost 
effectiveness calculations.1 The following costs will be included in the societal perspective: 


1. Total cost of efficiency measures and actions,2 including costs to Energy Trust and 
participants 


2. Energy Trust administrative costs 
3. Energy Trust program management costs 


 
The utility system test includes only items 2 and 3, above, i.e., all Energy Trust efficiency costs, 
not those paid by consumers. 


Costs excluded: (#2) The value of Oregon and/or Federal tax credits will be deducted from the 
cost of measures because similar tax credits are not included in avoided costs used by Energy 
Trust. (#3) Program administration or management costs of local programs funded by Federal 
or state agencies will not be included, as they are often associated with non-energy 
considerations such as equity, employment, etc., and are not included in the benefit/cost tests 
under PUC guidance. 


 Benefits 


In the societal test, Energy Trust will include the following benefits: 


1. The value of the electrical and/or gas energy saved based on the avoided cost 
forecasts of the utilities whose customers are served by the Energy Trust, as 
reviewed and approved by the PUC.3 Periodically, Energy Trust will work with the 
utilities and PUC to develop an average, or merged cost forecast. This will be done 
separately for the electric utilities and gas utilities, so that Energy Trust program 


                                                            
1 In Washington, the primary cost/benefit criterion is the societal test, applied to entire programs. In 
addition to following this guidance, Energy Trust will continue to apply the test to specific measures to 
assure consistency of programs across states (for administrative efficiency) and optimal rate payer value. 
2 For equipment or structures that would be purchased regardless of efficiency actions, this is the 
incremental cost of upgrading the efficiency of the purchase beyond common practice. 
3 This includes the value of avoided peak energy use. 







Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy, Resolution 596    October 5, 2011 


 


6 


 


decisions are based on a single set of price forecasts for each fuel.  Energy Trust 
may include factors such as hedge value, if not considered in the utility forecasts, 
based on agreement with the utilities and PUC.    


2. (#4) Non-energy benefits will be quantified by a reasonable and practical method. 
Unless and until the OPUC develops an alternative approach, Energy Trust may use 
proxies for these benefits where such benefits clearly exist, are large, and cannot 
practically be quantified.  


3. For electricity, both line losses and avoided Transmission and Distribution 
construction. (#5) 


4. Natural gas capacity benefits and benefits from reduced transmission and delivery 
losses will be included where significant and quantifiable (#6). 


5. In addition, the Energy Trust will apply in its analysis the 10% credit for energy 
efficiency as required under the Northwest Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-
551. This credit recognizes the benefits of conservation in addressing risk and 
uncertainty. 


 
The utility system test will include items 1, 3, 4 and 5, above.  
 
Currently, utility avoided costs include the forecast value of reduced carbon dioxide emissions.   
Oregon PUC guidance provides that other environmental pollutant costs may be considered 
only when specified by the PUC. (#7) 


 
Discount rates (#8) 


Energy Trust will revise avoided costs and discount rate from time to time to be consistent with 
the cost of capital used in the utilities’ Integrated Resource Plans.  
 
In analysis and reporting, Energy Trust will use a discount rate based on OPUC-reviewed 
integrated resource planning discount rates used by the utilities whose customers are served by 
the Energy Trust. Periodically, Energy Trust will work with the utilities and OPUC to derive a 
single discount rate close to those employed by the utilities. This discount rate will be used to 
compare the costs and benefits of efficiency investments to other investments. 
 
In conclusion, Energy Trust programs and measures will be reviewed using both the Utility 
System and the Societal tests. If the benefit-to-cost ratio is greater than 1.0, a program should 
be considered cost-effective and may be considered for Energy Trust efficiency funding. 
 
…………………………………………………. 
 
REDLINE VERSION 
 
Introduction 


The Energy Trust of Oregon seeks a future that includes sufficient, stable, and affordable power 
available to all customers through sustained investment in energy efficiency and renewable 
resources that reduce the economic and environmental costs of using gas and electricity. To 
properly evaluate such investments, the Energy Trust of Oregon (Trust) compares the cost of 







Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy, Resolution 596    October 5, 2011 


 


7 


 


energy-saving programs and measures analyzes how to compare their economic cost 
compares to the cost of alternative sources of natural gas and electric energy[a1]. The cost of 
alternative sources is known as “avoided cost”. In the past tThe Oregon Public Utility 
Commission (OPUC), the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (WUTC), the 
Northwest Power and Conservation Council (NWPPCC) and the Northwest Energy Efficiency 
Alliance (Alliance) have all used similar approaches and assumptions to analyze the cost-
effectiveness of energy efficiency investments[a2]. Consistent with these approaches, Tthis 
policy encompasses three two generic perspectivestests to determine cost-effectiveness and – 
Consumer, Utility System, and Societal. It describes the key variables or economic model inputs 
that define these perspectives tests and allow the analyst to compare the cost of energy 
efficiency to conventional sources of gas and electrical energyin Energy Trust analysis. [a3] 


The Oregon Renewable Energy Act of 2007 (SB 838) allows supplemental energy efficiency 
funding, i.e., more than the three-percent public purpose charge authorized in the 1999 law. The 
2007 Act, together with the agreements that fund Energy Trust natural gas efficiency programs 
in Oregon, support Energy Trust programs that help utilities meet goals that are determined 
through Integrated Resource Planning. In that process, the OPUC reviews and may 
acknowledge avoided cost forecasts from each utility. Because Energy Trust funding is 
significantly affected by this process, the following policy is designed to be consistent with 
OPUC guidance and, to the extent practical, with utility integrated resource plans.  Energy Trust 
may consider prospective costs and benefits over a period of more than one year, as 
appropriate, for emerging technologies and market transformation ventures.[a4] 


Policy  


The Energy Trust of Oregon adopts the Utility System and Societal perspectivestests, as 
described below, as its primary perspectives determinants of whether efficiency investments 
meet cost-effectiveness criteria. The economic comparison will be presented as a benefit-to-
cost ratio. Programs and measures that pass both tests, or are likely to over time, are eligible for 
Energy Trust investment[a5]. Energy Trust will alsoBoth tests consider energy impacts on all 
customers who are influenced by the program, and long term market effects of programs and 
measures (e.g., sales, or efficacy of efficient technologies beyond the direct program 
participants) where such effects are significant and likely. The difference between the Utility 
System and Societal tests is that the Societal Test includes all costs (not just Energy Trust 
costs) and savings of program participants and others who were influenced to act by Energy 
Trust programs. The Utility System Test includes Energy Trust costs only, and savings from 
program participants and others who were influenced to act by Energy Trust programs. 


For programs and measures that pass these cost-effectiveness tests, in configuring programs 
Energy Trust may consider other factors identified in its strategic plan and action plans[a6].for 
evaluating energy efficiency projects. It will also use the utility-system perspective as an 
additional tool to assure that the kWh saved per dollar invested by the Trust is reasonable. The 
Consumer perspective is used to help design projects.. 







Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy, Resolution 596    October 5, 2011 


 


8 


 


 Costs 


The societal cost definition is in alignment with the OPUC docket no. UM-551’s definition of 
Total Resource Cost (Societal) perspective as including total costs and total benefits in cost 
effectiveness calculations. 4[A7] The following costs will be included in the societal perspective: 


1. Total cost Trust incentives paid to the participantof efficiency measures and 
actions,5[A8] including costs to Energy Trust and participants 


1.2. Energy Trust administrative costs 
2.3. Energy Trust program management costs 
3. [a9]Oregon and local government  administrative costs associated with incentives 


1. Monitoring, evaluation and non-incentive costs of PMCs and Energy Trust staff  
2. The participants remaining out-of-pocket costs for the installed cost of the measures 


 


The utility system test includes only items 2 and 3, above, i.e., all Energy Trust efficiency costs, 
not those paid by consumers. 


Costs excluded: The value of Oregon and/or Federal tax credits will be deducted from the cost 
of measurescost of tax credits to the State of Oregon will not be included, because similar tax 
credits are not included in avoided costs used by Energy Trust. [a10]Program administration or 
management costs of local programs funded by Federal or state agencies will not be included, 
as they are often associated with non-energy considerations such as equity, employment, etc., 
and are not included in the benefit/cost tests under PUC guidance[a11]they are considered to be 
a transfer, not a net cost to society. However, to the extent that they are significant, the 
administrative costs of those tax credits will be considered. 


 Benefits 


In the societal test, The Energy Trust will include the following benefits: 


-1. Tthe value of the electrical and/or gas energy saved based on the avoided cost 
forecasts of the utilities whose customers are served by the Energy Trust, as 
reviewed and approved by the PUC.6 Periodically, Energy Trust will work with the 
utilities and PUC to develop an average, or merged cost forecast. This will be done 
separately for the electric utilities and gas utilities, so that Energy Trust program 
decisions are based on a single set of price forecasts for each fuel.  Energy Trust 
may include factors such as hedge value, if not considered in the utility forecasts, 
based on agreement with the utilities and PUC.  [a12](1) the Regional Technical 
Forum long-term forecast of wholesale market prices for electricity and (2) the NW 


                                                            
4 In Washington, the primary cost/benefit criterion is the societal test, applied to entire programs. In 
addition to following this guidance, Energy Trust will continue to apply the test to specific measures to 
assure consistency of programs across states (for administrative efficiency) and optimal rate payer value. 
5 For equipment or structures that would be purchased regardless of efficiency actions, this is the 
incremental cost of upgrading the efficiency of the purchase beyond common practice. 
6 This includes the value of avoided peak energy use. 







Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy, Resolution 596    October 5, 2011 


 


9 


 


Natural gas price forecast for gas, as long as it is reasonably consistent with the 
Regional Technical Forum forecast of gas prices for power plant fuel.  


2. Nnon-energy benefits as will be quantified by a reasonable and practical method. 
Unless and until the OPUC develops an alternative approach, Energy Trust may use 
proxies for these benefits  and described in situations where such benefits clearly 
exist, are large, and they cannot practically be quantified. [a13] 


- for electricity, bulk system transmission capacity benefits (both line loss and avoided 
transmission construction.  


3. Ffor electricity, transmission and distribution benefits, both line losses and avoided 
Transmission and Distribution construction.  


-4. Natural gas capacity benefits and benefits from reduced transmission and delivery 
losses will be included where significant and quantifiable[A14]. 


- natural gas capacity benefits are of a lesser magnitude and difficult to quantify, so 
the Energy Trust will not quantify them. Natural gas delivery loss benefits are also 
modest in magnitude. Local delivery losses will be considered to the extent that they 
are included in NW Natural price forecasts. Gas transmission losses are difficult to 
quantify and will be described.  


5. [a15]In addition, the Energy Trust will apply in its analysis the 10% credit for energy 
efficiency as required under the Northwest Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-
551. This credit recognizes the benefits of conservation in addressing risk and 
uncertainty. 


1.6.  
  
The utility system test will include items 1, 3, 4 and 5, above.  
 
Currently, utility avoided costs include the forecast value of reduced carbon dioxide emissions.   
Oregon PUC guidance provides that other environmental pollutant costs may be considered 
only when specified by the PUC.   


 


[a16]Discount rates 


Energy Trust will revise avoided costs and discount rate from time to time to be consistent with 
the cost of capital used in the utilities’ Integrated Resource Plans.  


In analysis and reporting, Energy Trust will use a discount rate based on OPUC-reviewed 
integrated resource planning discount rates used by the utilities whose customers are served by 
the Energy Trust. Periodically, Energy Trust will work with the utilities and OPUC to derive a 
single discount rate close to those employed by the utilities. This discount rate will be used to 
compare the costs and benefits of efficiency investments to other investments.[a17] 


Both the Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-551 also suggest consideration of external costs 
such as environmental costs associated with air pollution. The Trust will initially use a credit of 
$15.00 per ton of carbon dioxide and will update that figure as information improves. 


Methodology 


[a18]The following additional decisions have been made about implementation of this policy: 







Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy, Resolution 596    October 5, 2011 


 


10 


 


  


For the near-term, the Pro-cost model, using marginal costs from the Aurora model, will be used 
to analyze the costs and savings of efficiency programs. The selection and specifics of these 
tools will be updated as time, resources, and opportunities permit to maximize transparency, 
time-dependent variations in resource value, and reasonableness. 


• The Energy Trust of Oregon will adopt a 5.2% discount rate for comparing the costs and 
benefits of efficiency investments to other investments.  


• The Energy Trust of Oregon will refine estimates of line losses specific to Oregon based on 
new information from utilities.  


 


The Energy Trust of Oregon will consider avoided transmission and distribution costs 
attributable to efficiency measures as appropriate[a19].  


The economic comparison will be presented as a benefit-to-cost ratio except for the consumer 
perspective that (for reference) will be presented as a two simple payback, one with non-electric 
benefits and one without non-electric benefits. The final decision on cost effectiveness will be 
based on the benefit-to-cost ratio for the Societal and Utility System perspectives (must pass 
both if data permits use of both) over the appropriate project period along with description and 
Board consideration of non-quantified costs and benefits.[a20] The Energy Trust will also 
consider other factors in selecting programs, as specified in the various strategic and action 
planning documents of the Energy Trust.[a21] 


The cost-effectiveness analysis will include impact on the action of customers who do not 
directly participate and long term market effects (e.g., impact on long-term price, sales, or 
efficacy of efficient technologies beyond the direct program participants) for projects where such 
effects are a significant and likely result. 


[a22]In conclusion, an Energy Trust programs and measures project should will be reviewed from 
using both the Utility system and the Societal perspectivestests. I, and if the Societal benefit-to-
cost ratio is greater than 1.0, it a program should be considered cost- effective and may be 
considered for Energy Trust efficiency funding.[a23] 





		Board Decision

		4.06.000-P Cost-Effectiveness Policy and General Methodology for Energy Trust of Oregon






 


 
 


 


Authorizing a Program Delivery Contractor for 
Industrial Lighting  
October 5th, 2011 


Summary 
Approve the basic terms of a three-year contract for industrial lighting program delivery services 
for Energy Trust’s Production Efficiency program, with potential for up to two one-year 
extensions.


Background 
• Energy Trust's Production Efficiency program is designed and managed in-


house.  Staff utilizes multiple program delivery contractors to perform outreach 
and delivery functions on behalf of the program.   


• The Industrial Lighting program delivery contractor develops and trains Energy 
Trust's industrial lighting trade ally network, acts as a technical resource, helps 
develop useful calculator tools, coordinates with other program contractors as-
needed, and facilitates the trade allies' submitted industrial lighting energy 
efficiency projects through the program to deliver energy savings.  


• The current Industrial Lighting program delivery contract will expire December 
31, 2011. 


• In July 2011, Energy Trust staff issued a request for qualifications for a Program 
Delivery Contractor (PDC) for Industrial Lighting. 


• Energy Trust received three notices of intent to respond, of which two actual 
responses were submitted. 


• A review team comprised of Energy Trust staff and an external reviewer from 
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance reviewed the two submissions. 


• The review team selected Evergreen Consulting Group, LLC on the strength of 
its qualifications.  The selection process is further explained in Appendix 1. 


Discussion 
• Staff proposes a PDC contract spanning three years, starting January 1, 2012, 


through December 31, 2014, with an option to renew for two one-year time 
periods. 


• Staff has assumed a first year budget of $2.1 million in connection with these 
services.  This includes a first year PDC contract cost of $800,000, with an 
allowance for performance compensation, and incentives of $1.3 million. 


• Energy Trust expects that work performed under this contract could save as 
much as 17,000,000 kWh, at a cost of $1.1 million per aMW and a levelized cost 
of $.02.  Actual costs and savings will be included in the Production Efficiency 
Program budget and computed after the board approves the 2012 budget. 







Industrial Lighting PDC Resolution 597 October 5, 2011 


 


 
Page 2 of 4 


• As with other program delivery contracts, actual contract amounts for each year 
will be negotiated annually, consistent with each year’s board-adopted annual 
budget.  Contracts and contract amendments conforming to these budgets would 
be signed without further board action. 


• The contract will refer to expected program incentive costs, but does not include 
these costs in PDC contract payments. Incentive costs are part of the program’s 
cost, and they are paid by Energy Trust to program participants.  Program 
incentive amounts will also be provided and reviewed as part of the annual 
budgeting process and ensuing contract amendments.  


 


Recommendation 
• Authorize the executive director to negotiate and sign a contract with Evergreen 


Consulting Group, LLC for Industrial Lighting program delivery services by 
adopting resolution 597, below. 


 


 
  







Industrial Lighting PDC Resolution 597 October 5, 2011 


 


 
Page 3 of 4 


RESOLUTION 597 
 


Authorizing a Program Delivery Contractor for Industrial Lighting 
 
WHEREAS: 
1. With assistance from an outside party, staff has conducted a fair and open 


procurement process to select a contractor to deliver Industrial Lighting program 
offerings for the next 3-5 years. 


2. Evergreen Consulting Group, LLC was selected and contract terms are being 
negotiated. 


3. Staff has assumed a total first-year program delivery contractor budget for 2012 of 
approximately $2.15 million including a first year delivery contract cost of about 
$800,000, incentives of $1.3 million, and possible performance compensation. 


4. Based on current assumptions, staff projects the following program savings and 
fully-loaded costs in 2011: 


 Electric 
Savings (stretch) 17,000,000 kWh


$/Unit Savings (stretch) $.13/kWh


Levelized Cost (stretch) $.02/kWh


Actual savings and costs will be reviewed by the Energy Trust board as part of the 
annual budget and action plan process. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. Subject to determination of a final contract amount based on the board-approved 


2012 budget, the executive director is authorized to enter into a contract with 
Evergreen Consulting Group, LLC to deliver the Industrial Lighting offerings from 
January 1, 2012, through December 31, 2014.   


2. First-year contract costs and savings goals included in the contract shall be 
consistent with the board-approved 2012 budget. Thereafter, the contract may be 
amended annually consistent with the board's annual budget decisions. 


3. The final contract may include a provision allowing staff to offer up to two one-year 
extensions if the program delivery contractor meets certain established performance 
criteria.  


4. Before extending this contract beyond December 31, 2014, staff will report to the 
board on the program delivery contractor’s progress and staff's recommendation for 
any additional extension time periods. If the board does not object to extension, 
contract terms would remain as approved in the most recent action plans, budgets 
and contract at the time of extension, and the executive director is authorized to sign 
any such contract extensions.   


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 







Industrial Lighting PDC Resolution 597 October 5, 2011 


 


 
Page 4 of 4 


APPENDIX I 
 


Energy Trust of Oregon followed a comprehensive competitive Request-for-Qualifications (RFQ) 
process.  


 
Three organizations submitted intent to respond forms for the program RFQ; two proposals were 
submitted.  The process was led by an RFQ review team consisting of two Energy Trust 
representatives, and one member from NEEA. The review team considered, evaluated and 
numerically scored the submissions on ten overall factors:  


 
1. Staff qualified, per resumes provided 


 
2. Previous experience with proposing company/staff 


 
3. Physical presence in Oregon 


 
4. If not in Oregon, how well have they addressed how they will serve 


 
5. Experience performing lighting audits 


 
6. Experience with program design input and assistance 


 
7. Experience with Trade Ally outreach and training 


 
8. Documented experience achieving energy savings 


 
9. Experience with project processing 


 
10. Experience with project tracking and reporting 


 
Based on this review, the review committee unanimously selected Evergreen Consulting Group, 
LLC to serve as Program Delivery Contractor for Industrial Lighting in the Production Efficiency 
program. 


 
Distinguishing Characteristics of Selected Respondent 


• Qualified staff with deep experience in lighting audits, design, and retrofits 


• Exceeded stretch savings goal in 2009 and 2010 


• Assignment of Sr. Lighting Specialist to provide additional lighting technical 
support to Energy Trust's custom track PDCs to drive additional projects and 
savings at industrial facilities 


• Proposed training of Evergreen’s Lighting Specialists and private sector electrical 
distributors on Energy Trust’s non-lighting industrial offerings, in order to drive 
additional projects at more facilities 


• Highly collaborative and forward thinking team 


 





		Authorizing a Program Delivery Contractor for Industrial Lighting 

		Authorizing a Program Delivery Contractor for Industrial Lighting






 
 
 
Authorizing a Program Delivery Contractor for Small 
Industrial Initiative 
October 5, 2011 


Summary 
Approve the basic terms of a three-year contract for Small Industrial Initiative delivery services 
for Energy Trust’s Production Efficiency program, with potential for up to two one-year 
extensions. 


Background 
• Energy Trust's Production Efficiency program is designed and managed in-house. Staff 


utilize multiple program delivery contractors to perform outreach and delivery functions 
on behalf of the program.   


• The Small Industrial Initiative program delivery contractor develops and trains Energy 
Trust's small industrial and agricultural trade ally network, acts as a technical resource, 
helps develop useful calculator tools, coordinates with other program contractors as-
needed, and facilitates the trade allies' submitted small industrial and agricultural energy 
efficiency projects through the program to deliver energy savings.  


• The current Small Industrial Initiative program delivery contract will expire December 31, 
2011. 


• In July 2011, Energy Trust staff issued a request for qualifications for a Program Delivery 
Contractor (PDC) for the Small Industrial Initiative. 


• Energy Trust received five notices of intent to respond, of which four actual responses 
were submitted. 


• A review team comprised of Energy Trust staff and an external reviewer from Northwest 
Energy Efficiency Alliance reviewed the four submissions. 


• The review team selected Cascade Energy, Inc. on the strength of its qualifications.  The 
selection process is further explained in Appendix 1. 


Discussion 
• Staff proposes a PDC contract spanning three years, starting January 1, 2012, through 


December 31, 2014, with an option to renew for two one-year time periods. 


• Staff has assumed a first year budget of $3.25 million in connection with these services.  
This includes a first year PDC contract cost of $1.1 million, with an allowance for 
performance compensation, and incentives of $2.1 million ($1.65 million electric, 
$450,000 gas). 


• Energy Trust expects that work performed under this contract could save as much as 11 
million kWh and 275,000 Therms, at a cost of $2.5 million per aMW and a levelized cost 
of $.02 per kWh and $.24 per Therm.  Actual costs and savings will be included in the 
Production Efficiency Program budget and, and computed after the board approves the 
2012 budget. 


  







Authorizing a PDC for Small Industrial Initiative, Resolution 598    October 5, 2011 


 


 


• As with other program delivery contracts, actual contract amounts for each year will be 
negotiated annually, consistent with each year’s board-adopted annual budget.  
Contracts and contract amendments conforming to these budgets would be signed 
without further board action. 


• The contract will refer to expected program incentive costs, but does not include these 
costs in PDC contract payments. Incentive costs are part of the program’s cost, and they 
are paid by Energy Trust to program participants.  Program incentive amounts will also 
be provided and reviewed as part of the annual budgeting process and ensuing contract 
amendments.  


Recommendation 
Authorize the executive director to negotiate and sign a contract with Cascade Energy, Inc. for 
Small Industrial Initiative program delivery services by adopting resolution 598. 


 


 
 







Small Industrial Initiative PDC Resolution 598 October 5, 2011 


 


 


Page 1 of 2 


RESOLUTION 598 
 


Authorize a Program Delivery Contractor for the Small 
Industrial Initiative 


 
WHEREAS: 
1. With assistance from an outside party, staff has conducted a fair and 


open procurement process to select a contractor to deliver the Small 
Industrial Initiative for the next 3-5 years. 


2. Cascade Energy, Inc. was selected and contract terms are being 
negotiated. 


3. Staff has assumed a total first-year program delivery contractor budget 
for 2012 of approximately $3,200,000 including a first year delivery 
contract cost of about $1,100,000, incentives of $2,100,000, and 
possible performance compensation. 


4. Based on current assumptions, staff projects the following program 
savings and fully-loaded costs in 2011: 


 Electric Gas 
Savings (stretch) 11,000,000 kWh 275,000 Therms 
$/Unit Savings (stretch) $.23/kWh $2.44/Therm 
Levelized Cost (stretch) $.024/kWh $.24/Therm 
Actual savings and costs will be reviewed by the Energy Trust board as 
part of the annual budget and action plan process. 
 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. Subject to determination of a final contract amount based on the board-


approved 2012 budget, the executive director is authorized to enter into 
a contract with Cascade Energy, Inc. to deliver the Small Industrial 
Initiative from January 1, 2012, through December 31, 2014.   


2. First-year contract costs and savings goals included in the contract 
shall be consistent with the board-approved 2012 budget. Thereafter, 
the contract may be amended annually consistent with the board's 
annual budget decisions. 


3. The final contract may include a provision allowing staff to offer up to 
two one-year extensions if the program delivery contractor meets 
certain established performance criteria.  


4. Before extending this contract beyond December 31, 2014, staff will 
report to the board on the program delivery contractor’s progress and 
staff's recommendation for any additional extension time periods. If the 
board does not object to extension, contract terms would remain as 
approved in the most recent action plans, budgets and contract at the 
time of extension, and the executive director is authorized to sign any 
such contract extensions.   


 







Small Industrial Initiative PDC Resolution 598 October 5, 2011 


 


 


Page 2 of 2 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 







Small Industrial Initiative PDC Resolution 598 October 5, 2011 


 


 


Page 1 of 1 


APPENDIX I 
 
Energy Trust of Oregon followed a comprehensive competitive Request-for-Qualifications 
(RFQ) process.  
 
Five organizations submitted intent to respond forms for the program RFQ; four proposals were 
submitted.  The process was led by an RFQ review team consisting of two Energy Trust 
representatives, and one member from NEEA. The review team considered, evaluated and 
numerically scored the submissions on ten overall factors:  
 
1. Staff qualified, per resumes provided 
 
2. Previous experience with proposing company/staff 
 
3. Physical presence in Oregon 


 
4. If not in Oregon, how well have they addressed how they will serve 


 
5. Experience creating program calculation tools 


 
6. Experience with program design input and assistance 


 
7. Experience with Trade Ally outreach and training 


 
8. Documented experience achieving energy savings 


 
9. Experience with project processing 


 
10. Experience with project tracking and reporting 
 
Based on this review, the review committee unanimously selected Cascade Energy, Inc. to 
serve as Program Delivery Contractor for the Small Industrial Initiative in the Production 
Efficiency program. 
 
Distinguishing Characteristics of Selected Respondent 


• Qualified staff with deep experience in agricultural efficiency, industrial 
process efficiency, program administration, and Trade Ally support 


• Exceeded stretch gas and conservative electric goal in 2010. 


• Proposed outreach specialist position to work closely with Trade Allies and 
enroll new Allies in the program 


• Highly collaborative and forward thinking team 


 








 


Board Decision 
Executive Director Compensation 
Octobre 5, 2011 


 


RESOLUTION 599 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 


 
WHEREAS: 


1. The Energy Trust’s Executive Director Evaluation Committee has 
completed its review of the Executive Director’s performance. 


2. The Committee used published salary survey information for comparable 
Executive Director positions and Energy Trust’s salary structure as the 
bases for determining proposed compensation.  


3. The Committee determined that her performance is excellent and 
recommend an increase in her compensation package.  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. That the Board of Directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes the 


following: 
a. A five point six percent performance-based increase in Executive 


Director’s salary effective January 1, 2011, until the date the Board next 
approves an increase.  


b. An increase in annual accrued vacation time from five weeks per year to 
six weeks per year effective January 1, 2011. 


c. An increase in the award to the Supplemental Executive Retirement 
Plan (SERP) of $3,000 per year effective January 1, 2011.  


2. That the Board amend the Executive Director’s employment agreement in 
recognition of this resolution.  


 


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 





		Board Decision






 
 


 
RENEWABLE ENERGY ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on September 14, 2011  


 
 
Attending from the council: 
Jason Busch, Oregon Wave Energy Trust 
Megan Decker, Renewables Northwest 
Project 
Ben Henson, Renewable Energy Solutions 
Thor Hinckley, Portland General Electric 
Juliet Johnson, Oregon Public Utility 
Commission 
David Van’t Hof, Lane Powell (On behalf of 
Glenn Montgomery for OSEIA) 
Dick Wanderscheid, Bonneville 
Environmental Foundation 
Tashiana Wangler, Pacific Power 
 
Attending from Energy Trust: 
Doug Boleyn 
Pete Catching 
Amber Cole 


Jed Jorgensen 
Betsy Kauffman 
Elaine Prause 
Thad Roth 
Kacia Brockman 
Sue Meyer Sample 
Peter West 
 
Others attending: 
Dan Enloe, Energy Trust Board of Directors 
Theresa Gibney, Corvallis Energy 
Sustainability Coalition 
Vijay Satyal, Oregon Department of Energy 
David Dickson, member of the public 
John Reynolds, Energy Trust Board of 
Directors 
 


1. Welcome and introductions 
Betsy Kauffman called the meeting to order at 9:34 a.m. August notes were approved. 
 
2. 2012-13 budget themes and technology goals 
Elaine Prause presented the 2012 budget themes. Elaine explained that in September we talk 
about themes. In October we present draft budget numbers. In November we bring revised 
numbers back for presentation. In December, the draft budget goes to the Energy Trust Board 
of Directors for review and approval.  
 
Elaine presented the slides that are attached to this document.  
Questions and discussion from the council  
 
Juliette: What do you mean by directed development assistance on slide 5? 
Elaine: Development assistance means early stage project work like feasibility studies, grant 
writing, etc. 
  
Vijay: You are aware that some feasibility analysis will not lead to projects. 
Elaine: Yes, but we need to play in the early development stage to generate a pipeline of 
projects. 
 
David V: If you are assisting in this stage, does that raise the probability that they will get 
incentives? 
Elaine: Not necessarily. This is a two-step process, not a guarantee. The project is assessed 
separately for incentives.  
Jed: A project could ask for development assistance several times—for a feasibility study, 
permitting assistance, interconnection assistance, etc. 
Betsy: The more we help push them forward in early stages, the more likely the project will be 
able to get financing and move forward.  Last year, the council endorsed doing more of this kind 
of work because with less budget we can make more of a difference.  


1 
 







RAC notes – 9/14/2011 


Ben: I would like to reinforce what Jed and Betsy are saying. On a hydro project, the year plus 
time span of development is a deterrent to getting people on board and risk resources early. 
Once we get through that, the opportunity is clear cut and it’s easier to bring on investors.  
 
David V: When will the competitive processes start? 
Elaine: 2012. We’ll start off the year with fresh uncommitted funds and if we do run across this 
competitive position, this is what we’ll do.  
Fred: Is this for project incentives only or for the early development? 
Elaine: This is for project incentives only.  
Tashiana: I’ve heard Pacific Power folks express an interest in this type of competitive 
approach.  
 
David: What was the timeline on that community wind RFP? How much time did the developers 
have? 
Peter: Three or four years is what it turned out to be. We were patient.  
 
Jason: What is causing the downward trend in your budget? 
Elaine: It’s really about the carryover going down each year. In the early years, it took a while for 
projects to get going. So we built up funds. When utility scale started, we could get money going 
out the door, but then we transitioned to smaller scale. And it took some time to help those 
projects get going, so we built up more carryover again. Now our carryover is going down.  Our 
only source of funding is still from SB 1149. 
 
David: You expect to be in the $12 million range going forward? 
Elaine: It’s more like $14 million between PGE and Pacific Power. 
 
Betsy presented the Wind Program Objectives slide.  
Questions and discussion from the council: 
 
Jason: This work with communities. Do you do outreach to communities currently? 
Betsy: We have done some of this work. We produced a document to help communities 
understand small wind, and we have helped counties with public ordinances. But we haven’t 
done a real full court press on that.  
 
Vijay: The Oregon Department of Energy hosted a wind working group and Lizzie has been very 
helpful and present at these working groups. We have had a lot of planners and commissioners 
engaging with us and we have been trying to spread that message in the same way. Energy 
Trust has a more direct ability to do this, but we have been trying to fill in. Deschutes County 
made a big effort in developing ordinances. 
  
Megan: I spoke to Lizzie about Deschutes County and she thought it was very helpful to have 
Energy Trust educating the commissioners about these types of projects.  
 
Thor: We have found it helpful to have those projects feed into our system.  We have 
development funds that could supplement that, if needed. 
David: Who is financing these mid-scale projects—private developers? 
Betsy: Mostly private agricultural operations. 
 
David: What are the sizes? 
Betsy: They are in the 50 kW size range, and we’d like to see them get larger.  
Dan: Get some successes and then repeat! 
 


2 







RAC notes – 9/14/2011 


Kacia presented the Solar Program Objectives slide.  
She explained that Energy Trust believes this technology will eventually stand on its own. In the 
meantime, we are looking to balance market demand and the delivery/supply channel. 
 
We are pushing these technologies in PGE territory because that’s where we have the most 
funding. We expect the constrained budget to hit us particularly in Pacific Power territory. Our 
focus will be to keep the volume of smaller projects higher rather than fewer larger projects.  
For commercial, because of the loss of tax credits, we will look for ways to support solar 
upstream, such as working to make buildings solar ready, and supporting grant writing 
assistance. 
Questions and discussion from the council 
 
Vijay: What kind of grant writing are you thinking? 
Kacia: Mainly USDA REAP grants. 
Vijay: Do you use that as leverage? I’m trying to understand how you use this approach. 
Kacia: We set aside funds to cost share for a grant writer to go out and secure funds.  
 
David: What is the system size cut off? 
Kacia: in PGE territory, it’s approximately 650 kW per site, but we have been able to support 
several larger scale projects beyond the standard incentive offering. In Pacific Power, it’s 200 
kW per site. 
 
David: Would this shift more resources to the smaller projects? Would you see large projects 
not getting funding from Energy Trust? 
Kacia: It all depends on the above-market cost. In PGE territory, there are fewer opportunities 
for other technologies, so it could be that we can support large scale solar.  
 
Jason: Do the other solar incentives out there (RETC, Feed in Tariff) affect Energy Trust’s 
allocation across other technologies? Are those incentives supporting solar to an effect that 
Energy Trust would consider backing off of solar? 
Kacia: Those other incentives have allowed the solar market to continue to grow. As long as we 
have funds, we will seek to continue to grow the market. It’s when we no longer have the funds 
that we’ll look to simply maintain the market such as it is. So we’re seeking the right balance.  
Peter: We were asked specifically by the OPUC to maintain a steady state so that the Feed In 
Tariff pilot could be measured effectively. 
 
Jed presented the Hydro Program Objectives slide. 
Questions and discussion from the council  
 
John R: I recall we did some pressure valve energy recovery. Are there any of those? 
Jed: Yes. There are some projects in the municipal category in Portland and Astoria.  
 
John R: Do we have very many more irrigation districts where it will have to cross public/private 
land to get to our territory.  
Jed: Yes, we will discuss more about that later.  
 
Betsy presented the Geothermal Program Objectives slide. 
Questions and discussion from the council  
 
David: Do you know how many projects there are in the size range you are looking at? 
Betsy: There is only one operational geothermal project in the state, that’s on the OIT campus. 
There is another project under construction that will hook into Idaho Power. 


3 







RAC notes – 9/14/2011 


 
David: Should this area be eliminated from your program? 
Betsy: It could be, but we have several projects with applications or development assistance in 
the next few years. We’re not Nevada, with large geothermal resources, so Oregon is a place 
where we’d be looking at smaller resources 
 
Thor: Do you collect public purpose funds from Idaho Power? 
Betsy: No. 
 
John R: The opportunity here is to create a new market for lower temperature projects. That is 
what we are hoping will happen. 
Betsy: That’s right. This isn’t Nevada. We don’t have high temperature resources. But if we can 
learn how to effectively develop lower temps than there could be a large market. 
 
Juliette: Do you support ground-source heat pumps? 
Betsy: Through the energy-efficiency program, you can get incentives in certain circumstances. 
On the renewable energy side, you have to generate kilowatt hours to get an incentive.  
 
Thad presented the Biopower Program Objectives slide. 
There were no questions or discussion from the council.  


 
3. The state of wave power in Oregon 
Jason Busch of the Oregon Wave Energy Trust made a slide presentation on the state of wave 
power in Oregon. Oregon Wave Energy Trust is a nonprofit public private partnership funded by 
the Oregon Business Development Department through the Oregon Innovation Council. The 
mission is to support the responsible development of wave energy in Oregon.  
 
• Focus: 


o Environmental baseline studies 
o Community outreach and education—helping communities and the fishing industry to 


understand the value; the fishing industry is adamantly opposed to wave energy 
o Research and development—OSU is one of three national test centers 
o Regulatory streamlining and coordination 
o Utility markets 


 
• Oregon’s attributes: 


o Best wave resource in continental U.S. 
o Grid infrastructure available, able to absorb 430 MW without major upgrades 
o Existing underutilized substations 
o Close to load and increasing coastal population 
o Manufacturing, transportation, deployment 
o Increasing rates: Tier 2 BPA rates are an indication 


 
• Projects, companies in Oregon 


o Newport/OSU testing site 
o Ocean Power Technologies 
o Aquamarine 
o Wavegen 
o Columbia Power Technologies 
o WaveEnergy AS 
o Principle Power 
o Floating Power Plant 


4 







RAC notes – 9/14/2011 


o M3 Energy 
o Neptune Power 
o Ocean Kinetics 
o OWHAP 


 
• Technologies: amazingly dissimilar 


o Diversity: power, siting, size 
 Overtopping 
 Oscillating 
 Snake/Attenuator 
 Heaving Buoy/Point Absorber 


o Second generation buoys are smaller, lighter, simpler, more resilient 
 
• Ocean Power Technologies is the leading company, most money and most devices 


deployed around the world, but their technology is likely to be surpassed 
 
• Ocean Power Technologies’ plan is to do one device outside of Reedsport 


o Phase 1: 150 kW device 
o Phase 2: 1.5 MW, 9 more buoys 
o Will be first grid connected array in North America 
o Well on the way to permitting through FERC 
o 32 Northwest companies involved in the construction 
o Phase 3: 50 MW 


• Recent announcement that Lockheed Martin is getting involved.  
 
David: How does that affect Oregon Iron Works?  
Jason: Oregon Iron Works is working very closely with Ocean Power Technologies. They are 
“tied at the hips”. They are the only company that is well positioned to build the next buoys.  
 
David W: Who is taking the power?  
Jason: Central Lincoln Co-op. 
 
Kacia: What is the capacity factor? 
Jason: Nameplate is 150 kW, efficiency is about 30-35 percent. 
 
Vijay: On the FERC permit, does that take into account environmental impact? 
Is this batch processing for the NEPA – EA/EIS? 
Jason: Yes, the current EA is done through the FERC permit. We are struggling with how to 
permit for things that are phased in. We don’t know what the impacts will be over future phases. 
 
John R: Do you get better production in the winter versus summer? 
Jason: There is very much a peak in the winter months, which corresponds to heating load.  
 
David V: What is the visual impact? 
Jason: In Oregon, because of the steepness of the ocean, you can be as close as two miles out. 
You will see the buoy two miles out. [Jason showed an artist’s rendition of a collection of buoys 
two miles out.] I think it’s more likely we will have buoys three miles out—or even further out to 
sea.  
 
Jason showed a graphic of the Aquamarine Power device and said this is in operation in 
Scotland. They are about to deploy the next generation of this device. It uses a closed loop of 
pressurized flow lines powered by wave and moving a turbine on land.  


5 







RAC notes – 9/14/2011 


 
Vijay: Are there any concerns with these sites and fault lines? 
Jason: They are flexible lines. Many of these devices are designed to shut down, lock up or go 
underneath a large wave event, such as a tsunami. But a big subduction zone quake could 
destroy things in the ocean and on land. 
 
Offshore Wind: In Oregon you would need a floating platform for offshore wind. Principal Power 
is working on a floating platform project for deployment in Oregon.  
 
Pete C: Are any of these companies looking at tidal or current technologies.  
Jason: Not much tidal in Oregon, so we are looking primarily at wave. There is more tidal in the 
Puget Sound. There is a research center at the University of Washington that is focusing on 
tidal. There is some ocean current technology that is very viable near the equator.  
 
John R: Is there potential for community wave? 
Jason: Very much so. If you are a small coastal community, you can imagine an idealistic future 
where you would own and operate a wave development and sell to the grid. For the foreseeable 
future, it will be exclusively private development.  


 
4. Projects that wheel power to PGE or Pacific Power 
Elaine provided some highlights on a document distributed last week to bring the council up to 
speed on the issue of projects that wheel power to PGE or Pacific Power. (See attached paper.)  
 
Elaine explained that at the last council meeting, staff brought a project that was an irrigation 
district hydro project. The proposal was a $1 million incentive, which was required to go to the 
board. Because of the location of the project, the power would be wheeled to Pacific Power’s 
system. The board approved the incentive for this project. Concerns were raised at the council 
meeting, Pacific Power sent a letter to Margie on those concerns, which were then briefly 
discussed at the board meeting.  
 
Elaine recapped that the concern Pacific Power voiced is that by providing Energy Trust 
incentives for a project that is not located within Pacific Power territory or within its transmission 
system, ratepayers are not provided with a net benefit. 
 
Elaine said staff is bringing this to the council to see if this is a point of view that is shared by 
others. Staff needs to go back to the board Policy Committee to give the council’s feedback. 
Also, Energy Trust has three or four other projects in the pipeline that would also need to wheel 
power.  
 
Discussion questions include: Should Energy Trust accept projects that would wheel power to 
PGE and Pacific Power? If so, does Energy Trust need additional terms about how it treats 
these projects? 
 
Elaine said Energy Trust’s recommendation is that we continue the current practice. We 
consider these off system projects because they bring power and renewable energy certificates 
to ratepayers and it aligns with state policies supporting qualifying facilities. If we change this 
practice it will significantly impact our ability to meet our goals (we have projects in our pipeline).  
We also feel that singling out wheeling costs isn’t appropriate in our above-market cost 
methodology; there are other costs such as interconnection that can be just as significant.  
 
If we change our current practice, we will be inconsistent with past practices on utility scale 
projects.  


6 







RAC notes – 9/14/2011 


 
Jason: This is a complex question and so we need to understand Pacific Power’s position well. 
It’s imperative to maintain good relationships. I’m curious how Pacific Power sees that these 
projects don’t benefit ratepayers. The 1149 and 838 legislation is silent on location, which 
suggests to me that they determined to provide discretion to the organization. That suggests 
that you should use your discretion. Based on staff recommendations, it’s clear there are a 
variety of benefits to the ratepayers. We’re moving away from the traditional energy paradigm, 
the distribution of power from centralized locations; we have to recognize that the future will look 
very different. We have to generate renewable power where the resources exist. We’ll need to 
wheel power wherever we can. On the two questions you pose, the answer is yes. I think you 
should maintain the status quo, otherwise it undermines Energy Trust’s overarching mission.  
 
Tashiana: Pat Egan did submit a letter [Tashiana circulated]. As we looked at Three Sisters (the 
irrigation project brought to the council last meeting), the wheeling costs were pretty significant. 
The fact that the project is eligible for the Energy Trust incentive because the power can get to 
our territory, the wheeling cost was more than the incentive. If the wheeling cost were a small 
amount, the concern would be different. I think we could put together a process where, if you 
see that a project is not located within our territory, you bring it to our attention in advance. I 
think that would be an improvement. Some of our interconnection folks were contacted, but they 
did not recognize this as different from other project contacts. Our concerns were specific to the 
Three Sisters Irrigation District, and if we could look at the process, that would be very helpful.  
 
Peter: I appreciate Tashiana’s comments. I want to be really careful. We respected the process 
with the utility, and if you could help us understand where and at what levels to communicate, 
that would be very helpful to us. We did do the communication with Pacific Power that we 
understood was needed. When you see costs, as part of an above-market cost, one has to push 
back on a project. Jed made it clear that the project is eating some of these costs. Three Sisters 
Irrigation District is accepting quite a low return on investment and eating some if not all of the 
costs of wheeling. Payback of about 18 years is far below any other investment that they could 
be making, and far below what private investment would be making. Further, you have to look at 
the project as a whole and can’t pick on one cost. If interconnection with Pacific Power was 
high, we would not claim that is what was driving the above market costs, again it is the whole 
not the components that matter.  
 
Elaine: Is it fair to say the concerns were specific to the wheeling costs for just this project? I’m 
hearing it was.  
 
Tashiana: I think so. They’re not our customers. They’re not in our territory. For a project to 
incur those costs to get to our territory, we don’t see that as a benefit for our ratepayers. Our 
ratepayers will pay the incentive and the avoided costs. 
  
John R: If you could get a map of the service territory of Energy Trust on the screen, we could 
get some perspective of how much territory is not in utility territory. We would see how much of 
a fix we would be in if we excluded these areas and projects.  
 
Note:  a map was projected and it showed that limiting projects to only within the Pacific service 
territory was quite constraining.   
 
Betsy: One reason we felt this needed to be on the agenda is because of future projects. The 
question we have is if this an issue that will be raised every time, whether the wheeling costs 
are high or low, or are there other issues that will come up around projects that aren’t in your 
territory.  


7 







RAC notes – 9/14/2011 


 
Tashiana: We would want to see feasibility studies for projects that are outside of our territory, 
to look specifically at wheeling costs and look at how far they are from our service territory. 
Those should be special projects that receive special scrutiny.  
 
Ben: There is a nice multiplier for the ratepayers when the project is in territory, but when we 
have a future where we have to pick and choose projects to fund, we have to figure out where to 
get the most bang for the buck. As we see more limited funding, this will become more critical. 
It’s more about how do we allocate funds to get the most benefit for the ratepayers.  
 
Dave: OSEIA supports Energy Trust’s position on this. From my own perspective, for your 
competitive allocation strategy, the comparisons may take care of this issue. I’m not sure how 
you figure out benefit to ratepayer, if projects are buying down wheeling costs versus other 
comparable projects, I would think your selection process will take care of this issue. It would be 
interesting to know PGE’s position. I wouldn’t want to see you limited in how you can select 
projects.  
 
Elaine: I want to clarify one thing. From the project owner’s perspective wheeling costs are 
another cost they have to absorb, not different form interconnection costs. But the impact to 
Energy Trust—what we’re paying to get that energy into the system—is not necessarily affected 
by the wheeling costs. Our cost, at the end of the day, is what we are paying per average 
megawatt. 
 
Thor: For PGE, we are interested in a heads up well ahead of time and a review of the project. 
We do not have the same issue as Pacific Power.  We’re willing to do project outside our 
service territory with Energy Trust and we’ve shown that in the past.  
 
Vijay: On page 2, you say there is no legislative requirement. On another page you say that if 
you continue to do existing practice, will you be inconsistent with OPUC rules. Where is the mis-
coordination with OPUC rules?  
 
Elaine: I think you are misunderstanding. We wouldn’t be able to support the broad statewide 
goal of under 20 MW projects. If we were limited to only Pacific Power and PGE territories or 
customers, we would be limited in how we can meet the larger state goal articulated in SB 838. 
We are one of just a few organizations that can contribute to that larger statewide goal.  
 
Vijay: A case-by-case approach seems prudent. Can we resolve this in the project review at the 
council level? 
 
Peter: There is another level of coordination. The QF rules in the state do require PGE and 
Pacific Power to accept a project out of their area. If we do something different, since we are a 
bigger player, we would need to determine if we are in effect modifying the QF rule in the state 
as applied by the OPUC.  
 
Megan: I’m not sure I understand the issue. To me the real benefit to ratepayers is 
diversification of the power supply and contribution to the RES. The legislation seems to be 
silent on location to preserve the ability to meet this goal. Economic benefits are not something 
we get to talk about in the regulatory environment. So it seems incongruous. I appreciate the 
utilities willingness to work on these projects, and Energy Trust’s willingness to be flexible. But I 
don’t understand why wheeling would be treated differently or would throw into question 
whether or not the investment is a good one for Energy Trust.  
 


8 







RAC notes – 9/14/2011 


John R: I watched the battle between Emerald PUD and Pacific Power, and I can understand 
why a corporation would not want to pay wheeling costs to what could be perceived as a 
competitor.  
 
Tashiana: Jed did a nice job of distinguishing three buckets of project types: 1) where the 
developer has paid in to the public purpose charge, 2) the developer has not paid into the PPC 
but is coming in to the territory and 3) the developer is not in the territory and will not pay the 
PPC. In the third case, the community benefit is remote.  
 
Jed: Sometimes the project is across the street, so the local community benefit is harder to draw 
a circle around.  
 
Juliette: Could you put this question into the RFP/competitive process going forward?  
 
Betsy:   Our job is to bring power and RECs. It seems artificial to say for a certain type of project 
we will look at certain costs. All projects are unique, and some have different significant costs 
associated with them.  
 
Juliette: Is that really your purpose: power and RECs? 
 
Betsy: The goal we are measured on by the OPUC is just power. Not even RECs. 
 
Juliette: I’m interested in what the statutes say. What is the mission of the program? That seems 
limited.  
 
Peter: It’s about the value of the projects: power coming to the customers, RECs and 
environmental benefits, and the market development, which is part of the budget themes we 
went through. So that’s the third. And we should remind folks that under the green tag policy 
there is a whole discussion around market development. When you do project screening, there 
is an aspect of what this project does for market development. The cost of the project is a whole 
cost, is what I think Betsy is saying.  
 
Juliette: To me it really boils down to, if you have two identical projects and one where folks 
have paid into PPC, and one that it doesn’t, is that a value?  For me, that is the issue. But I don’t 
know if that’s the Energy Trust’s role to really look at.  
 
Thad: To be clear, third-party developers will never have had a history of paying in.  
 
Dick W:  Most utilities don’t have distribution wheeling costs. PNGC used a FERC approved 
methodology to determine the wheeling costs for the Three Sisters project. They have few 
customers per mile so their distribution costs are very high. Most of the projects we are seeing 
right now would not be considered in territory. The realistic outcome of deviating from the policy 
we have now will be to kill small scale renewables in Oregon. Public utilities are awash in Tier 1 
power. So the avoided costs you would see for a project selling to a public utility is Tier 1 costs, 
really cheap. Those rates will be low through at least 2019. So you would not see any appetite 
at all for public utilities to take these projects. I understand what Pacific Power is saying. In a 
perfect world, the public utilities would take these projects but it isn’t a perfect world. 
 
Tashiana: Is it true that much of the renewable energy projects funded by Energy Trust are not 
in the territory? 
 


9 







RAC notes – 9/14/2011 


10 


Elaine: No, the majority are in territory today, but there are the past utility scale projects and our 
pipeline looks different with 3-4 pending review. 
 
Peter: The reason that most of the current portfolio is in territory is because of the solar 
program. It gets a little more uneven when you get into other technologies.  
 
Summary of comments: 
Megan: Energy Trust needs flexibility on non-solar resources to develop a pipeline without this 
constraint. I wouldn’t want to see an aversion to wheeling become a black mark on projects. If it 
becomes a gold star on projects that they are in the territory, that might be a better way to look 
at it.  
 
Vijay: The Oregon Department of Energy is dealing with an issue like this in other ways. Juliette 
brings up a good question around who is paying in and who is not. Rebecca Sherman was in 
the last meeting and supported the project. I do see the concerns brought up by Pacific Power. I 
think it would be great to understand the degree of dependence on wheeling costs for projects 
in the pipeline relative to other costs that might be involved.  


 
5. Public comment 
There was no public comment. 
 
6. Meeting adjournment 
Betsy thanked all council members for their participation and adjourned the meeting at 12:05 
p.m. The next full council meeting is October 26, 2011. 
 
 
 





